
       

 

 

 

 

Board of Directors Meeting 

Wednesday, September 17, 2025 
6:00 pm  

 
In Person: 

Large Conference Room 
Rotunda Building 

300 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland CA 94612 

 
Or from the following locations: 

 

• Fairfield Inn Broomfield @ 455 Zang Street  Broomfield, Colorado, USA 

• Clipper Club - 5 Captain Dr. Emeryville, CA 94608 

• Milk and Honey Café – 34265 Fremont Blvd, Fremont CA 94555 

• 35653 Scarborough Dr Newark, CA 94560 

• 1100 Webster St Oakland CA 94607 
 
 

Via Zoom: 
https://avaenergy-org.zoom.us/j/87023071843 

 
Or join by phone: 

Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): US: +1 669 900 
6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 929 205 6099 or +1 301 715 8592 or 

888 475 4499 (Toll Free) or 877 853 5257 (Toll Free)  
Webinar ID: 870 2307 1843  

 
Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special assistance 
or a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, or who 
have a disability and wish to request an alternative format for the meeting materials, should 
contact the Clerk of the Board at least 2 working days before the meeting at (510) 906-
0491 or cob@avaenergy.org.  
 
If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Board of Directors, please email 
it to the clerk by 5:00 pm the day prior to the meeting. 
 

1. Welcome & Roll Call 
 

https://avaenergy-org.zoom.us/j/87023071843


Ava Community Energy                        

Board of Directors                                  Page | 2 

 

   

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Public Comment 
This item is reserved for persons wishing to address the Board on any Ava-related 
matters that are not otherwise on this meeting agenda. Public comments on matters listed 
on the agenda shall be heard at the time the matter is called. As with all public comment, 
members of the public who wish to address the Board are customarily limited to two 
minutes per speaker and must complete an electronic speaker slip. The Board Chair may 
increase or decrease the time allotted to each speaker. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

4. Approval of Minutes from July 16, 2025 
 
5. Contracts Entered Into (Informational Item) 

 
6. Credit Card Policy 2nd Amendment 

Amend the credit card policy to increase account capacity 
 

7. Amendment to MSA with Ascend Analytics LLC 
Add Sun Pond Solar and BESS to optimization services 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 
 

8. CEO Report 
 
9. CAC Report 

 
10. Rate Stabilization Fund Policy (Action Item) 

Adopt a formal Rate Stabilization Fund Policy 
 

11. Allocation of Budget Surplus (Action Item) 
Approve an allocation of the 2024-25 budget surplus to the Rate Stabilization Fund 
 

12. Credit Facility Agreement with PNC (Action Item) 

Adopt a credit agreement with PNC bank to replace our current agreement with US Bank 

 

13. Board Member and Staff Announcements including requests to place items on 

future Board of Directors Meeting Agendas 

 

14. Adjourn 
 
The next Ava Board of Directors meeting will be held on Wednesday, October 22, 2025 at 
6pm. 

 



Rotunda Access Instructions
300 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Oakland, CA 94612

Directions 

Directions to Parking Garage via Car

Parking is available at the Rotunda Garage, which includes four levels and approximately 350 parking spaces. Note 
that the garage’s parking fee is $4/hr with a maximum of $28 for a full day. Street parking is widely available near 
the building and free after 6pm. 

There are two garage entrances located on 524 16th St (main entrance) and 529 17th St. See a map on the next 
page and note that both 16th and 17th are one-way streets on either side of the garage. 

524 16th St (main entrance): 

Turn right from Telegraph onto 16th Street and drive 
pass SP+ Parking. Look for the entrance with Rotunda 
Parking Lot signage—this is a surface lot with garage 
access. Enter the garage and park your vehicle. Take 
the elevator or stairs in the garage to the first floor 
in order to enter through the Rotunda’s 16th street 
entrance on the second floor. 

After parking, walk across 16th Street toward Telegraph 
Avenue (also called Peter Van Kleef Way).

529 17th St (one-way street entrance): 

Enter the garage via the 17th Street entrance. Once 
parked, take the elevator or stairs to the 1st floor of the 
garage. Exit the garage and walk toward 16th Street 
(south direction). You will be walking along Telegraph 
Avenue, which borders the Rotunda Building. 

As you approach the corner of 16th Street and 
Telegraph Avenue (also known as Peter Van Kleef Way), 
the Rotunda’s main pedestrian entrance will be on your 
left at 524 16th Street.

Enter through the second-floor glass doors, which lead into the main lobby of the Rotunda Building. From there, 
check in with security and proceed as directed to the meeting rooms on the lower level.



Directions via BART

The closest BART station to the Rotunda Building is 12th Street / Oakland City Center. From there, it’s approximately 
a 3-minute walk to the building. When exiting the station, use the 14th Street / Ogawa Plaza exit and head towards 
Frank H. Ogawa Plaza. The Rotunda Building will be in view from the plaza.

Directions via Bike

Cyclists may enter through the main building lobby at the lower level to access bicycle parking. Upon arrival, please 
check in with the building security desk, and you will be provided with directions to the designated indoor bike 
parking area.

Check-in at Security Desk
When you arrive at the building, please check in 
with the security desk for directions to the Large 
Conference Room, where the public meeting will be 
held. For closed session, please head to the medium 
conference room, both located next to each other 
on the lower level. If you have additional questions 
or need assistance, an Ava representative will be 
stationed and identifiable in the lobby. They can be 
reached at: 510-393-0492.

Restrooms
Restrooms are located on the lower level, near both 
conference rooms.



       

 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes 
Board of Directors Meeting 

Wednesday, July 16, 2025 
6:00 pm  

 
In Person: 

Large Conference Room 
Rotunda Building 

300 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland CA 94612 

 
Or from the following locations: 

 

• Clipper Club - 5 Captain Dr. Emeryville, CA 94608 

• Best Western Plus LA Mid Town Hotel - 603 S New Hampshire Ave, Los 
Angeles, CA, 90005  

• 35653 Scarborough Dr. Newark CA 94560 

• 1100 Webster St Oakland CA 94607 

• Larch Clover Community Center - 11157 West Larch Road, Tracy, CA 95376 
 
 

Via Zoom: 
https://avaenergy-org.zoom.us/j/87023071843 

 
Or join by phone: 

Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): US: +1 669 900 
6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 929 205 6099 or +1 301 715 8592 or 

888 475 4499 (Toll Free) or 877 853 5257 (Toll Free)  
Webinar ID: 870 2307 1843  

 
Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special assistance 
or a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, or who 
have a disability and wish to request an alternative format for the meeting materials, should 
contact the Clerk of the Board at least 2 working days before the meeting at (510) 906-
0491 or cob@avaenergy.org.  
 
If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Board of Directors, please email 
it to the clerk by 5:00 pm the day prior to the meeting. 
 

https://avaenergy-org.zoom.us/j/87023071843


Ava Community Energy                        

Board of Directors                                  Page | 2 

 

   

 

1. Welcome & Roll Call 
Present: Members: Marquez (Alameda County), Lopez (Albany), Tregub (Berkeley), 
Morada (Dublin), Kaur (Emeryville), Keng (Fremont), Roche (Hayward), Barrientos 
(Livermore), Del Catancio (Newark), Brown (Oakland), Gonzalez (San Leandro), Nygard 
(Tracy), Sakakihara (Union City), CAC Vice-Chair Souza (Community Advisory 
Committee), and Chair Balch (Pleasanton)  
 
Not Present: Members: Diallo (Lathrop), Rickman (San Joaquin County), Fugazi 
(Stockton) and Vice-Chair Andersen (Piedmont) 

 
2. (3:30) Pledge of Allegiance 

 
Led by Member Gonzalez. 
 

3. (4:15) Public Comment 
This item is reserved for persons wishing to address the Board on any Ava-related 
matters that are not otherwise on this meeting agenda. Public comments on matters listed 
on the agenda shall be heard at the time the matter is called. As with all public comment, 
members of the public who wish to address the Board are customarily limited to two 
minutes per speaker and must complete an electronic speaker slip. The Board Chair may 
increase or decrease the time allotted to each speaker. 
 
Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there were comments made by 

members of the public Jim Lutz (4:29), Ayla Paz (6:45) and Alita Dupree (9:00). 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

4. Approval of Minutes from June 18, 2025 
 
5. Contracts Entered Into (Informational Item) 

 

6. Sunrun Load Modification Agreement                             R-2025-33 
Amendment to the Sunrun Resilient Home Load Modification Agreement 

 

7. Roots/Soul Sponsorship Agreement                              R-2025-34  
Sponsorship contract for 2026/2027 seasons of Oakland Roots and Soul 
 

8. Updated Energy Risk Management Policy                          R-2025-35 
Updated Energy Risk Management Policy to ensure consistency and accuracy with the 
ERM Regulations 

 

9. FY 2025 Q4 Treasurer’s Report 
Update on Ava’s FY 2025 Q4 cash position 

 



Ava Community Energy                        

Board of Directors                                  Page | 3 

 

   

 

10. FY 2024-2025 Q3 Financial Statements 
Ava’s third quarter financial statements for the fiscal year 2024-2025 
 
Motion: Member Marquez moved, Member Gonzalez seconded, to approve Consent 
Item 6. 
Action: Motion carried 12/0/0/1/5 (yes/no/abstain/recuse/not present). 
 
Motion: Member Marquez moved, Member Tregub seconded, to approve Consent 
Items 4, 5, 7, 8, 9. 
Action: Motion carried 13/0/0/0/5 (yes/no/abstain/recuse/not present). 
 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 
 

11. (15:04) CEO Report 
CEO Chang introduced this item and addressed questions from Board members. 
 
Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there was one comment from 
member of the public Alita Dupree (42:23) 

 
12. (44:39) CAC Report 

CAC Vice-Chair Souza introduced this item and addressed questions from Board 
members. 
 
Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there was one comment from 
member of the public Cynthia Landry (48:59). 
 

13. (51:31) Compliance Period Procurement Methodology (Action Item)      R-2025-36 
Review of proposed compliance periods for Ava procurement 
 
Izzy Carson, Power Resources Manager, introduced this item and addressed questions 
from Board members. 
 
Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there was one comment from 
member of the public Jim Lutz (1:15:56). 

 
Motion: Member Gonzalez moved, Member Tregub seconded, to approve staff 
recommendation. 
Action: Motion carried 13/0/0/0/5 (yes/no/abstain/recuse/not present). 

 
14. (1:19:33) Rate Stabilization Policy and Allocation (Informational Item)     

Overview of Rate Stabilization Funds (RSF), Ava’s current RSF balances, and preliminary 
considerations for surplus allocation and policy updates. 
 
Russell Mills, SVP and CFO, introduced this item and addressed questions from Board 
members. 



Ava Community Energy                        

Board of Directors                                  Page | 4 

 

   

 

Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there was one comment from 
member of the public Cynthia Landry (1:36:21). 
 

15. (1:42:14) Sonrisa Power Purchase Agreement and Scarlet III Energy Storage 
Agreement (Action Item)                            R-2025-37 and R-2025-38 
Approval to authorize the CEO to negotiate and execute PPA and ESAs for solar and 
storage with EDPR-affiliated entities 
 
Joanie Brooke, Power Resources Manager, Contracts, introduced this item and 
addressed questions from Board members. 
 
Chair Balch opened the public comment period and there was one comment from 

member of the public Alita Dupree (1:57:37). 

 

Motion: Member Gonzalez moved, Member Tregub seconded, to approve staff 

recommendation. 

Action: Motion carried 13/0/0/0/5 (yes/no/abstain/recuse/not present). 
 
Outgoing Chair Balch passed the gavel to Vice-Chair Gonzalez. 
 

16. (1:59:56) Chair/Vice-Chair Appointments 
 
Motion: Member Sakakihara moved, Member Tregub seconded, to appoint Vice-
Chair Andersen as Chair and Member Gonzalez as Vice-Chair. 
Action: Motion carried 13/0/0/0/5 (yes/no/abstain/recuse/not present). 
 

17. (2:02:28) Board Member and Staff Announcements including requests to place 

items on future Board of Directors Meeting Agendas 

Announcements were made by outgoing Chair Balch, CEO Chang and Member Marquez.  

18. Adjournment 
 
Vice-Chair Gonzalez adjourned the meeting at 8:10pm. 
 
The next Ava Board of Directors meeting will be held on Wednesday, September 17, 
2025 at 6pm.   

 



   
 

Consent Item 5 

 

 
 

Consent Item 5 

 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority 

From: Howard Chang, Chief Executive Officer   

 
Subject: Contracts Entered Into 

Date: September 17, 2025 

 
_____________________________________________________________________  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Accept the CEO’s report on contracts that Ava Community Energy has entered into, as required 
by the Administrative Procurement Policy, from July 12, 2025, through September 10, 2025; 
 
C-2025-144 PC Professional, Inc (Oakland, CA) June 2025 Sixth Amendment to Consulting 
Services Agreement, adds $100,000 in additional compensation through June 30, 2025 for IT 
support services. 
 
C-2025-145 Best Best & Krieger LLP July 2025 Consulting Services Agreement, Legal matters 
including commercial contracting, commercial litigation, public works, trademarks, and 
copyrights. 
 
C-2025-146 EMC Research, Inc May 2025 Amendment to the Consulting Services 
Agreement, adds $90,000 in additional compensation, for the newly extended term of August 1, 
2025 through July 31, 2026, and revises the Scope of Work, effective July 14, 2025. 
 
C-2025-147 Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP une 2025 Consulting Services Agreement, Legal 
services related to financial transactions and taxation with compensation not to exceed 
$200,000 through June 30, 2026. 
 
C-2025-148 MissionCTRL, Inc.(San Francisco)  July 2025 Amendment to the Consulting 
Services Agreement, extends the term through June 30, 2026, adds $98,000 in compensation 
for the terms of July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026, with total compensation not to exceed $492,000 
for strategy, messaging, audience engagement, and thought leadership services. 
 



   
 

Consent Item 5 

 

C-2025-149 Chapman and Cutler, LLP July 2025 Amendment to the Consulting Services 
Agreement, adds $175,000 in additional compensation and revises the scope of services. 
 
C-2025-150 Bluepoint Planning, LLC (Berkeley) July 2025 Consulting Services Agreement, 
provides pre-development tasks for long-term planning effort related to customer programs, 
effective July 18, 2025, through July 17, 2026, with a maximum compensation of $15,000. 
 
C-2025-151 PFM Financial Advisors, LLC and PFM Swap Advisors, LLC (El Segundo) July 
2025 Amendment to the Agreement by and Among Ava Community Energy Authority and PFM 
Financial Advisors LLC, and PFM Swap Advisors, LLC, for services related to the costs of 
Issuance for Prepays #4 and #5, total compensation for prepays 4 & 5 is NTE $500,000 
 
Metergram, LLC (Point Verdra Beach, FL) July 2025 Amendment to the Consulting Services 
Agreement, adds $5,000 to the compensation amount for a total amount not to exceed $10,000, 
updates the Scope of Work, and amends the expiration date to June 30, 2026. 
 
C-2025-152 Metergram, LLC (Point Verdra Beach, FL) July 2025 Amendment to the Consulting 
Services Agreement, adds $5,000 to the compensation amount for a total amount not to exceed 
$10,000, updates the Scope of Work, and amends the expiration date to June 30, 2026. 
 
C-2025-153 Wilson, Sonsini, Goodrich and Rosati, P.C. (San Francisco) July 2025 Amendment 
to the Consulting Services Agreement, adds $364,000 in compensation for legal services 
through June 30, 2025, with total compensation not to exceed $1,414,000. 
 
C-2025-154 Bill Moore & Associates Graphics, Inc. (San Rafael, CA) Consulting Services 
Agreement for Services By and Between Ava Community Energy Authority and BILL MOORE & 
ASSOCIATES GRAPHICS, INC. for signage installation at Oakland City Center West Garage 
with compensation not to exceed $74,304.86 
 
C-2025-155 Day Pitney, LLP, Legal Representation Letter and Standard Terms of 
Representation for FERC legal representation. 
 
C-2025-158 Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) Amendment 7 to Exhibit A: Scope of 
Services Task Order 3 - Data Management and call center services, captures the the work 
needed to complete the webform created for the Fremont Renewable 100 opt up transition. 
Internally, we refer to this as the “remain on” webform. The webform allows customers the 
option to remain on the R100 default, transition to Bright Choice or opt back to PG&E services. 
Compensation for these services will be $64,350. 
 
C-2025-159 Dakota Press, Inc (San Leandro) June 2025 Amendment to the Consulting 
Services Agreement extends the term through June 30, 2026, increases the compensation by 
$650,000 for Fiscal Year 2025 - 2026, with total compensation not to exceed $1,250,000. 

C-2025-160 Granite Telecommunications, LLC (Quincy, MA)  Commercial Account Form and 
Letter of Agency provides for 2 years of Broadband services at the Oakland City Center Garage 
to support Ava Charge, compensation not to exceed $3,600. 

C-2025-161 California Energy Commission State of California Gant/Loan Amendment, sdds 
Ava's developer (Calibrant Energy) as a Subrecipient, modifies the budget to account for 
Calibrant as a Subrecipient and to account for the change in equipment, modifies the Equipment 



   
 

Consent Item 5 

 

and Materials, extends the term through 11/30/2027, updates the Schedule of Products and 
Due Dates, accounts for the name change to Ava Community Energy. 

C-2025-162 Aurora Energy Research, LLC Subscription Analytics Services Supplement No. 2, 
provides CAISO Expanded CCA Service, commencing July 1, 2025, for a maximum 
compensation of $15,000. 

C-2025-163 Peralta Service Corporation (Oakland, CA) August 2025 Purchase Rider for graffiti 
abatement, compensation not to exceed $1,510. 

C-2025-164 Aiqueous dba Brillion (Austin, TX) July 2025 Consulting Services Agreement 
provides for licensing for PowerPath SaaS, and Premier Support and professional services as 
requested through June 30, 2026, with compensation not to exceed $98,000. 

C-2025-165 Ironclad, Inc. Order Form for Signatures extension 

C-2025-166 Xynteo Limited August 2025 Amendment to the Consulting Services Agreement 
Updates the scope to exchange obsolete optional services for the development of a plan to 
onboard a Data Center Director. 

C-2025-167 Richards, Watson and Gershon August 2025 Amendment to the Consulting 
Services Agreement, updates exhibits C and E with proper personnel and billing. 

C-2025-168 Chapman & Culter, LLP Request for Conflicts Consent, Chapman and Culter is 
disclosing to Ava that is represents PNC Bank in a matter where Ava is the borrower. 
Chapmand and Cutler is not representing Ava in this matter. 

C-2025-186 CrossCurrents, LLC (Stockton, CA) June 2025 Amendment to the Consulting 
Services Agreement, increases the compensation amount by $18,000 for the term July 1, 2025, 
to June 30, 2026, updates the Scope of Work, and extends the term through June 30, 2026. 

C-2025-187 Carrot Fertility, Inc. Renewal Order Form, renews subscription to fertility services 
for 24 months, effective October 1, 2025 through September 30, 2027, for $25,000 (Year 1) and 
$27,500 (Year2). 

C-2025-188 Itron, Inc. (Washington) Evaluation Agreement, provides a 30 day evaluation of 
Itron's forecasting services, with a maximum compensation of $20,000. 

C-2025-189 Salesforce, Inc. Order Form, twelve-month Salesforce subscription Order Form, 
effective August 15, 2025, through August 14, 2026, with a maximum compensation of 
$137,808.58. 

C-2025-190 Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) Amendment 8 to Exhibit A: Scope of 
Services Task Order 3 - Data Management and Call Center Services, updates Ava customer 
feed via SA_ID, effective August 14, 2025, with a maximum compensation of $16,650. 

C-2025-191  Ayala-Bass Law PC August 2025 Amendment to the Consulting Services 
Agreement, Extending the scope to include recent subpoena. 



   
 

Consent Item 5 

 

C-2025-192  Compass Group USA, Inc. (San Francisco) July 2025 Amendment to the Services 
Agreement, adds additional compensation, increasing the not-to-exceed amount by $90,000 for 
the term from July 1, 2025, to June 30, 2026, and to extend the term through June 30, 2026. 

C-2025-194  Ryan Litton (Berlin, Germany) August 2025 Purchase Rider, create written content 
for the Marketing team with compensation not to exceed $15,000 through December 31, 2025. 

C-2025-195   Peralta Service Corporation (Oakland, CA) September 2025 Purchase Rider, 
Graffiti abatement services with a not to exceed of $1,1510 effective September 8, 2025. 

C-2025-196 S&P Global Master Service Agreement, CCA group subscription to S&P credit 
evaluation and monitoring tool with Ava as the Responsible Party, compensation not to exceed 
$288,000 shared among Ava, Silicon Valley Clean Energy, San Diego Community Power, 
Pioneer Community Energy, 3CE, Orange County Power Authority, MCE, and Sonoma Clean 
Power. 
 
C-2025-197 S&P Global Services Attachment to the Master Service Agreement Desktop 
Products and Services, related to the MSA 
 
C-2025-198 S&P Global Pricing Schedule, outlines pricing related to the MSA, related to the 
MSA 
 
C-2025-199 S&P Global Amendment No. 1 to Pricing Schedule, Revises the terms of the MSA 
and Pricing schedule to be from February 28, 2025, to March 30, 2028 
 

C-2025-200 Pacific Gas & Electric & U.S. National Bank Association Escrow Agreement, 
documentation proving Ava's Financial Security Requirement as required by the CPUC. 

C-2025-201 Inside Source Washington Proposal, furniture and related labor for office updates, 
compensation not to exceed $11,031.30 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 



 

Staff Report Item 6 

 
Staff Report Item 6 

 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority 

From: Russell Mills, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 

Subject: Second Amendment to the Credit Card Use and Controls Policy 

Date: September 17, 2025 

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

Summary/Recommendation 

Adopt a resolution authorizing a second amendment to Ava’s Credit Card Use and Controls 

Policy (the “Policy”) to increase the spending limit and allow the Chief Executive Officer and 

Treasurer authority to issue cards to approved, select staff if needed.  

 
Financial Impact  

The approval of this second amendment to the Policy will have no financial impact on 

Ava.  

 

Analysis and Context  

On October 18, 2018, Ava’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the Policy to 

establish guidelines on use and risk management of Ava’s corporate credit cards. This 

Policy allowed two cards to be issued—one to the CEO and one to the 

COO/Treasurer—for eligible operating expenses that cannot be procured through 

invoicing, check payment, or bank transfers. The Policy set a spending limit cap of 

$20,000 per month on the account. 

 

On November 16, 2022, Ava’s Board approved the first amendment to the Policy. This 

amendment was necessary to solve two issues: disentangle executive staff expenses 

from operational need and increase the credit limit to accommodate the needed 

capacity as operations scaled.  

 



 

Staff Report Item 6 

This amendment allowed an additional card to be issued to the Finance lead for 

recurring operational charges, which eased demand on executive cards and facilitated 

easier accounting, tracking, and controls. This effectively created two use cases: 

executive use and operational use. This amendment also increased the account 

spending limit to $60,000 per month. Also, additional controls were placed on the 

operational card with an executive level of authorization. 
 

At the time the first amendment was issued, Ava had 54 employees and two executives. 

Today, Ava is authorized for 105 full time employees with four Senior Vice President or 

above level executives. Demand use on the executive cards remains steady, and 

minimal.  
 

However, the operational card has higher usage demand. Currently, over 54% of 

operational capacity is used for recurring charges like subscriptions, data usage, and 

other similar needs. Marketing costs are an additional 34% of monthly capacity, on 

average, and have doubled in the last year; particularly for social media advertising as 

many venues only accept credit cards. These needs are expected to increase and are 

impacting usage capacity.   

 

To abide by the current trends, staff proposes two changes to the Policy in this second 

amendment 

• Allow executive cards to be available for staff at the Senior Vice President level 

or higher, the Finance Operations Lead and the Marketing Lead, at the discretion 

of the CEO and Treasurer 

• Increase the monthly credit spending capacity from $60,000 to $100,000 to allow 

for increasing operational needs. 

 

All other controls, functions, and processes remain unchanged, and all current policy 

standards would continue to be applied.  

 

These changes will allow greater flexibility for executives to manage expenses and add 

necessary capacity to continue necessary marketing functions without impacting other 

operational needs.  

 

Committee Recommendation  

This item was brought forward to the Finance, Administrative, and Procurement Subcommittee 

on September 8, 2025, with the recommendation of approving the proposed changes. 

 
Attachments  

A. Resolution to Adopt the Second Amendment to the Credit Card Use and Controls 
Policy 

B. Amended Credit Card Use and Controls Policy (redline) 



 

Staff Report Item 6 

C. Amended Credit Card Use and Controls Policy (clean) 



Attachment Consent Item 6A 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2025-xx 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING A SECOND 
AMENDMENT TO THE CREDIT CARD USE AND CONTROLS POLICY 

 

 WHEREAS Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, under the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin County, 
were added as members of Ava and parties to the Joint Powers Agreement (“JPA”) in 
March of 2020. The city of Stockton was added as a member to Ava in September of 
2022. The city of Lathrop was added as a member to Ava in October of 2023. San 
Joaquin County was added as a member to Ava in July 2024. On October 24, 2023, 
Ava legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy Authority, where it had previously 
used the name East Bay Community Energy Authority since its inception. 

 WHEREAS the Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the Credit Card Use 
and Controls Policy (the “Policy”) on October 18, 2018, which authorizes credit cards to 
be issued specifically to the CEO and the COO/Treasurer only and set a monthly 
spending credit limit of $20,000, and 

 WHEREAS on November 16, 2022, the Board approved the First Amendment to 
the Policy which authorized an additional card to be issued to the Senior Finance 
Manager to disentangle executive expenses from operational needs and increased the 
monthly spending credit limit of $60,000, and 

WHEREAS it is now necessary to further adjust the Policy to accommodate 
Ava’s needs as operations have scaled. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 
ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Amend the Policy to allow for executive cards to be issued to staff at 
the Senior Vice President executive level or higher, the Finance Operations Lead, and 
the Marketing Lead at the discretion of the CEO and Treasurer.  

 Section 2. Amend the Policy to allow for the account spending limit to be 
increased to $100,000 per month. 

 

 



Attachment Consent Item 6A 

 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 17th of September 2025. 

 

     

             

     Betsy Andersen, Chair  

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 



Attachment Consent Item 6B 

 

 
 
CREDIT CARD USE AND CONTROLS POLICY, SECOND AMENDMENT 

  
  

Policy Number:   16.2 

Approval Date:  9/17/2025 

Agenda Item:  {To be added by Clerk} 
Approved by Resolution:  {To be added by Clerk} 

 

 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this Policy is to set guidelines for the usage and payment of business 
expenditures from the Corporate Credit Cards (Cards). This Policy is not intended to override the 
Administrative Procurement Policies and use of the Cards shall be in accordance with these 
policies. 
 
RESPONSIBLE PARTIES: 
The COOFinance Executive/Treasurer is responsible for ensuring uniform policies and 
procedures are followed for Ava’s Credit Card Policy. 
 
SCOPE: 
The Policy applies to all the Corporate Credit Cardholders of East BayAva Community Energy 
(EBCEAva). 
 
CONTROLS OVER CARDS 
1. Cards will may be issued only to CEO, the COO/Treasurer, and the Senior Finance 

ManagerAva executives at the Senior Vice President level and above, and the Finance 
Operations Lead, and the Marketing lead, as necessary at the discretion of the CEO and the 
Treasurer. 

2. At least one card controlling member will review and approve the monthly statements 
before the cards are paid irrespective of the account balance. 

3. The use of the card shall only be used for business-related expenditures and shall not be 
used for personal expenses or cash withdrawals. 

4. The account will have a standard monthly credit spending limit of $60100,000. 
5. A lost or stolen card must be reported as soon as it is discovered as missing. 
 
CARD USAGE 
The proper name of the cardholder will be embossed on the card along with “East BayAva 
Community Energy”. The card is valuable property which requires proper treatment by the 
cardholder to protect it from misuse by unauthorized parties. The cardholder is required to 
activate (as per instructions received with the card) and sign the card immediately upon receipt. 
The card may be used upon activation. When a new card is issued to the cardholder, it is the 
cardholder's responsibility to destroy the previous card (cut it in pieces) and discard. If the 
cardholder's employment is terminated for any reason, the card will be immediately cancelled 



Attachment Consent Item 6B 

 

upon notice of termination by the Senior Finance ManagerFinance Operations Lead or 
Treasurer. 
 
Eligible uses of the card include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Refreshments and meals for outreach events and meetings 
2. Conference registration 
3. Travel arrangements (ex: airfare, car rental, train fare and hotels) 
4. Certain marketing and social media expenses 
5. Recurring payment of data or industry news subscriptions 
6. Urgent office supplies and maintenance 
7. Cell phone purchases and monthly cell phones service 

 
All expenses must be in accordance with the Board approved expenses established in the Board 
approved budget and within guidelines set in the Administrative Procurement Policy. 
 
The card may not be transferred to, assigned to, or used by anyone other than the designated 
cardholder. Amex The card issuer or AvaEBCE may, at any time, suspend or cancel the 
cardholder's privileges for any reason and the cardholder will surrender the credit card to the 
CEO, COO/Treasurer, or Senior Finance Manager upon request. The cardholders should attempt 
to keep the use of the card to a minimum. 
 
Employees are NOT permitted to use the card for personal expenses. Misappropriation of public 
funds, including the use of a government credit card for personal gain or unauthorized 
purposes, is a felony under Penal Code Section 424. Criminal penalties may still apply even 
where the use of the governmental credit card was inadvertent (if the employee failed to 
exercise due care in using the card) or where the employee refunded the agency after the 
unauthorized use. The cardholders should keep their Ava card in a separate location from their 
personal credit cards, and keep the use of the card to a minimum.  
 
Any rewards earned on card will belong to EBCE and will be used to buy down the balance of 
the account periodically or be used to reduce cost of qualifying new purchases as permittable. 
 
SAFEGUARD OF CARDS 

1. The cardholder is required to ensure proper safeguard of the card by: Securely keeping 

the card in their possession but in a location separate from personal credit cards, signing 

the back of the card, and destroying an expired or replaced card 

2. Ensuring that only the last four digits of the card number appear on any printed 

document 

 
EXPENSE ACCOUNTING, REPORTING, AND PAYMENT 

1. The cardholder is required to obtain and submit the original invoices/receipts for all 

purchases. Missing receipts will require a formal review and notice process. In addition to 



Attachment Consent Item 6B 

 

receipts, the employee requesting use for an approved purchase shall provide prior to the 

transaction: 

i. A description of the business purpose 

ii. In the case of meals or conferences, who was will be in attendance 

iii. In the case of travel, travel dates 

2. Any transaction with missing documentation requires a written explanation for the missing 

documentation, and must include the vendor name, date, description of purchase, and 

reason for the missing documentation. 

3. The cardholder is responsible for submitting the invoices/receipts of all transactions to 

the COO/Treasurer or the Senior Finance ManagerTreasurer, Finance Operations Lead, or 

Controller within 5 business days of incurring the transaction or receiving the 

invoice/receipt. 

4. The Senior Finance ManagerFinance Operations Lead or Controller is responsible for 

downloading the monthly statement for all the cards, matching the invoices/receipts to the 

charges in the statement, ensuring the accounting of every charge in the appropriate 

period, and making payment by the statement due date. 

5. The Senior Finance ManagerFinance Operations Lead or Controller will review monthly 

statements and documentation for completeness and process payment upon approval 

from direct supervisor or Treasurer. In the case of the Senior Finance Manager’sFinance 

Operations Lead’s expenses, the Treasurer or CEO will review and sign off on such 

expenses. In the case of the Treasurer’san executive’s expenses, the CEO will review and 

sign off on such expenses. In the case of the CEO’s expenses, the expenses will be provided 

to the Chair of the Board or Treasurer for review and approval. However, EBCE Ava will not 

await approval to make payment of credit card expenses. 

 

POLICY ENFORCEMENT: 

1. Employees are NOT permitted to use the card for personal expenses for any 

reason. Failure In addition to any other legal remedies and consequences, failure to abide 

by this provision could may result in disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of 

employment. 

2. Any willful intent to disregard the policy will result in revocation of the card and could result 

in disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment 

 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25",  No bullets or

numbering



Attachment Consent Item 6C 

 

 
 
CREDIT CARD USE AND CONTROLS POLICY, SECOND AMENDMENT 

  
  

Policy Number:   16.2 

Approval Date:  9/17/2025 

Agenda Item:  {To be added by Clerk} 
Approved by Resolution:  {To be added by Clerk} 

 

 

PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this Policy is to set guidelines for the usage and payment of business 
expenditures from the Corporate Credit Cards (Cards). This Policy is not intended to override the 
Administrative Procurement Policies and use of the Cards shall be in accordance with these 
policies. 
 
RESPONSIBLE PARTIES: 
The Financial Executive/Treasurer is responsible for ensuring uniform policies and procedures 
are followed for Ava’s Credit Card Policy. 
 
SCOPE: 
The Policy applies to all the Corporate Credit Cardholders of Ava Community Energy (Ava). 
 
CONTROLS OVER CARDS 
1. Cards may be issued only to Ava executives at the Senior Vice President level and above, the 

Financial Operations Lead, and the Marketing Lead as necessary at the discretion of the CEO 
and the Treasurer. 

2. At least one card controlling member will review and approve the monthly statements 
before the cards are paid irrespective of the account balance. 

3. The use of the card shall only be used for business-related expenditures and shall not be 
used for personal expenses or cash withdrawals. 

4. The account will have a standard monthly spending credit limit of $100,000 
5. A lost or stolen card must be reported as soon as it is discovered as missing. 
 
CARD USAGE 
The proper name of the cardholder will be embossed on the card along with “Ava Community 
Energy”. The card is valuable property which requires proper treatment by the cardholder to 
protect it from misuse by unauthorized parties. The cardholder is required to activate (as per 
instructions received with the card) and sign the card immediately upon receipt. The card may 
be used upon activation. When a new card is issued to the cardholder, it is the cardholder's 
responsibility to destroy the previous card (cut it in pieces) and discard. If the cardholder's 
employment is terminated for any reason, the card will be immediately cancelled upon notice of 
termination by the Financial Operations Lead or Treasurer. 
 



Attachment Consent Item 6C 

 

Eligible uses of the card include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Refreshments and meals for outreach events and meetings 
2. Conference registration 
3. Travel arrangements (ex: airfare, car rental, train fare and hotels) 
4. Certain marketing and social media expenses 
5. Recurring payment of data or industry news subscriptions 
6. Urgent office supplies and maintenance 
7. Cell phone purchases and monthly cell phones service 

 
All expenses must be in accordance with the Board-approved budget line items established in 
the approved budget and within guidelines set in the Administrative Procurement Policy. 
 
Employees are NOT permitted to use the card for personal expenses. Misappropriation of public 
funds, including the use of a government credit card for personal gain or unauthorized 
purposes, is a felony under Penal Code Section 424. Criminal penalties may still apply even 
where the use of the governmental credit card was inadvertent (if the employee failed to 
exercise due care in using the card) or where the employee refunded the agency after the 
unauthorized use. The cardholders should keep their Ava card in a separate location from their 
personal credit cards, and keep the use of the card to a minimum.  
 
The card may not be transferred to, assigned to, or used by anyone other than the designated 
cardholder. Amex or Ava may, at any time, suspend or cancel the cardholder's privileges for any 
reason and the cardholder will surrender the credit card upon request. Any rewards earned on 
card will belong to Ava and will be used to buy down the balance of the account periodically or 
be used to reduce cost of qualifying new purchases as permittable. 
 
SAFEGUARD OF CARDS 

1. The cardholder is required to ensure proper safeguard of the card by: Securely keeping 

the card in their possession but in a location separate  from personal credit cards, signing 

the back of the card, and destroying an expired or replaced card 

2. Ensuring that only the last four digits of the card number appear on any printed 

document 

 
EXPENSE ACCOUNTING, REPORTING, AND PAYMENT 

1. The cardholder is required to obtain and submit the original invoices/receipts for all 

purchases. Missing receipts will require a formal review and notice process. In addition to 

receipts, the employee requesting use for an approved purchase shall provide prior to the 

transaction: 

i. A description of the business purpose 

ii. In the case of meals or conferences, who will be in attendance 

iii. In the case of travel, travel dates 



Attachment Consent Item 6C 

 

2. Any transaction with missing documentation requires a written explanation for the missing 

documentation, and must include the vendor name, date, description of purchase, and 

reason for the missing documentation. 

3. The cardholder is responsible for submitting the invoices/receipts of all transactions to 

the Treasurer, Controller or Finance Operations Lead within 5 business days of incurring 

the transaction or receiving the invoice/receipt. 

4. The Finance Operations Lead or Controller is responsible for downloading the monthly 

statement for all the cards, matching the invoices/receipts to the charges in the statement, 

ensuring the accounting of every charge in the appropriate period, and making payment by 

the statement due date. 

5. The Finance Operations Lead or Controller will review monthly statements and 

documentation for completeness and process payment upon approval from direct 

supervisor or Treasurer. In the case of the Finance Operations Lead’s expenses, the 

Treasurer or CEO will review and sign off on such expenses. In the case of an executive’s 

expenses, the CEO will review and sign off on such expenses. In the case of the CEO’s 

expenses, the expenses will be provided to the Chair of the Board or the Treasurer for 

review and approval. However, Ava will not await approval to make payment of credit card 

expenses. 

 

POLICY ENFORCEMENT: 

1. Employees are NOT permitted to use the card for personal expenses for any reason. In 

addition to any other legal remedies and consequences, failure to abide by this policy may 

result in disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment. 

 

 
 



Consent Item 7 

 
 

Consent Item 7  

 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority 

From: Chris Eshleman, Director or Energy Analytics and Electric Supply 

Subject: Adopting a Resolution of the Board of Directors of Ava Community Energy 

Authority Authorizing the CEO to Negotiate and Execute a Third Amendment 

to the Master Agreement- Software as a Service with Ascend Analytics 

 

Date: September 17, 2025  

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Recommendation 

Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate and execute a Third 
Amendment to the Master Agreement- Software as a Service with Ascend Analytics (“Ascend”) 
for storage and renewable bid optimization software services dated June 22, 2023, which was 
first amended March 21, 2024 and subsequently amended March 21, 2025, (collectively, the 
“Agreement”) for a 2-year subscription term, with a cost not-to-exceed $362,580, together with 
the option to extend the subscription term for up to one, additional 1-year term. This third 
amendment adds a new asset, Sunpond, to the existing Storage and Renewable Bid 
Optimization software platform for the Power Resources objective and adds an additional 
$80,160 for the remainder of the 2-year term for a new not-to-exceed cost for the Agreement of 
$442,740. 

 
Financial Impact  

The addition of this storage resource to our portfolio optimized with Ascend adds additional 

yearly fees that are in-line or below market with other optimization providers. The additional 

amount of $80,160 for the remainder of the 2-year term will result in a new not-to-exceed cost 

for the Agreement of $442740.  

 
 

Analysis and Context  



Consent Item 7 

 

Adding an additional resource to Ascend’s optimization platform results in operational 
efficiencies, by reducing points of failure and tightening coordination in responding to market 
conditions. 

 
 
 
Attachments 

 

A. Resolution Authorizing the CEO to Negotiate and Execute a Third Amendment to the 
Software as a Service Master Agreement with Ascend Analytics 

B. Consulting Services Agreement Amendment Template 
 

 



 
 
 

Attachment Consent Item 7A 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2025-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING THE CEO TO 
NEGOTIATE AND EXECUTE A THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE MASTER 
AGREEMENT- SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE WITH ASCEND ANALYTICS  

 

 WHEREAS Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, under the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The Cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin County, 
were added as members of Ava and parties to the Joint Powers Agreement (“JPA”) in 
March of 2020. The City of Stockton was added as a member to Ava in September of 
2022. The City of Lathrop was added as a member to Ava in October of 2023. San 
Joaquin County was added as a member to Ava in July 2024. On October 24, 2023, 
Ava legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy Authority, where it had previously 
used the name East Bay Community Energy Authority since its inception. 

 

WHEREAS there is a need for Ava to add an additional solar plus energy storage 
asset, Sunpond, to the existing Storage and Renewable Bid Optimization software 
platform for the Power Resources objectives; 

 
WHEREAS, the addition of Sunpond will result in an increase of costs in the 

amount of $80,160 for the remainder of the 2-year term, which will result in a new not-
to-exceed cost for the Agreement of $442,740. 
 

WHEREAS Ava and Ascend previously entered into a Master Agreement- 
Software as a Service for storage and renewable bid optimization software services 
dated June 22, 2023, which was first amended March 21, 2024 and further amended 
March 21, 2025 (collectively, the “Agreement”) and such Agreement may be amended 
to include the additional services. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 
ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Board of Directors hereby authorizes the CEO to negotiate and execute, 
subject to approval of General Counsel, a Third Amendment to the Agreement to add 
an additional assest, Sunpond, and to increase the not-to-exceed amount to $$442,740.   

  



 
 
 

Attachment Consent Item 7A 

 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 17th day of September 2025 

 

     

             

     Jack Balch, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 1 

[Month] [Year] Consulting Services Agreement 

Ava Community Energy 
Authority (“Ava”) 

Signature: [companySignerSignature_KPpknIy] 

By: [companySignerName_F4OqAwu] 

Date: [companySignerDateField_kADuwEz] 

Approval as to 
Form: 

  

Address: 1999 Harrison Street, Suite 2300 

Oakland, CA 94612 

Ava Notice Emails: legal@avaenergy.org with a cc to: [Ava representative 

email] 

 

Relationship 
Manager: 

[Ava representative] 

[Counterparty] 

 

(“Consultant”) 

Signature: [counterpartySignerSignature_xbAWUWT] 

 

By: [counterpartySignerName_CDDO66l] 

Date: [counterpartySignerDateField_vztquxC] 

Notice Attn: [Counterparty representative] 

Phone:  

Notice Address:  

 

Notice Email(s):  

Effective Date  

Expiration Date  

Not To Exceed (“NTE”)  

Summary  

June 2025 template. 

This Consulting Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made by and between Ava Community Energy 
Authority, a joint powers authority formed under the laws of the State of California (“Ava”), and the counterparty 
set forth above (“Consultant”) as of the Effective Date. Ava and Consultant are herein referred to as “Parties” 
or individually as a “Party.” 

1. Recitals 

mailto:legal@avaenergy.org


Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 2 

1.1. Ava Recitals.  Ava is an independent joint powers authority duly organized under the provisions of the 
Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California (Government Code Section 6500 et seq.) with 
the power to conduct its business and enter into agreements.  

1.2. Consultant Recitals.  Consultant possesses the skill, experience, ability, background, certification and 
knowledge to complete the Work described in Section 3 of this Agreement pursuant to the terms and 
conditions described herein. 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the amount and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties to this Agreement, agree as follows:  

2. Term.  The term of this Agreement begins as of the Effective Date of this Agreement ends as of the 
Expiration Date, unless terminated earlier pursuant to Section 8 (Termination). 

3. Scope of Work/Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

3.1. Work.  Consultant agrees to perform the scope of work (the “Work”) in Exhibit A in accordance with the 
schedule in Exhibit B. 

3.2. Requirements.  Consultant represents and warrants that it has the skill and expertise to perform the 
Work.  Consultant agrees to obtain any and all necessary licenses, approvals or permits necessary to 
perform the Work. 

3.3. Legal Compliance.  Consultant and its contractors, consultants, sub-suppliers, affiliates, agents and 
any other person or entity with whom the Consultant contracts in furtherance of this Agreement 
(collectively “Subconsultants”) must comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations in 
performing the Work under this Agreement.  Without limiting the foregoing, if work required to be 
performed by the Consultant is a “public work” as defined in California Labor Code Section 1720, then 
pursuant to the provisions of Labor Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771, the Consultant shall be registered 
with the Department of Industrial Relations (“DIR”), and will pay and require subcontractors to pay the 
general prevailing rate of per diem wages and the general rate for holiday and overtime work in this 
locality for each craft, classification, or type of worker needed to perform this Agreement, as 
established by the DIR.  As of the execution of this Agreement, these rates may be obtained at:  
http://www.dir.ca.gov/OPRL/DPreWageDetermination.htm.  Consultant shall provide a copy of 
prevailing wage rates to any staff, contractor and/or Subconsultant hired by Consultant for this 
Agreement and shall pay the adopted prevailing wage rates as a minimum.  Consultant shall comply 
with the provisions of Sections 1773.8, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1777.6, and 1813 of the Labor Code.  
Pursuant to the provisions of 1775 of the Labor Code, Consultant shall forfeit to Ava, as a penalty, the 
sum of $200.00 for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each laborer, worker, or mechanic 
employed, is paid less than the applicable prevailing wage rates for any work done under this 
Agreement, by them or by any subcontractor under them, in violation of the provisions of the 
Agreement. 

4. Consultant Staffing.  Exhibit C contains a list of Consultant’s principal and all team members.  Consultant 
will not change or substitute the principal or any team members or add additional team members without 
consultation with Ava. 

5. Subconsultants. 

5.1. Approved Subconsultants.  Consultant agrees to use only those Subconsultants listed on Exhibit D.  
Consultant shall notify Ava within a reasonable period of time of any changes, additions, or removals 
of a Subconsultant.  

5.2. Subconsultant Compliance.  Consultant agrees to require all Subconsultants to comply with the terms 
of this Agreement, including without limitation, the public works requirements in Section 3.3, the 
insurance obligations under Section 9, the confidentiality requirements under Section 11, and the 
requirement to indemnify Ava as provided in Section 12. 

6. Invoicing and Payment. 

6.1. Time and Materials.  If the Work under this Agreement is to be performed on a time and materials 
basis, Consultant must submit invoices to Ava on a monthly basis, complete with the name of the 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 3 

individual that conducted the Work, the time spent, and a brief description of the tasks performed 
during that time.  If requested by Ava, Consultant must include the contract number provided by Ava 
and the total compensation remaining on the Agreement on each monthly invoice. Notification to Ava 
should be provided once the contract budget has been used up by 80% (including invoiced work and 
work that may not have been invoiced yet) the amount of which is set forth in Exhibit E. Invoices must 
be submitted to Ava by the 20th of the month following the month in which Consultant performed the 
Work. 

6.2. Milestone.  If the Work under this Agreement is to be performed on a task or project basis, the 
Consultant will submit an invoice within thirty (30) days of completing the project to the satisfaction of 
Ava for full payment, unless other arrangements have been made. 

6.3. Markups.  Ava will not agree to pay any markups on Subconsultant services or supplies unless such 
markups are included in Exhibit E, Compensation/Budget and such markups were included in 
Consultant’s bid, if applicable. 

6.4. Payment Processing.  The following are conditions on Ava’s obligation to process any payments under 
this Agreement: 

6.4.1. If the Consultant is a U.S. based person or entity, the Consultant must provide to Ava a properly 
completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 before Ava will process payment.  If the 
Consultant is a U.S based person or entity but has neither a permanent place of business in 
California nor is registered with the California Secretary of State to do business in California, the 
Consultant must provide Ava with a properly completed California Franchise Tax Board form 
related to nonresident withholding of California source income before Ava will process payment. 

6.4.2. If the Consultant is not a U.S. based person or entity, the Consultant must provide Ava with the 
applicable Internal Revenue Service form related to its foreign status and a California Franchise 
Tax Board form related to nonresident withholding before Ava will process payment. 

6.5. Payment.  Ava agrees to pay undisputed invoices within forty-five (45) days of receipt.  Invoices may 
be sent to Ava by U.S. mail or electronic mail to AP@avaenergy.org.  Invoices will be deemed 
received on the next business day following the date of receipt via electronic mail or three days after 
receipt via U.S. mail.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any related 
document, Ava shall have no obligation to remit payment for fees in excess of the NTE. 

6.6. Members.  Ava, as a joint powers authority, is a separate public entity from its constituent members 
and will be solely responsible for all debts, obligations and liabilities accruing and arising out of this 
Agreement.  Consultant acknowledges that it will have no rights and agrees not to make any claims, 
take any actions or assert any remedies against any of Ava’s constituent members in connection with 
this Agreement. 

7. Records Retention and Ownership of Work Product. 

7.1. Records.  The Consultant must retain all ledgers, books of accounts, invoices, vouchers, cancelled 
checks, background materials, or other records relating to its performance under this Agreement for a 
period of three (3) years following termination of this Agreement. 

7.2. Ownership.  Ava owns all rights, including without limitation, all licenses, copyrights, service marks and 
patents, in and to all Work Product(s), whether written or electronic, without restriction or limitation 
upon their use and immediately when and as created by the Consultant, any Subconsultants, or any 
other person engaged directly or indirectly by the Consultant to perform under this Agreement.  “Work 
Product(s)” means all writings, reports, drawings, plans, data, video, media, photographs, renderings, 
plans, software, models, and other similar documents and materials developed or created by 
Consultant or its Subconsultants on behalf of or for use by Ava under this Agreement.  All Work 
Product(s) will be considered “works made for hire,” and together with any and all intellectual property 
rights arising from their creation will be and remain the property of Ava without restriction or limitation 
upon their use, duplication or dissemination by Ava. Consultant agrees not to obtain or attempt to 
obtain copyright protection in its own name for any Work Product.  



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 4 

8. Termination. 

8.1. Upon Notice.  Ava may terminate this Agreement for any reason by giving Consultant written notice. 
The termination notice may set the date of termination, but if no such date is given, termination is 
effective seven (7) days following the date of the written notice. 

8.2. For Breach.  Ava may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice for any material 
breach of this Agreement by Consultant or any of its Subconsultants. If Ava terminates this Agreement 
for cause and obtains the same services from another consultant at a greater cost, the Consultant is 
responsible for such excess costs in addition to any other remedies available to Ava. 

8.3. Completion Option.  Upon termination for any reason, Ava has the option of requiring the Consultant to 
complete work up to the date of termination or to cease work immediately.  Ava has the further option 
to require Consultant to provide Ava any finished or unfinished Work or Work Product prepared by the 
Consultant up to the date of termination.  

8.4. Payment.  Ava will pay Consultant the reasonable value of services satisfactorily rendered by the 
Consultant to Ava up to the date of written notice of termination. If Ava authorizes Consultant to 
continue performing the Work through the date of termination, Ava will pay Consultant the reasonable 
value of services satisfactorily rendered up through the date of termination, providing such services are 
in compliance with the Compensation/Budget in Exhibit E.  

8.5. Return of Work Product.  Upon termination of this Agreement, and at no cost to Ava, Consultant, its 
Subconsultants and anyone working for Ava under control of Consultant must return all Work Product 
to Ava and cooperate with any subsequent consultant during any transition. Consultant may only retain 
copies of the Work Product by express written permission of Ava.  

9. Insurance 

9.1. Proof of Insurance.  Consultant must procure, maintain and comply with the insurance requirements in 
Exhibit F throughout the full term of this Agreement. Consultant must provide proof of insurance either 
in the form of a certificate of insurance or, if requested by Ava, a copy of the insurance policy, prior to 
performing any work under this Agreement. 

9.2. Ongoing Coverage.  Consultant agrees to stay in compliance with the insurance coverage 
requirements during the term of this Agreement. Consultant must give Ava ten (10) days written notice 
and obtain Ava’s written approval prior to making any modifications that would reduce its insurance 
coverage. 

9.3. Subconsultant Coverage.  Consultant must either include Subconsultants under its insurance policies 
or require each Subconsultant to comply with the insurance obligations in Exhibit F.    

10. No Discrimination or Conflict of Interest 

10.1. Non-Discrimination.  Consultant represents and warrants, on behalf of itself and its 
Subconsultants, that it has not and will not discriminate against anyone based on his/her age, color 
religion, sex, sexual orientation, disability, race, national origin, or any other protected category under 
state or federal law.   

10.2. Conflict of Interest.  Consultant represents and warrants, on behalf of itself and its 
Subconsultants, that it is familiar with local, state and federal conflict of interest laws, that in entering 
into this Agreement it is not violating any of the conflict of interest laws, that it will avoid any conflicts of 
interest during the term of this Agreement, and that it will notify Ava immediately if it identifies any 
conflicts of interest Consultant understands that violations of this Section 10 could result in immediate 
termination of this Agreement and disgorgement of compensation. 

11. Confidentiality 

11.1. Non-Disclosure.  Except as authorized by Ava or as otherwise required by law, Consultant shall 
not disclose to any third party any draft or final Work Product, discussions or written correspondence 
between Consultant and its Subconsultants or discussions or written correspondence between 
Consultant and Ava staff. In the event Consultant receives a request from any third party requesting 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 5 

disclosure of any Work Product, discussions, communications or any other information Consultant is 
prohibited from disclosing, Consultant will immediately notify Ava and wait for direction from Ava 
before disclosing the information.  

11.2. Third Parties.  For the purposes of this Section 11, “third party” refers to any person or group 
other than Ava staff and Board members. For example, “third parties” include community groups, 
Board advisory groups, other governmental agencies, other consultants or members of the community. 

11.3. Confidentiality Survival.  This Section 11 will survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 

11.4. Public Records Act.  The Parties understand and agree that (1) this Consulting Services 
Agreement is subject to public disclosure under the California Public Records Act (“CPRA”); 
(2) a request pursuant to the CPRA may obligate Ava to disclose this Agreement, in whole or in 
part, to the requestor; and (3) Consultant is solely responsible for the inclusion of any 
information herein that Consultant may consider sensitive and should not include sensitive 
information within this Agreement. 

12. Indemnity 

12.1. General Indemnity.  Except with regard to any matter involving professional negligence, 
Consultant agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably 
approved by Ava, and protect and hold harmless Ava, its officers, directors, employees, agents, 
attorneys, designated volunteers, successors and assigns, and those Ava agents serving as 
independent contractors in the role of Ava staff (collectively “Ava Indemnitees”) from and against any 
and all damages, costs, expenses, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, proceedings, 
penalties, judgements, liens and losses of whatever nature  (“Claims”) that arise, directly or indirectly, 
in whole or in part, out of or are in any way related to Consultant’s or Subconsultant’s performance or 
failure to perform the Work under this Agreement, regardless of whether the Consultant or its 
Subconsultants acted or failed to act intentionally, willfully, recklessly or negligently.  Consultant 
agrees that its indemnity and defense obligations include all costs and expenses, including all attorney 
fees, expert fees, mediation, arbitration, or court costs in connection with the defense.  Consultant 
further agrees to indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless Indemnitees from and against any 
breach of this Agreement and any infringement of patent rights, trade secret, trade name, copyright, 
trademark, service mark or any other proprietary right of any person(s) caused by Ava’s use of any 
services, Work Product or other items provided by Consultant or its Subconsultants under this 
Agreement. 

12.2. Professional Negligence.  With regard to any matter involving professional negligence, 
Consultant agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably 
approved by Ava, and protect and hold harmless the Ava Indemnitees from and against any and all 
Claims to the extent arising out of or resulting from Consultant’s or Subconsultant’s negligence, 
recklessness, or willful misconduct. In no event shall the cost to defend charged to Consultant exceed 
the Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault.   

12.3. Exceptions.  Consultant’s obligations in Subsections 12.1 and 12.2 do not apply to the extent 
any Claim results from the negligence or willful misconduct of the Ava Indemnitees.   

12.4. Indemnitees.  Except as limited by Subsection 12.2, Consultant’s obligation to defend Ava 
applies to the maximum extent allowed by law and includes defending Indemnitees as set forth in 
California Civil Code sections 2778 and 2782.8. 

12.5. Insurance.  The Consultant’s obligations under Section 12 apply regardless of the existence or 
amount of insurance the Consultant carries or has made available to Ava.   

12.6. Indemnification Survival.  The Parties agree that this Section 12 survives the expiration or 
earlier termination of the Agreement. 

13. Consultant is an Independent Contractor 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 6 

13.1. Relationship of the Parties.  Consultant and its Subconsultant(s) are and at all times will be 
independent contractors. Consultant has complete control over its operations and employees and is 
not an agent or employee of Ava and must not represent or act as Ava’s agent or employee. 
Consultant agrees, on behalf of itself and its employees and Subconsultants, that it does not have any 
rights to retirement benefits or other benefits accruing to Ava employees, and expressly waives any 
claim it may have to any such rights. 

13.2. Relationship of Subconsultants.  As an independent contractor, Consultant has complete control 
over its Subconsultants.  Subject to the requirements of Section 5 of this Agreement, Consultant is 
solely responsible for selecting, managing and compensating its Subconsultants, and for ensuring they 
comply with this Agreement.   

14. Miscellaneous Terms and Conditions 

14.1. Ava Authority. The Chief Executive Officer or his/her designee is authorized to take all actions 
under this Agreement, including without limitation, amendments that fall within the Chief Executive 
Officer’s signing authority, termination or modification of terms. 

14.2. Waiver.  Waiver by either party of any one or more conditions, Sections, provisions or 
performance of this Agreement will not be a waiver of any other provision; nor will failure to enforce a 
provision or Section in one instance waive the right to enforce such provision or Section in the future.  
In no event will payment by Ava to Consultant constitute or be construed as a waiver by Ava of any 
breach or default of this Agreement, nor will such payment prejudice any of Ava’s other rights or 
remedies. 

14.3. Governing Law.  Consultant and Ava agree that this Agreement will be interpreted under the 
laws of the State of California. 

14.4. Venue.  Any litigation resulting from this Agreement will be filed and resolved by a state court in 
Alameda County, California, or if appropriate, the federal courts in the Northern District of California 
located in San Francisco. 

14.5. Audit Rights.  All records or documents required to be kept pursuant to this Agreement must be 
made available for audit at no cost to Ava, at any time during regular business hours, upon written 
request by Ava.  Copies of such records or documents shall be provided to Ava at Ava’s offices unless 
an alternative location is mutually agreed upon. 

14.6. Recitals and Exhibits.  The Recitals in Section 1 above are intentionally made a part of this 
Agreement.  All Exhibits and any other documents incorporated by reference are a part of this 
Agreement. 

14.7. Notices.  Notices to Ava shall be effective upon delivery to all email addresses in Ava Notice 
Emails, above.  .Any notices required to be given to Contractor under this Agreement must be made in 
writing and may be delivered a) personally, in which case they are effective upon receipt; b) by U.S. 
Mail, in which case they are effective three (3) days following deposit in the U.S. Mail, unless 
accompanied by a return receipt in which case, they are effective upon the date on the receipt; or c) by 
electronic mail, in which case they are effective upon confirmation of receipt, and if no confirmation of 
receipt, they are effective one day after transmission. All notices to Contractor must be sent to the 
Notice Address or Notice Email(s). 

14.8. Assignment. Except to the extent this Agreement authorizes Consultant to use Subconsultants, 
Consultant will not assign any part of this Agreement without Ava’s prior written consent. Ava, at its 
sole discretion, may void this Agreement if a violation of this provision occurs. 

14.9. Integrated Agreement.  The Recitals, this Agreement and the Exhibits attached to this 
Agreement contain the complete understanding between Ava and Consultant and supersedes any 
prior or contemporaneous negotiations, representations, agreements, understandings and statements, 
written or oral respecting the Work up through the Effective Date of this Agreement.  

14.10. Amendments.  Any and all amendments or modifications to this Agreement must be made in 
writing and signed by each Party before such amendment will be effective. 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 7 

14.11. Government Claims Act. Nothing in this Agreement waives the requirements to comply with the 
California Government Claims Act (Government Code Section 810 et seq.), where applicable.  

14.12. Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any Section or part of this Agreement to 
be invalid or unenforceable for any reason and the Work can still be performed, the Parties agree to 
sever the invalid or unenforceable Section from this Agreement and that all remaining Sections or 
parts of this Agreement will continue to be enforceable.   

14.13. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which taken 
together will constitute one and the same instrument and each of which will be deemed an original. 

14.14. No Party Deemed Drafter.  This Agreement will be considered for all purposes as prepared 
through the joint efforts of the Parties and will not be construed against one Party or the other as a 
result of the preparation, substitution, submission, or other event of negotiation, drafting or execution 
hereof. 

14.15. Supplier Diversity.  Ava is required to report to the California Public Utilities Commission 
(“CPUC”) on their diverse suppliers, as defined by CPUC General Order 156.  Consistent with the 
California Public Utilities Code and California Public Utilities Commission policy objectives, Consultant 
agrees to document and provide information to Ava regarding Consultant’s status and any 
engagement of women, minority, disabled veteran, persons with disabilities, and LGBT owned 
business enterprises in its completion of the Work under this Agreement.  Specifically, Consultant 
agrees to complete Ava’s Supplier Diversity questionnaire, which may be updated or revised during 
the term of the Agreement, and otherwise reasonably cooperate with Ava to provide the information 
described above.  Consultant shall provide such information in the timeframe requested by Ava and in 
no event later than January 31 of the year following the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

 

EXHIBIT A:   SCOPE OF WORK 

 

EXHIBIT B: SCHEDULE 

 

EXHIBIT C: CONSULTANT STAFFING 

 

EXHIBIT D: SUBCONSULTANTS 

 

EXHIBIT E: COMPENSATION/BUDGET 

 

EXHIBIT F: INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 8 

Exhibit A 

 

SCOPE OF WORK 

 

[Draft Scope of Work here and remove italicized language below when finalizing] 

 

A Scope of work should aim to be as concise as possible while ensuring all necessary details of the services 
are captured. A good Scope should include: 

• Summary of Services 

• Purpose and Objectives of Services (This could be in narrative form and provide the general purpose of the 
services) 

And may include: 

• Definitions of any Critical Terms (Any definitions, clarifications could be included here) 

• List of any Supplemental Documents (If there is a lengthy document that does not make sense to copy 
and paste into the Scope of Work it could be referenced here) 

• Tasks and Deliverables 

o List each task (and any related subtasks) 

o List required updates/reports on progress 

o List deliverable for each task 

o List schedule/due date for each task and for each deliverable 

o List any other milestone dates 

• Exclusions/Exceptions and Additional Services (If there is anything that is specifically excluded from the 
Scope of Work that can be listed here.  If there are additional services or costs (such as new services or travel 
costs), we can list the proposed costs and the process for selecting them here) 

• Any Other Conditions (If there is something unique to the project that does not fit into the other 
categories). 

 

Additional Services: 

 Consultant will not provide additional services outside of the services identified in Exhibit A, unless it 
obtains advance written authorization from the project manager or lead Ava representative prior to 
commencement of any additional services. 

 

 

 

 

   



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 9 

Exhibit B 

 

SCHEDULE 

 

 

[Schedule - can be detailed or as simple as “As directed by Ava.”]  



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 10 

Exhibit C 

 

CONSULTANT STAFFING 

 

[Include names of all team members who will be providing Ava services.] 

  



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 11 

Exhibit D 

 

SUBCONSULTANTS 

 

[If subconsultants are authorized in advance, they should be listed here, otherwise it can state either of these: 
“Subconsultants are not authorized under this Agreement.” or “Subconsultants must be authorized in advance, 
in writing by Ava.”]  



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 12 

Exhibit E 

 

COMPENSATION/BUDGET 

 

[If the compensation is hourly, a table of hourly rates by title should be included. If fixed fee, describe what 
amounts are to be paid based on what milestones] 

 

 

For the purposes of Section 6.1 (Time and Materials), 80% of the total compensation under this agreement 
(see NTE on page 1) is [$$$$] 

     



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 13 

Exhibit F 

 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

A. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  Consultant must procure, and at all times during the term of 
this Agreement carry, maintain, and keep in full force and effect, insurance as follows: 

1)   Commercial General Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per 
occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage and a general aggregate limit of Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000.00) per project or location.  If Consultant is a limited liability company, the commercial 
general liability coverage must be amended so that Consultant and its managers, affiliates, employees, agents 
and other persons necessary or incidental to its operation are insureds. 

2)   Automobile Liability Insurance for any owned, non-owned or hired vehicle used in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement with a combined single limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident 
for bodily injury and property damage.  

3)   Workers’ Compensation Insurance as required by the State of California and Employer’s Liability Insurance 
with a minimum limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident for bodily injury or disease.  If 
Consultant has no employees while performing the Work under this Agreement, workers’ compensation policy 
is not required, but Consultant must execute a declaration that it has no employees. 

4)   Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions Insurance with minimum limits of Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000.00) per claim and in aggregate. 

B. Acceptability of Insurers.  The insurance policies required under this Exhibit F must be issued by an 
insurer admitted to write insurance in the State of California with a rating of A:VII or better in the latest edition 
of the A.M. Best Insurance Rating Guide.  

C. Additional Insured/Additional Named Insured.  The automobile liability policies must contain an 
endorsement naming Ava, its officers, employees, agents and volunteers as additional insureds.  The 
commercial general liability policy must contain an endorsement naming Ava, its officers, employees, agents 
and volunteers as additional named insureds. 

D. Primary and Non-Contributing.  The insurance policies required under this Agreement must apply on a 
primary non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-insurance available to Ava.  Any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by Ava, its officers, employees, agents or volunteers, will be in excess 
of Consultant’s insurance and will not contribute with it. 

E. Consultant’s Waiver of Subrogation.  The insurance policies required under this Agreement will not prohibit 
Consultant and Consultant’s employees, agents or Subconsultants from waiving the right of subrogation prior 
to a loss.  Consultant hereby waives all rights of subrogation against Ava. 

F. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared 
to and approved by Ava.  At Ava’s option, Consultant must either reduce or eliminate the deductibles or self-
insured retentions with respect to Ava, or Consultant must procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and 
expenses. 

G. Cancellations or Modifications to Coverage.  Consultant agrees not to cancel any insurance coverage 
during the term of this Agreement.  Consultant further agrees not to reduce or otherwise modify the insurance 
policies required by this Agreement during the term of this Agreement, without the prior written approval of 
Ava.  The commercial general and automobile liability policies required under this Agreement must be 
endorsed to state that should the issuing insurer cancel the policy before the expiration date, the issuing 
insurer will endeavor to mail thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Ava.  If any insurance policy required under 
Agreement is canceled or reduced in coverage or limits, Consultant must, within two (2) business days of 
notice from the insurer, phone and notify Ava via electronic mail and certified mail, return receipt requested, of 
the cancellation of or reductions to any policy. 



Attachment Consent Item 7B 

 14 

H. Ava Remedy for Noncompliance.  If Consultant does not maintain the policies of insurance required 
under this Agreement in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement, or in the event any of 
Consultant’s policies do not comply with the requirements of this Exhibit F, Ava may either immediately 
terminate this Agreement or, if insurance is available at a reasonable cost, Ava may, but has no duty to, take 
out the necessary insurance and pay, at Consultant’s expense, the premium thereon.  Consultant must 
promptly reimburse Ava for any premium paid by Ava or Ava, in its sole discretion, may withhold amounts 
sufficient to pay the premiums from payments due to Consultant.  

I. Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to the performance of the Work under this Agreement, Consultant must furnish 
Ava with a certificate or certificates of insurance and all original endorsements evidencing and effecting the 
coverages required under this Agreement.  The endorsements are subject to Ava’s approval.  Ava may 
request, and Consultant must provide complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies to Ava 
Consultant must maintain current endorsements on file with Ava.  Consultant must provide proof to Ava that 
insurance policies expiring during the term of this Agreement have been renewed or replaced with other 
policies providing at least the same coverage.  Consultant must furnish such proof at least two (2) weeks prior 
to the expiration of the coverages. 

J. Indemnity Requirements not Limiting.  Procurement of insurance by Consultant will not be construed as 
a limitation of Consultant’s liability or as full performance of Consultant’s duty to indemnify Ava under Section 
12 of this Agreement. 

K. Subconsultant Insurance Requirements.  Consultant’s insurance coverage must include its 
Subconsultants or Consultant must require each of its Subconsultants that perform Work under this Agreement 
to maintain insurance coverage that meets all the requirements of this Exhibit F. 



 

CEO Report Item 10 

 
  

CEO Report Item 10 
  

TO:   Ava Community Energy Board of Directors  
  
FROM:  Howard Chang, Chief Executive Officer  
  
SUBJECT:  CEO Report (Informational Item)   
  
DATE:  September 17, 2025 
________________________________________________________________________   
  
Recommendation  
Accept Chief Executive Officer (CEO) report on update items below.  
 

Executive Committee Meeting  
An Executive Committee Meeting was held on Wednesday, September 3, 2025. Members 
received updates on the Customer Programs Strategic Roadmap and an informational 
presentation on the Slice of Day RA Requirements. The next meeting will be held on 
Wednesday, October 1, 2025, at 3pm. 
 
Marketing Regulatory and Legislative Subcommittee Meeting 
A Marketing Regulatory and Legislative Subcommittee Meeting was held on Monday, July 21, 
2025. Members received updates about legislative priorities and Understanding the Drivers of 
PG&E Rate and Cost Growth, and a primer on the PCIA. The next Marketing, Regulatory and 
Legislative Subcommittee meeting will be held on Friday, October 17, 2025, at 10am. 
 

 

Long-Term Projects Update 

Two Ava projects from long-term agreements achieved their Commercial Operation Date in 
August of 2025.  

• Kola Energy Storage (Kola): The Kola project is a 125 MW / 500 MWh battery energy 
storage facility that is part of a larger 400 MW / 1600 MWh facility located in Ava’s 
service territory. The development of the facility created over 100 union jobs during the 
construction phase and will generate approximately $100 million in additional tax 
revenue to San Joaquin County over the life of the project. Kola achieved Commercial 
Operation on August 1st, 2025, and has a delivery term of 20 years. 

• Hanford Energy Storage (Hanford): The Hanford project is a 16 MW / 64 MWh battery 
energy storage facility co-located with an existing natural gas facility. Ava has an 
agreement for 16 MW of Resource Adequacy (RA) from the battery. The addition of 
battery storage at the facility will reduce the run-time of the co-located natural gas facility 
and lower overall emissions from the gas plant. The Hanford battery was completed and 
achieved Commercial Operation on August 20th, 2025. 
 



 

CEO Report Item 10 

 
1 Kola Energy Storage Facility, San Joaquin County, CA 

 
Municipal Fleet Electrification Update 

Over the course of several years, Ava provided no-cost technical assistance to its member 

jurisdictions by funding and leveraging the industry expertise of a consultant team to develop 

10-year fleet electrification plans. Each plan included a schedule for replacing every gas and 

diesel vehicle with an appropriate electric model, charging infrastructure recommendations, a 

total cost of ownership analysis, and a greenhouse gas reduction analysis. These plans were 

developed for 13 jurisdictions within Ava’s service area at the time.  

 

The California Energy Commission (CEC) then released a Grant Funding Opportunity (GFO) to 

help fund government fleet EV charging infrastructure. Ava then provided further no-cost 

technical assistance to the 5 jurisdictions that met the GFO requirements by funding a 

consultant to develop and submit a grant application for each jurisdiction. These applications 

leveraged the fleet electrification reports previously developed for each jurisdiction. 3 of those 

applications were then awarded a total of $7.6M in grant funding from the CEC. All 3 Grant 

Agreements have now been executed, and each will fund the installation of at least 100 fleet EV 

charging ports.  

 

Grant Funding Awards 



 

CEO Report Item 10 

Jurisdiction CEC Funding Match Funding Total Funding 

Alameda County $3.7M $5.2M $8.9M 

City of Livermore $1.6M $3.1M $4.7M 

City of Oakland $2.3M $3M $5.3M 

 $7.6M $11.3M $18.9M 

 

 

Ava in the Community  
To raise awareness of our service, support our community, and stay close to our customers, 
Ava sponsors and staffs events throughout our service territory all year long. Stop by to say 
hello at any of these upcoming events between September 17 and October 22. Learn more at 
https://avaenergy.org/about-ava/meetings-events/events/ 
 

Date Event  Location 

9/18/2025 Stockton Coffee Office Hours Trail Coffee in Stockton 

9/20/2025  Family Day at the Park, Stockton Weber Point Park 

9/21/2025 Piedmont Harvest Festival Piedmont Main Park 

9/21/2025  Berkeley Sun Day Willard Park 

10/4/2025 Emeryville Harvest Festival Huchiun Park 

10/4/2026 Stockton Pride 
926 N Yosemite St, 
Stockton, CA 95203 

10/12/2025  Tracy Pride Lincoln Park 

10/19/2025 Cycle of Hope 
Dublin 

 

Community Sponsorship Recipients 

Three times a year, Ava awards sponsorships to community organizations across our service 

area. Funding areas include (but are not limited to) sports, art, music, and STEM. More 

information, eligibility criteria, and a link to apply for the next round of sponsorships can be 

found at https://avaenergy.org/community/grants-sponsorships/community-sponsorships/. The 

most recent sponsorship recipients are: 

 

Recipient Org City Sponsorship Amount 

Emeryville Celebration of the Arts Emeryville $2,360 

Young STEAMers Fremont $2,500 

FTC SciRavens Fremont $2,500 

Invent the Future Fremont $1,540 

2204 Rambots – California Crosspoint 
Academy 

Hayward $2,500 

Down by the Bay Nursery Hayward $2,500 

A Safe Place Oakland $1,950 

https://avaenergy.org/about-ava/meetings-events/events/
https://avaenergy.org/community/grants-sponsorships/community-sponsorships/


 

CEO Report Item 10 

 

Alameda Health Systems Foundation Oakland $2,500 

Lake Merritt Institute Oakland $2,500 

Oakland Triathlon Club Oakland $1,000 

EHS Girlsl4Sports Dublin $1,610 

Emerald HOSA Dublin $870 

Kids Bike Lane Livermore $2,500 

New Haven Schools Foundation Union City $2,447 

Regional Parks Foundation Alameda and Contra 
Costa County 

$2,500 

 

Emergency Food Bank Stockton $2,000 

Improve Your Tomorrow Stockton $2,500 

Tracy Earth Project Tracy $2,500 

Tracy Community Connections Center Tracy $2,500 

 

 

Customer Support Call Trends Over Time 

 
The Ava customer support team fields an average of 1,200 calls a month, with peaks in the 

months leading up to a new enrollment or default service plan change, such as the City of 

Fremont’s most recent residential transition from Bright Choice to Renewable 100. The annual 

call volume cycle sees, independent of other activities, higher calls in December/January and 

July/August, coinciding with peak winter and summer bills.  

 

This year the customer support team saw record call levels due to continued activity from new 

Ava communities, Stockton and Lathrop in August, as well as high summer bills – especially in 

San Joaquin County, which has higher summer bills due to air conditioning, as well as 

Fremont’s transition to Renewable 100.  

 



 

CEO Report Item 10 

The customer support team was prepared for these call volumes based on previous experience 

with summer bills and these high engagement events. 

 

 

New Employees 
 
Penelope (Penny) Bach 
Penny joined Ava on September 8, 2025, as the Program Manager for Ava Charge. 
Penny’s responsibilities include leading the cross functional project delivery and the 
overseeing full program lifecycle for Ava Charge. 
 
Penny brings 10+ years of experience working in the Electric Vehicle (EV) charging 
industry. Prior to joining Ava, Penny worked at Amazon as Sr. Program Manager for 
the deployment of Level 2 and Level 3 EV chargers at scale for Amazon’s fleet of 
electric delivery vans. Penny also spent 4 years working at Rivian Automotive as Sr. 
Analyst for Rivan’s Level 3 DC Fast Charging Network. Before Rivian, Penny worked at 
ChargePoint, Inc. designing and executing EV charging deployment programs for 
Commercial Real Estate properties and Multifamily communities. 
 
Penny has a Master’s degree in Business Administration (MBA) from Western 
Governor’s University, and a B.A in Humanities and Liberal Arts from California State 
University, Fullerton. She is Project Management Professional (PMP®) certified, and 
LEED AP BD+C certified from US Green Building Council. 
 
Brendan Abatecola 
Brendan Joined Ava on August 11th, 2025, as Project Manager, Infrastructure Delivery. He will 
be supporting the Local Development team by managing delivery and execution of the Critical 
Municipal Facilities (CMF) solar + storage portfolio. 
 
Prior to Ava, Brendan worked as a Project Manager at Prime Electric, where he managed a 
portfolio of commercial solar PV + BESS projects as well as helped to develop the renewable 
energy group’s engineering team. Before that Brendan was a Project engineer at Sprig Electric 
where he worked on PV+BESS design and drafting as well as assisted the Project Management 
team with project execution. Brendan has over 7 years of experience in the development and 
construction of solar PV + BESS projects including experience with financial payback analysis, 
PV system/production modeling, and electrical design. Brendan holds a B.A in environmental 
studies from the University of California, Santa Barbara as well as a professional certification for 
Energy Innovation and Emerging Technologies from the Stanford School of Engineering. 
 
Thomas Roccanova – PR Contracts Manager (July 10, 2025) 
Thomas Roccanova joined Ava in July 2025 as a Power Resources Contracts Manager. In this 
role, he supports Ava’s customer programs by managing contract administration for distributed 
energy resources, load modification programs, vehicle charging, and demand response 
products. He also develops strategy and leads processes to oversee contracts and financial 
settlements. 
 
Before joining Ava, Thomas spent 2.5 years advancing fleet electrification projects with 
corporate customers at Revolv. Prior to Revolv, he spent 8 years at SunPower/Total Energies, 
originating and developing commercial-scale solar and energy storage projects. 
 
Thomas holds a bachelor’s degree in Environmental Economics and Policy from the University 
of California, Berkeley. 



CAC Chair Report – 9/17/25 

1) Concern about the CAC Minutes (the action versus the additional details is helpful 
in refreshing individuals in the comments and context for the previous minutes). 

Reference original versus action-oriented minutes 

2) Public comments and recommended actions by the CAC for the Board on the 
Customer Programs Strategic Roadmap 
 

Action: 

1) Include selected Board and CAC members in the review and selection of the 
consultant in the RFP process. 
 

2) Ask board to require the public engagement be geographically (spread out over 
Ava territory including Stockton, Tri-Valley, South County, and North County) and 
virtually accessible. 
 

3) Require public engagement be early in the RFPs tasks (early timing) of market 
assessments, program concepts and program metrics) --- early consulting of it. 
 

4) Undertake an additional roadmap process, with early meaningful community 
engagement, to include; a) the entirety of Ava’s operations and b) strategic plans 
to address regulatory, legislative, market, and technological opportunities; as 
well as risks to Ava Community Energy. (Tabled to a future agenda)  

 
 

3) Rate Stabilization Fund Policy (approved) & Allocation of Budget Surplus (CAC 
recommended action to share further during the item) 
 
Action:  
 
$107m: 10% or $90m (85% RSF) + $10.7 (10% CARE/FERA customer credits) + 
$5.35 (5% community innovation grants via foundations or internal efforts). 

 

   

 



Staff Report Item 10 

 
 

Staff Report Item 10 
 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority Board of Directors 

From: Russell Mills, CFO 

Subject: Rate Stabilization Fund Policy 

Date: September 17, 2025 

 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary/Recommendation 
Adopt a resolution renaming the existing GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund as the Rate 
Stabilization Fund (RSF) and approving a Rate Stabilization Fund Policy.  
 
Financial Impact  
Renaming the GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund and approving RSF Policy will have 
no material impact on Ava’s current fiscal year approved budget, net position, or 
financial operations.  
 
Analysis and Context  
Ava currently maintains a GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund (the “Fund”). This Fund 
was established by a resolution from the Board of Directors (the “Board”) in September 
of 2020—resolution R-2020-26. This resolution allowed the accrual and deferral of 
excess revenue, identified as budget surplus revenues, to be recognized in successive 
periods to offset uncontrolled cost variations and preserve positive net position for Ava. 
The balance of the Fund is accounted separately from all other Ava funds, and the 
mechanisms of accounting are governed under the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB). 
 
The benefits of having the Fund are important for Ava and its customers. The Fund 
stabilizes rates and protects the value proposition, among other things. Counterparties 



Staff Report Item 10 

also view it as a credit positive which helps Ava receive more favorable terms and 
covenants with contracts and margin allowances. The Fund is an integral part of Ava’s 
liquidity resources that maintains our ability to operate and supports our “A” credit 
rating.  
 
Ava’s current levels of liquidity utilization are represented as a waterfall from available 
funds: 
 

1. Working Capital—Operational cash flow retained for expected business cycle 
liquidity needs 

2. Budget Stabilization Fund—Deferred revenues available for short-term budget 
cycle liquidity challenges, or for other financial matters necessary for maintaining 
budget stability year-to-year  

3. Credit Facility—Posting letters of credit to retain working capital and only drawn if 
necessary for operating maintenance 

4. Reserve Funds—Financial strength base layer set aside and used only in case of 
extremely dire emergencies (“Disaster/Earthquake”) and with Board approval  

 
At the July Board meeting, staff presented details from a recent survey of reserve 
policies from 22 similar agencies. The goals of the survey were to discover how many 
maintained rate stabilization funds, how those funds integrated with reserve policies, 
comparative RSF sizes, contribution and utilization practices, and other relevant best 
practices.  
 
The following is a summary of the results: 

• Six held separate RSF policies. Four set RSF sizes as a percentage of operating 
& maintenance costs at an average of 20%. The other two set RSF sizes at 20% 
of expected gross revenues 

• Nine mentioned using Operating Reserves for rate stability but did not mention 
having a distinctly separate RSF 

• An additional six mentioned allowing use of reserves in general for stabilizing 
rates 

• Eight of those that mentioned using reserves for stabilizing rates allowed CEO 
discretion for utilization, four required board approval, and the remaining three 
did not specify 

• One of those that allowed CEO discretion granted unlimited use of reserves to 
maintain the rate threshold to PG&E to the CEO as long as days cash on hand 
did not fall below 90 days. 

 
Staff Recommendations 



Staff Report Item 10 

To be consistent with industry usage and convention, staff’s first recommendation is 
formally renaming the GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund to the Rate Stabilization 
Fund (RSF).  
 
Whereas previously, the Board had approved a resolution establishing a rate 
stabilization mechanism, no formal policy was specifically outlined. Staff’s second 
recommendation is for the Board to approve a formal Rate Stabilization Policy. The 
original resolution gave guidance for management contributions to the RSF. This new 
policy gives specific management guidance for utilization of the RSF, including the 
establishment of an RSF target of 20% of operating expenses, consistent with industry 
standards. 
 
Approving these recommendations will make Ava consistent with best industry 
practices, improve upon how rate stabilization practices complement with other financial 
liquidity resources (working capital, line of credit, and reserves), and allow greater 
flexibility for Ava to maintain its value proposition to customers when encountering short 
term financial stresses. 
 
Committee Recommendation 
This item was brought forth to the Full Board on July 16, 2025 and to the Finance, 
Administrative, and Procurement Subcommittee on September 8, 2025, with the 
recommendation to approve renaming the Budget Stabilization Fund to the Rate 
Stabilization Fund and approve the Rate Stabilization Fund Policy as presented.  
 
Attachments 

A. Resolution Adopting a Rate Stabilization Fund and Policy 
B. Rate Stabilization Fund Policy 
C. Rate Stabilization Fund Policy PPT 



Attachment Staff Report Item 10A 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2025-xx 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY ADOPTING A RATE STABILIZATION FUND 
AND POLICY 

 

 WHEREAS The Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, Under the Joint 
Exercise of Power Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin 
County, were added as members of Ava and parties to the JPA in March of 2020. The 
city of Stockton, located in San Joaquin County was added as a member of Ava and 
party to the JPA in September of 2022. The city of Lathrop, located in San Joaquin 
County, was added as a member to Ava and party to the JPA in October of 2023. On 
October 24, 2023, the Authority legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy 
Authority, where it had previously used the name East Bay Community Energy 
Authority since its inception. 

 WHEREAS Ava currently maintains a GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund (the 
“Fund”) established by resolution R-2020-26, which allows for the accrual and 
deferral of excess revenue, identified as budget surplus revenues, to be recognized in 
successive periods to offset uncontrolled cost variations and preserve positive net 
position for Ava by mechanisms of accounting governed under the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 

 WHEREAS the Fund is an integral part of Ava’s waterfall of liquidity resources 
and is used for short-term budget cycle liquidity challenges and other financial 
matters necessary for maintaining rate stability year-to-year for Ava’s customers. 

 WHEREAS similar agencies refer to funds that provide a similar rate stability 
mechanism as a Rate Stabilization Fund (RSF). 

 WHEREAS similar agencies that maintain a RSF have specific policies 
established that give guidance for management of the RSF.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY 
AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund is hereby renamed the Rate 
Stabilization Fund (RSF).    

Section 2. The Rate Stabilization Fund Policy attached to the staff report 
associated with this Resolution, is hereby approved. 



Attachment Staff Report Item 10A 

 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 17th day of September, 2025. 

 

     

             

     Betsy Andersen, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 



Attachment Staff Report Item 10B 

 
RATE STABILIZATION FUND POLICY  

  
 

Policy Number:   XX 
Approval Date:  9/17/2025 
Agenda Item:  {To be added by Clerk} 
Approved by Resolution:  {To be added by Clerk} 

 
 
PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this Policy is to set guidelines for the processes for funding, utilizing, and 
managing the Rate Stabilization Fund (RSF) as a source of liquidity to manage financial and 
operational risk. 
 
POLICY OBJECTIVES: 
The establishment of the RSF will allow Ava to defer revenue in years when fiscal results are 
strong and to apply deferred revenue in years when financial results are negatively impacted by 
uncontrollable events. The RSF will provide Ava with a mechanism to protect customers from 
risks related to energy market volatility, extreme events, and regulatory changes, as well as 
maintain financial covenants, achieve annual budget objectives, and other such fiscal matters.  
 
FUNDING MECHANISM: 
Funding the RSF is accounted for under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) rules 
which codify and standardize the accounting management of revenue recognition for public 
agencies. Deferrals of revenue as a transfer to the RSF reduces net revenue recognized on 
budget statements, and net position in that period of deferral, by the same amount.  
 
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has authorized the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the 
Treasurer, or their designee, to defer revenue to the RSF from time to time such amount as may 
be determined as appropriate from any source designated as surplus in accordance with the 
budget previously approved by the Board, as established by resolution R-2020-26.  
 
UTILIZATION MECHANISM: 
Recognition of contributions to the RSF is also governed by GASB rules. Recognition of revenues 
as a transfer from the RSF increases net revenues recognized on budget statements, and net 
position in that period of recognition, by the same amount.  
 
The Board has authorized the CEO and the Treasurer, or their designee, to utilize deferred 
revenues from the RSF from time to time in such amounts as necessary to stabilize rates, satisfy 
financial covenants, achieve budget objectives, and to implement direction provided by the 
Board.   
 
REPORTING: 



Attachment Staff Report Item 10B 

The RSF balance is recorded on Ava’s Statement of Net Position. Transfers to and from the RSF 
are recorded in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. Both 
statements are presented quarterly, and audited annually, in Ava’s financial statements.  
 
TARGET FUND BALANCE: 
The RSF balance target is 20% of operating expenses.  
 
RSF HOLDINGS AND INVESTMENTS: 
RSF balances are not required to be held in a separate account and may be commingled with 
other funds held by Ava for investment purposes but will be accounted for and reported 
separately. All Ava fund balances, including the RSF, are subject to Ava’s Board-approved and 
State Government Code compliant investment policy.  
 
 



Rate Stabilization Fund 
Policy
Board Meeting
Russell Mills|  September 17, 2025

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Introduction & Background

2

• Ava currently maintains a Budget (Rate) Stabilization Fund, established in 2020 by Resolution R-
2020-26
 The Board approved establishing, allocating funds and maintaining a GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund 

(RSF) to provide a contingency available to satisfy financial covenants, stabilize customer rates, fulfill local 
development, among other uses

 To authorize the CEO and Treasurer, or their designee, to make deposits into the fund from any surplus from 
a Board approved budget as appropriate and prudent; Recognition of deposits for necessary financial 
functions are to be approved by the Board

• The fund is intended to create a more stable short-term financial position by deferring revenue in 
years when financial results are strong and be recognized in years when financial results may be 
negatively impacted by uncontrollable events

• The fund has primarily been maintained to allow matching of timing for on-bill credits, the solar & 
storage incentive program, and a one-time allocation towards long-term renewable energy & clean 
energy storage investments

• A formal policy was not created after the resolution was passed. Because of its growing importance, 
staff proposes formalizing the adoption of a Policy and renaming the fund to a "Rate Stabilization 
Fund (RSF)".

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



How Ava Utilizes Rate Stabilization Funds 

3

• Stabilizes Ava's rates charged to customers, helping preserve the value proposition

• Fosters strong financial covenant agreements with counterparties

• Funds are an integral part of Ava’s waterfall of liquidity resources that maintain our ability to 
operate and supports our financial strength and "A" ratings
 Ava also maintains a Reserve Fund, established in 2018 and amended in 2021, and is intended to provide financial 

stability for long-term business sustaining objectives 

 Currently, fund utilization is considered along with other layers of protection to provide mitigation against potential risks 
related to energy market volatility, extreme events and regulatory changes

The waterfall consists of four distinct levels for utilization:
1. Working Capital – Ongoing Operational Cash Flow
2. Rate Stabilization Fund – Smooth out cash flows during challenging budget cycles
3. Credit Facility – Post LOCs to operate and only draw if necessary 
4. Reserve Funds – Financial strength base layer set aside as a "Disaster/Earthquake" fund

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Survey of Comparable RSF Best Practices

In considering the adequacy of Ava’s current authority and funding, 
staff has completed a broad survey of 22 public agencies to 
discover comparable best practices for RSF policies and 
management

The goals of the survey were as follows:

• Discover how many companies have an RSF and how it 
integrates with reserve policies

• Compare RSF fund sizes and triggers for utilization

• Discover best practices for RSF utilization discretion 

4

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Results of the Survey of Comparable Best Practices

Statistics of Respondents:

• 6 (27%) Respondents had a separately outlined Rate Stabilization Fund Policy

o 4 respondents set RSF levels as a percent of Operating and Maintenance costs

 The average percent of O&M costs was about 20%

o 2 respondents set RSF levels as a percent of expected gross revenues

o Both respondents use 20% of gross revenues

• 9 (41%) Respondents had mentions in the Operating Reserves for rate stability, but did not have a distinctly separate fund or 
policy or Rate Stabilization

• 15 (68%) Respondents talked about using reserves as a tool for rate stability

• Respondents that mentioned using reserves for rate stability had the similar withdrawal restrictions as their operating reserve 
fund policy: 

o 8 agencies allow CEO discretion for utilization of reserves, 4 require board approval, and 3 do not specify.

• 1 respondent specifically granted the CEO unlimited use of reserves to maintain the rate threshold to PG&E, as long as days cash 
on hand did not fall below 90 days.

5

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Policy Adoption Recommendation

6

Recommendation
• Formally establish a "Rate Stabilization Fund Policy (RSF)"

 Renames fund established in 2020 to "Rate Stabilization Fund" from GASB 62-Budget Stabilization

• Authorizes funding and utilization to the CEO and Treasurer consistent with Board
authorization and with similar objectives and uses

• Includes a funding level target
 Target 20% of operating expenses

 Consistent with best practices and complementary to other levels in financial resource waterfall (working
capital, line of credit and reserves)

• The RSF target will be considered with the Reserve Policy target and range when considering
recommendations to the board for allocating funds into either account.

 May lead staff to evaluate modifications to the reserve policy in the future

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Questions and Discussion?

7

Attachment Staff Report Item 10C



Staff Report Item 11 

 
 

Staff Report Item 11 

 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority Board of Directors 

From: Russell Mills, CFO 

Subject: Allocation of Net Revenues to the Rate Stabilization Fund  

Date: September 17, 2025 

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

Summary/Recommendation 

Adopt a resolution contributing 100% of the net revenue surplus from Fiscal Year 2024-2025 to 

the Rate Stabilization Fund (RSF). 

 
Financial Impact  

The contribution of net revenues to the RSF will have no material impact on Ava’s 

current fiscal year approved budget, net position, or financial operations. The 

contribution will have an impact on Fiscal Year 2024-25 net revenues and the waterfall 

allocation of net revenues as revenues are deferred into the RSF for recognition in a 

future year. Separate action has been taken by the Ava Board to utilize the RSF for 

potential Fiscal Year 2025-26 financial needs with resolution R-2025-23. 

 

Analysis and Context  

The previous item was brought forth to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) in today’s 

meeting whereby the RSF was established in name and in policy by a resolution. 

Please refer to this item for further details on the history and mechanisms for 

management, including funding target of 20% of operating expenses in the RSF.  

 

The present balance of the fund is approximately $57.2MM with three Board approved 

recognitions pending against the balance: 

 



Staff Report Item 11 

1. Resolution R-2025-23 authorized the recognition of up to $35.3MM to be used to 

balance the Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget, with about $3.2MM being a required 

contribution from the 2024-25 fiscal year 

2. Resolution R-2024-26 recognizes about $10.5MM in the 2027 calendar year for 

long-term contract renewable energy premium 

3. Resolution R-2024-2 authorized an amount from audited net revenues from 

Fiscal Year 2023-2024 to be allocated to future solar and storage incentives 

equaling about $15MM 

 

 

The full record of recognition and utilization by fiscal year (FY) is presented in the table 

below. 

 
 

 

 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Waterfall of Budget Net Revenues 



Staff Report Item 11 

With resolution R-2024-42, the Board approved the 2024-2025 fiscal year (FY) budget 

and a methodology of distribution of any net revenues—aka “the Waterfall”. This 

Waterfall was approved as follows: 

1. The first $50MM is to be applied to Ava’s reserve funds 

2. For any additional surplus, the allocations will be: 

a. $25 CARE/FERA customer on-bill credits 

b. $25MM to be divided 60/40 to customer on-bill credits and solar storage 

incentives, respectively 

c. Any surplus beyond would be added to reserve funds 

 

Recent best estimates of forecasted surplus revenue from FY 2024-2025 is about 

$107MM. Based on this strong performance staff recommends allocating the full 

amount to the RSF. This would increase the RSF balance to about $129.4MM, or about 

14.4% of current FY operating expenses. This will allow approximately $104MM to be 

available for rate stabilization for the 2026-2027 fiscal year net of other pre-approved 

RSF utilizations. Note that future operating expenses are anticipated to increase due to 

expansion to Saj Joaquin County. 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Allocation of the full surplus to the RSF will serve Ava customers by working to preserve 

Ava’s value proposition against upcoming headwinds. Such headwinds include 

uncertainty in areas such as PCIA reform, energy markets volatility, and federal policy 

uncertainty.  

 

Being sensitive to the various interest Ava provides to the community it serves, 

additional allocation scenarios were requested by the Board. The following table 

outlines a few alternative amended Waterfall scenarios.  

 



Staff Report Item 11 

 
 

 

Approval of staff recommendation of 100% allocation of net revenues to the RSF would 

amend the Waterfall to meet current balance requirements and set aside a material 

amount of revenues to protect Ava’s value proposition to customers.  

 

Committee Recommendation 

This item was brought forth to the Full Board on July 16, 2025 and to the Finance, 

Administrative, and Procurement Subcommittee on September 8, 2025, with the 

recommendation of approving an allocation to the RSF.  

 
Attachments 

A. Resolution to Approve the Allocation of Net Revenues to the Rate Stabilization 
Fund 

B. Allocation of Surplus PPT 

Scenario Contribution* Balance Pct OpEx**

Budget Waterfall As Approved

Reserves 77,851,000      408,724,400 45.4%

Solar & Storage Incentives 10,000,000      24,963,130    

Customer Credits 19,258,000      19,258,000    

Rate Stabilization Fund*** -                     (3,197,274)    -0.4%

100% Allocation to RSF

Reserves -                     330,873,400 36.8%

Rate Stabilization Fund 107,109,000   103,911,726 11.6%

90% RSF/10% Reserves

Reserves 10,710,900      341,584,300 38.0%

Rate Stabilization Fund 96,398,100      93,200,826    10.4%

90% RSF/10% Customer Credits

Customer Credits 10,710,900      10,710,900    

Rate Stabilization Fund 96,398,100      93,200,826    10.4%

80% RSF/20% Reserves

Reserves 21,421,800      352,295,200 39.2%

Rate Stabilization Fund 85,687,200      82,489,926    9.2%

* Contributions to Reserves and RSF is based on 6/30/2025 estimates

** Operating Expenses for FY 2025-26

*** Balance of RSF net of all outstanding, currently approved utilizations



Attachment Staff Report Item 11A 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2025-xx 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY APPROVING AN ALLOCATION OF NET 
REVENUES TO THE RATE STABILIZATION FUND 

 

 WHEREAS Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, under the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin 
County, were added as members of Ava and parties to the Joint Powers Agreement 
(“JPA”) in March of 2020. The city of Stockton was added as a member to Ava in 
September of 2022. The city of Lathrop was added as a member to Ava in October of 
2023. San Joaquin County was added as a member to Ava in July 2024. On October 24, 
2023, Ava legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy Authority, where it had 
previously used the name East Bay Community Energy Authority since its inception.  

 WHEREAS Ava currently maintains a Rate Stabilization Fund (RSF), which allows 
for the accrual and deferral of excess revenue, identified as budget surplus revenues, 
to be recognized in successive periods to offset uncontrolled cost variations and 
preserve positive net position for Ava by mechanisms of accounting governed under 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 

 WHEREAS the RSF is an integral part of Ava’s waterfall of liquidity resources 
and is used for short-term budget cycle liquidity challenges and other financial 
matters necessary for maintaining budget stability year-to-year. 

 WHEREAS the 2025-26 fiscal year (FY) budget approved by the Board of 
Directors (the “Board”) requires amending the allocation of net revenues from FY 
2024-25 to allow for a contribution to meet approved expenses as set forth by 
resolution R-2025-23. 

  WHEREAS the FY 2024-25 net revenues are forecasted to be near $107 million.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY 
AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The allocation of surplus revenues from the 2024-2025 fiscal year 
budget, originally set forth by resolution R-2024-42, is hereby amended to allow 100% 
of the surplus net revenues of the 2024-2025 fiscal year budget actuals as determined 
by the annual audit to be allocated to the RSF. 

 



Attachment Staff Report Item 11A 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 17th day of September, 2025. 

 

     

             

     Betsy Andersen, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 



Allocation of Budget 
Surplus
Board Meeting

Russell Mills|  September 17, 2025

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Current Status of Deferred Revenue Allocations

2

• Ava established a "GASB 62 Budget Stabilization Fund" in 2020 by Resolution R-2020-26 that functions 
as a Rate Stabilization Fund (the “Fund”)

• The prior board item sought to formalize a Policy Document and a renaming to the Rate Stabilization 
Fund (RSF)

• The current balance of the Fund is approximately $57.6MM 

▪ Up to $35.3MM may be utilized to balance the current fiscal year budget by resolution R-2025-23

▪ $10.5MM approved for recognition in 2027 for renewable energy as deemed by resolution R-2023-58

▪ $15MM approved for recognition at a later date for solar + storage incentives by resolution R-2024-26

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Ava Rate Stabilization Fund Record of Utilization

3

• The current balance is approximately 
$57.6MM 

• The Rate Stabilization Fund is intended to be 
used to balance surplus and deficit reflecting 
over and under-collection year to year to 
stabilize customer rates

• Currently the Fund requires a $3.2MM 
contribution from the forecasted surplus for 
2024-25 to balance with obligations

• Based on the strong forecasted surplus of 
>$107MM, staff proposes a recommendation 
to allocate all to the Fund

• Allocating the full surplus would increase 
available funds in the Rate Stabilization Fund 
to $129.4MM at end of the current fiscal year

FY Contribution Recognition Balance Purpose

2020 12,680,000    -                 12,680,000    
R-2020-26 esblishes method to stabilize Local 
Development balance until Fund is established

2021 15,814,000    12,680,000  15,814,000    

R-2020-26 recognizes LD balance with fund 
establishment via Budget. Contributed to PCIA 
PUBA balance through December 2023 as 
allocated by Audit

2022 -                   -                 15,814,000    No Activity

2023 37,200,000    -                 53,014,000    

R-2023-37 contributes ~$10.5MM each for on-bill 
credits and PPA premium plus $16.2MM for rate 
stabilization as allocated by audit

2024 37,407,824    10,504,837  79,916,987    

R-2024-2 contributes for on-bill credits and NBT 
from FY 23-24 surplus revenue as allocated by 
audit . R-2023-58 recognizes on-bill credits from 
FY 2023 contribution

2025 3,197,274      22,319,294  60,794,967    

Bold contribution is minimum contribution to 
meet FY 2026 approved recognition by R-2025-
23. R-2024-73 recognizes net on-bill credits from 
previous FY contribution

2026 -                   35,327,000  25,467,967    
Bold recognition is Board approved for 
balancing FY 2025-26 budget by R-2025-23

2027 -                   10,504,837  14,963,130    
R-2024-26 recognize PPA premium contribution 
from 2023

2027 -                   14,963,130  -                   
Possible recognition of NBT incentives 
contributed in FY 2024 by R-2024-2

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Utilization of Ava's Rate Stabilization Fund 

4

• Stabilizes Ava's rates charged to customers, helping preserve the value proposition

• Fosters strong financial covenant agreements with counterparties

• Funds are an integral part of Ava’s waterfall of liquidity resources that maintain our 
ability to operate and supports our financial strength and "A" ratings

The waterfall consists of four distinct levels for utilization:
1. Working Capital – Ongoing Operational Cash Flow
2. Rate Stabilization Fund – Smooth out cash flows during challenging budget cycles
3. Credit Facility – Post LOCs to operate and only draw if necessary 
4. Reserve Funds – Financial strength base layer set aside as a "Disaster/Earthquake" fund

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Recommended Allocation of Budget Surplus

5

Staff forecasts a Fiscal Year 2024-25 
surplus of $107 million 

Staff recommends allocating 100% of 
the FY2024-25 Surplus to the Rate 
Stabilization Fund

• Note that the % OpEx in anticipated to 
decrease in the following fiscal year due to 
expansion to San Joaquin County in 2026

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Questions and Discussion?

6

Attachment Staff Report Item 11B



Staff Report Item 12 

 
 

Staff Report Item 12 

 

To: Ava Community Energy Authority 

From: Russell Mills, SVP and CFO 

Subject: New Line of Credit Agreement Approval 

Date: September 17, 2025 

 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
Recommendation  
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief Executive Officer to finalize and execute a 
Revolving Credit Agreement with PNC Bank.  
  
Background and Discussion   
Currently Ava maintains a $200MM credit facility with US Bank.  This current facility 
was signed into agreement on October 27, 2022, after Board approval on September 21, 
2022, and is a three-year agreement that expires October 27, 2025.   
  
This facility is a vital part of Ava’s financial strength, serving as a source of liquidity, 
supporting our “A” credit rating from Standard & Poor’s (S&P), and providing credit 
support for operating as a Load Serving Entity (LSE) in California.  
  
On May 19, 2025, Ava issued a request for proposals (RFP) to provide revolving credit 
agreement services, with proposals due June 10, 2025.  Evaluation of responses focused 
primarily on pricing and terms and conditions, such as commitment size, covenant 
restrictions, additional Ava debt considerations, and termination provisions. 
Considerations beyond cost and terms used in scoring were organizational experience 
with CCA’s and credit facilities, Environmental and Social Governance (ESG) goals, 
adherence to RFP details, location of operations, and adherence to Ava Procurement 
Preferences.   
 



Staff Report Item 12 

Through this process Ava Staff has selected PNC Bank as the proposer that has delivered 
the most favorable terms, costs and points for the additional considerations in the 
scoring process.  
  
Staff is finalizing a three-year agreement sized to $300MM, which can be used as either 
LOCs or drawn upon for cash liquidity. Staff does not expect the need to utilize the full 
amount of the facility, but in considering the current operating environment, geo-
political influences on costs, and the high volatility we are seeing in market prices, 
having a large enough facility in place to cover short-term working capital needs is a 
relatively low cost means of maintaining liquidity without using Ava’s 
reserves.  Maintaining adequate and available sources of liquidity for working capital is 
viewed favorably with credit rating agencies and counterparties that extend operating 
credit, and is essential to maintaining our “A” rating from S&P.    
  
The terms and conditions associated with the agreement are as follows, and examples 
are provided in the Fiscal Impact section of this memorandum:  
 

• The term rate for the bank to hold the agreement available to us is the 
Undrawn Fee and is 0.20% of any undrawn or unused balance  
• The term rate for LOC issuances is the Applicable Margin of 0.45%  
• The term rate for cash borrowings is the Applicable Margin plus the 
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR), which is 4.70% as of September 1, 
2025.    
• A default from Ava results in a term out loan of PNC Prime Rate +3.0%.    
• The terms also indicate increases in both the Undrawn Fee and Applicable 
Margin for any downgrade to Ava’s S&P “A” rating.   
• There is a liquidity requirement in the new agreement instead of a debt 
service coverage covenant, providing for utilization dependent on assets 
instead of results of operations and cash flows. 
• Ava now has an ability to issue Parity debt without consent, though it must 
meet debt service coverage tests after bond issuance to maintain access to 
the facility. 

  
While the terms stated above are negotiated as final, there are some additional aspects 
of the agreement still under finalization. These aspects are not material to the financial 
terms but are essential to finalizing for execution of the Agreement, facility 
maintenance, and clarifications on definitions.  Although very close to finalization, 
Staff will require authority to finalize these remaining details and execute.    
  
Fiscal Impact   
Terms and conditions of the proposed facility are provided in the attached Fee 
Agreement and Draft Credit Agreement. Additionally, the following good faith 
estimates have been provided by PFM Financial Advisors LLC in accordance with 
California Government Code Section 5852.1, requiring such presentation in a meeting 
open to the public.  
  



Staff Report Item 12 

A. Interest cost per annum:  
a. Undrawn fee: 0.20% for undrawn or unissued amounts of the 
facility  
b. LOCs: 1.25% for issued LOCs (without draws made by the LOC 
holder)  
c. Cash Draws: SOFR + 0.45% for cash draws and LOC draws not 
reimbursed on the same day  

B. Finance charges to third parties: $95,000 for legal, consulting, and upfront 
fees  
C. Proceeds: Maximum gross proceeds are $300,000,000 for a fully utilized 
facility. Because this is a revolving credit facility, this amount may be lower 
and fluctuate at any time up to the maximum of $300,000,000.  
D. Total Interest Payment amount with following assumptions: $42,956,807  

a. Maximum draw of $300,000,000  
b. Full facility term length of 3 years  
c. SOFR at 9/8/2022 rate of 4.70%  
d. Applicable Margin rates for EBCE maintaining “A” rating  

E. If no cash draws are made and no LOCs are issued, the maximum interest 
payments for the full term of the facility over three years would be 
$1,826,667.  This is $326,667 more than our current facility with US Bank 
because of the higher capacity  
F. If as much as $50MM is issued as LOCs, and no cash is drawn, then the total 
maximum interest payment for the full term of the facility over three years 
would be $3,425,000.   

  
  
Committee Recommendation  
  
This has been presented at the Finance, Administrative, and Procurement Committee 
as an informational item on September 8, 2025.  
  
Attachments  
  

A. Resolution authorizing the CEO to finalize and execute the Resolving 
Credit Agreement 
B. Current draft of Revolving Credit Agreement  
C. Current draft of Fee Agreement  
D. Presentation 
 

 



 4127-3992-6879.4 

RESOLUTION NO.  R-2025-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY 

AUTHORITY APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 

OF A REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH PNC BANK, NATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION AND A PROMISSORY NOTE AND FEE AGREEMENT RELATING 

THERETO AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING OTHER ACTIONS IN 

CONNECTION THEREWITH 

WHEREAS, Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a community 

choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, under the Joint Exercise of Powers 

Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq. (the “Act”), and a Joint Powers Agreement 

(the “Agreement”), as amended, currently among the Counties of Alameda and San Joaquin and 

the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, Hayward, Lathrop, Livermore, 

Newark, Oakland, Piedmont, Pleasanton, San Leandro, Stockton, Tracy and Union City; and 

WHEREAS, Ava is authorized by the Act and the Agreement to issue revenue bonds and 

other forms of indebtedness and to incur debts, liabilities and other obligations, including but not 

limited to loans from private lending sources; and 

WHEREAS, Ava is currently a party to a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Existing 

Agreement”) with U.S. Bank National Association (as successor to MUFG Union Bank, N.A.), 

which is scheduled to expire on October 27, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, Ava sent its Request for Proposals for Ava Community Energy Authority 

Revolving Credit Agreement Services to qualified lenders to replace the Existing Agreement and 

has selected PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”) as having the response best addressing 

Ava’s needs to replace the Existing Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented at this meeting a proposed form of Revolving Credit 

Agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) and a proposed form of Fee Agreement (the “Fee 

Agreement”) to be entered into by Ava and PNC; and 

WHEREAS, attached to the Revolving Credit Agreement as Exhibit C is a form of 

promissory note (the “Note”) to be executed by Ava to evidence the unpaid principal amount from 

time to time of any loans made by PNC to Ava under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the 

interest thereon; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with California Government Code section 5852.1, Ava has 

obtained from PFM Financial Advisors LLC certain required good faith estimates, and such 

estimates have been disclosed at this meeting in the Staff Report accompanying this Resolution; 

and 

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the 

State of California to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in 

connection with the entry into the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the Note 

authorized hereby do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, form 

and manner as required by law, and the Board of Directors is now duly authorized and empowered, 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12A



 4127-3992-6879.4 

pursuant to each and every requirement of law, to approve and authorize the execution and delivery 

of the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the Note for the purposes, in the 

manner and upon the terms provided; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 

ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) hereby specifically finds and declares 

that the statements, findings and determinations of Ava set forth above are true and correct, and 

the Board hereby authorizes entry into the Revolving Credit Agreement and the Fee Agreement 

and the execution and delivery of the Note, permitting borrowings thereunder not to exceed 

$300,000,000 outstanding at any time and for an initial borrowing term not to exceed three 

(3) years from the date of execution and delivery of the Revolving Credit Agreement for the

purposes set forth in the Revolving Credit Agreement.

Section 2. The proposed forms of the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Fee Agreement 

and the Note presented to this meeting and on file with the Secretary are hereby approved, and the 

Chief Executive Officer or the designee thereof (each, an “Authorized Representative”) is hereby 

authorized and directed, for and in the name and on behalf of Ava, to execute and deliver to PNC 

the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the Note in substantially said forms, with 

such changes thereto as the Authorized Representative, after consultation with counsel to Ava, 

may require or approve, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery 

thereof. 

Section 3. The Board hereby approves each Authorized Representative, acting singly, 

to borrow and authorize advances or the issuance of letters of credit from time to time under the 

Revolving Credit Agreement in such amounts as in their judgment should be borrowed, to provide 

security for the obligations of Ava under the Revolving Credit Agreement, including, without 

limitation, a pledge of Ava’s Net Revenues (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement), and 

to execute and deliver any requests or other documents and agreements as such Authorized 

Representative may, in her or his discretion, deem reasonably necessary or proper in order to carry 

into effect the provisions of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

Section 4. The Authorized Representatives and the Secretary of the Board, and any 

other officers, employees and agents of Ava, are hereby authorized and directed, jointly and 

severally, for and in the name and on behalf of Ava, to execute and deliver any and all documents, 

certificates, representations, and agreements as they, with the advice of counsel to Ava, shall 

approve, and to do any and all things and take any and all actions that may be necessary or 

advisable, in their discretion, to effectuate the actions that the Board has approved in this 

Resolution. 

Section 5. All actions heretofore taken by the officers, employees and agents of the 

Board or Ava with respect to the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the Note 

are hereby ratified, confirmed, and approved. 

Section 6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12A



 4127-3992-6879.4 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED at a regular meeting of the Ava Board of Directors on this 17th day 

of September, 2025. 

_____________________________________  

Betsy Andersen, Chair 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________  

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12A



CHAPMAN DRAFT 9.10.25 

12B. Item 12B - Revolving Credit Agreement (Ava, 2025) 4914-2857-3781 v7[60] 

4482170 

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

Dated as of September [__], 2025 

by and between 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY, 

as Borrower 

and 

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 

as Lender 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION HEADING PAGE 

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................1 

Section 1.1. Definitions..............................................................................................1 
Section 1.2. Terms Generally...................................................................................18 
Section 1.3. Accounting Terms; GAAP ...................................................................18 
Section 1.4. Rates .....................................................................................................19 

ARTICLE 2 THE CREDITS ..............................................................................................19 

Section 2.1. Commitments .......................................................................................19 
Section 2.2. Loans and Borrowings .........................................................................19 
Section 2.3. Requests for Revolving Borrowings ....................................................19 
Section 2.4. Interest Elections ..................................................................................20 
Section 2.5. Termination and Reduction of Commitment .......................................20 
Section 2.6. Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt ..............................................20 
Section 2.7. Prepayment of Loans ...........................................................................21 
Section 2.8. Fees ......................................................................................................21 
Section 2.9. Interest..................................................................................................21 
Section 2.10. Increased Costs ....................................................................................22 
Section 2.11. Payments Free of Taxes .......................................................................23 
Section 2.12. Payments Generally .............................................................................24 
Section 2.13. Mitigation Obligation...........................................................................24 
Section 2.14. [Reserved] ............................................................................................25 
Section 2.15. Pledge; Security of Obligations ...........................................................25 
Section 2.16. Term Loan ............................................................................................25 
Section 2.17. Letters of Credit ...................................................................................26 
Section 2.18. Inability to Determine Rates; Illegality ................................................29 
Section 2.19. Benchmark Replacement Setting .........................................................29 
Section 2.20. Compensation for Losses .....................................................................34 

ARTICLE 3 CONDITIONS ................................................................................................34 

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.................................................34 
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to each Credit Event .........................................36 

ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ........................................................36 

Section 4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc ....................................................................36 
Section 4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc ............................................37 
Section 4.3. Binding Obligations .............................................................................37 
Section 4.4. Governmental Consent or Approval ....................................................37 
Section 4.5. Absence of Material Litigation ............................................................37 
Section 4.6. Financial Condition ..............................................................................37 
Section 4.7. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties................................38 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-ii- 

Section 4.8. Accuracy and Completeness of Information ........................................38 
Section 4.9. No Default ............................................................................................38 
Section 4.10. No Proposed Legal Changes ................................................................38 
Section 4.11. Compliance with Laws, Etc .................................................................38 
Section 4.12. Environmental Matters.........................................................................39 
Section 4.13. Regulation U ........................................................................................39 
Section 4.14. Liens .....................................................................................................39 
Section 4.15. Sovereign Immunity.............................................................................39 
Section 4.16. Usury ....................................................................................................39 
Section 4.17. Insurance ..............................................................................................39 
Section 4.18. ERISA ..................................................................................................39 
Section 4.19. Sanctions Concerns, International Trade Laws and Anti-Corruption 

Laws .....................................................................................................39 
Section 4.20. Debt of Borrower .................................................................................40 

ARTICLE 5 COVENANTS ................................................................................................40 

Section 5.1. Affirmative Covenants .........................................................................40 
Section 5.2. Negative Covenants .............................................................................46 

ARTICLE 6 DEFAULTS ...................................................................................................51 

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies ..........................................................51 
Section 6.2. Remedies ..............................................................................................53 

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................54 

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc ..................................................................54 
Section 7.2. Notices .................................................................................................54 
Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns ..................................55 
Section 7.4. Liability of Lender; Indemnification ...................................................55 
Section 7.5. Expenses ..............................................................................................56 
Section 7.6. No Waiver; Conflict .............................................................................57 
Section 7.7. Modification, Amendment Waiver, Etc ...............................................57 
Section 7.8. Dealings ...............................................................................................57 
Section 7.9. Severability ..........................................................................................57 
Section 7.10. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution ..........57 
Section 7.11. Table of Contents; Headings ................................................................59 
Section 7.12. Entire Agreement .................................................................................59 
Section 7.13. Governing Law Waiver of Jury Trial...................................................59 
Section 7.14. USA PATRIOT Act .............................................................................60 
Section 7.15. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank ..................................................60 
Section 7.16. Acknowledgement Regarding Any Supported QFCs ..........................60 
Section 7.17. Arm’s Length Transaction ...................................................................61 

 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-iii- 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A — Form of Compliance Certificate 

Exhibit B — Form of Borrowing Request 

Exhibit C — Form of Promissory Note   

Exhibit D — Account Control Agreement  

Exhibit E — Intercreditor Agreement  

Exhibit F — Security Agreement  

 

 

 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

This REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of September [__], 2025 (together with all 

amendments and supplements hereafter, this “Agreement”) is by and between AVA COMMUNITY 

ENERGY AUTHORITY, a public agency formed under the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers 

Act of the State of California, Government Code Section 6500 et. Seq. (together with its successors 

and assigns, “Borrower” or “AVA”), and PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (together with its 

successors and permitted assigns, the “Lender”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, as of the Closing Date, the Members of the Borrower consist of [(i) County of 

Alameda, (ii) City of Albany, (iii) City of Berkeley, (iv) City of Dublin, (v) City of Emeryville, 

(vi) City of Fremont, (vii) City of Hayward, (viii) City of Livermore, (ix) City of Newark, (x) City 

of Oakland, (xi) City of Piedmont, (xii) City of Pleasanton, (xiii) City of San Leandro, (xiv) City 

of Tracy, (xv) City of Stockton, and (xvi) City of Union City.]1 

WHEREAS, Borrower has requested, and Lender has agreed to make available to Borrower, 

a revolving credit facility upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein 

contained, Borrower and Lender agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 Section 1.1. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement: 

[“1M SOFR” means, for each day, the rate per annum determined by the Lender (rounded 

upwards, at the Lender’s discretion, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) equal to the Term SOFR 

Reference Rate for such day for a one (1) month period, as published by the Term SOFR 

Administrator; provided, that if 1M SOFR, determined as provided above, would be less than the 

SOFR Floor, then 1M SOFR shall be deemed to be the SOFR Floor.  Such rate of interest will be 

adjusted automatically as of each Business Day based on changes in 1M SOFR without notice to 

the Borrower.] 

[“Account Control Agreement” means the Account Control Agreement, attached hereto as 

Exhibit D, as amended and supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof, by and among 

(i) River City Bank, as account bank, (ii) AVA and (iii) River City Bank, in its capacity as 

collateral agent.]2 

 
1 To be confirmed. 

2  To be confirmed 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-2- 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or 

indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common 

Control with the Person specified. 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Amortization End Date” means the third (3rd) anniversary of the Maturity Date.  

“Amortization Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(d) hereof. 

“Amortization Payment Date” means (a) the Initial Amortization Payment Date and the 

last Business Day of each March, June, September, and December occurring thereafter which 

occurs prior to the Amortization End Date and (b) the Amortization End Date. 

“Amortization Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(d) hereof. 

“Annual Debt Service” means, with respect to any Debt of the Borrower, as of any date of 

calculation and with respect to any designated fiscal period, the sum of all principal and interest 

(or similar) payments due and payable (or, with respect to future periods, expected to be due and 

payable) on such Debt during the relevant fiscal period; provided, that: 

(a) unless a different subsection of this definition applies for purposes of determining 

maturities or amortization, in determining the amount due in any fiscal period, payment shall be 

assumed to be made in accordance with any amortization schedule established for such Debt, 

including any mandatory sinking account payments, and any contingencies that may result in a 

request for earlier payment shall be disregarded;  

(b) Balloon Debt may, at the option of the Borrower, be treated as if it were to be 

amortized over a term of up to 30 years (which period shall be reasonably designated by the 

Borrower), commencing on the date of calculation of Annual Debt Service, with principal payable 

in such years and in such amounts as the Borrower shall reasonably determine on the date of 

calculation of Annual Debt Service, and the interest rate used for such computation shall be 

assumed by the Borrower to be equal to, at the option of the Borrower, the actual interest rate on 

such Debt for such fiscal period or such other interest rate or rates at which the Borrower could 

reasonably be expected to borrow at the time of such calculation of Annual Debt Service based on 

the assumed amortization of such Balloon Debt, as shall be specified in a written statement from 

an investment banking or financial or municipal advisory firm of recognized standing selected by 

the Borrower; 

(c) if any Debt bears, or is proposed to bear, interest at a variable interest rate for which 

a Swap Agreement is not in place, the interest rate on such Debt for periods when the actual interest 

rate cannot yet be determined shall be assumed to be equal to such interest rate reasonably 

determined by the Borrower as specified in a written statement from an investment banking or 

financial or municipal advisory firm of recognized standing selected by the Borrower; 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-3- 

(d) with respect to any Debt bearing interest, or expected to bear interest, at a variable 

interest rate for which a Swap Agreement is in place providing for a synthetic fixed interest rate to 

maturity or for a specific term with respect to such Debt, the interest rate on such Debt shall be 

assumed to be the synthetic fixed interest rate specified in such Swap Agreement for such term; 

(e) with respect to any Debt bearing interest, or expected to bear interest, at a fixed 

interest rate for which a Swap Agreement is in place providing for a net variable interest rate with 

respect to such Debt for a specific term, the interest rate on such Debt shall be assumed to be equal 

for such term to the sum of (1) the fixed interest rate or rates to be paid on the Parity Debt or 

Subordinate Debt, minus (2) the fixed interest rate receivable by the Borrower under such Swap 

Agreement, plus (3) the average interest rate of the index on which the Swap Agreement is based 

over the five years preceding the date of calculation as specified in a written statement from an 

investment banking or financial or municipal advisory firm of recognized standing selected by the 

Borrower, plus the applicable spread, if any, payable by the Borrower under such Swap 

Agreement; 

(f) if any Debt features an option, on the part of the owners or a requirement under the 

terms of such Debt, to tender all or a portion of such Debt to the Borrower or other fiduciary or 

agent, and to purchase such Debt or portion thereof if properly presented, then for purposes of 

determining the amounts due in any fiscal period, the options or obligations of the owners of such 

Debt to tender the same for purchase or payment shall be disregarded;  

(g) payments on Debt shall be excluded to the extent such payments are to be paid from 

amounts not constituting Net Revenues and interest payments shall be excluded to the extent that 

such interest payments are to be paid from the proceeds of Debt, including any investment earnings 

thereon; and 

(h) with respect to Debt for which a reserve fund is in place, the calculation of Annual 

Debt Service for such Debt for any fiscal period shall be reduced by the amount of investment 

earnings on amounts on deposit in such reserve fund used or expected to be used to pay Annual 

Debt Service on such Debt during such period. 

[“Anti-Corruption Laws” means (a) the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as 

amended; (b) the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, as amended; and (c) any other applicable Law relating 

to anti-bribery or anti-corruption in any jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located or doing 

business.]3 

[“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means (a) the Bank Secrecy Act and the Uniting and 

Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct 

Terrorism (USA PATRIOT) Act of 2001; (b) the U.K. Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Money 

Laundering Regulations 2017, as amended and the Terrorist Asset-Freezing etc. Act 2010; and 

 
3  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-4- 

(c) any other Applicable Law relating to anti-money laundering and countering the financing of 

terrorism in any jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located or doing business.]4 

“Applicable Law” means (i) all applicable common law and principles of equity and (ii) all 

applicable provisions of all (A) constitutions, statutes, rules, regulations and orders of all 

governmental and non-governmental bodies, (B) Governmental Approvals and (C) orders, 

decisions, judgments and decrees of all courts (whether at law or in equity) and arbitrators. 

“Applicable Margin” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6 hereof. 

“Authorized Representative” means an “Authorized Representative” as defined in the 

Resolution, and any other individual designated from time to time as an “Authorized 

Representative” in a certificate executed by Borrower and delivered to Lender. 

“Availability Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to but 

excluding the earlier of the Maturity Date and the date of termination of the Commitment. 

“Balloon Debt” means, with respect to any Debt, 50% or more of the principal or other 

face amount of which matures or becomes due on the same date or within a 12 month period (with 

mandatory sinking fund payments deemed to be payments of matured principal), that portion of 

such Debt that matures or becomes due on such date or within such 12 month period. 

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating per annum rate of interest equal to the 

highest of (i) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate, plus 0.5%, (ii) the Prime Rate, and (iii) Daily 

Simple SOFR, plus 1.00%, so long as Daily Simple SOFR is offered, ascertainable and not 

unlawful; provided, however, if the Base Rate as determined above would be less than zero, then 

such rate shall be deemed to be zero.  Any change in the Base Rate (or any component thereof) 

shall take effect at the opening of business on the day such change occurs. Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained herein, in the case of any event specified in Section 2.18 

(Inability to Determine Rates; Illegality), to the extent any such determination affects the 

calculation of the Base Rate, the definition hereof shall be calculated without reference to clause 

(iii) until the circumstances giving rise to such event no longer exist. 

“Basic Documents” means, at any time, each of the following documents and agreements 

as in effect or as outstanding, as the case may be, at such time: (a) this Agreement, including 

schedules and exhibits hereto, (b) the Fee Agreement, and (c) and any other documents executed 

and delivered by Borrower in connection with this Agreement or the Fee Agreement, if any.  For 

the avoidance of doubt, PPAs are not Basic Documents. 

[“Blocked Property” means any property: (a) owned, directly or indirectly, by a 

Sanctioned Person; (b) due to or from a Sanctioned Person; (c) in which a Sanctioned Person 

 
4  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-5- 

otherwise holds any interest; (d) located in a Sanctioned Jurisdiction; or (e) that otherwise could 

cause any actual or possible violation by the Lender of any applicable International Trade Law if 

the Lender were to obtain an encumbrance on, lien on, pledge of, or security interest in such 

property, or provide services in consideration of such property.]5 

“Board” means the Board of Directors of Borrower. 

“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Borrowing” means the making of a Loan pursuant to Article II hereof. 

“Borrowing Request” means a request by Borrower for a Borrowing in accordance with 

Section 2.3 hereof and in the form of Exhibit B hereto. 

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which 

commercial banks in New York City or San Francisco, California are authorized or required by 

law to remain closed. 

“Change in Law” means the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of (a) the adoption 

of or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation 

or treaty or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority or 

(c) compliance by Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.10(b) hereof, by any lending office of 

Lender or its holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not 

having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this 

Agreement; provided that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank 

Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives 

thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives 

promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking 

Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory 

authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall be deemed to be a “Change in Law,” regardless 

of the date enacted, adopted or issued. 

“Closing Date” means the first date on which the conditions precedent set forth in 

Section 3.1 hereof are satisfied and/or waived in writing by Lender. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 

including regulations, rulings and judicial decisions promulgated thereunder. 

“Collateral Agent” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.  

“Commitment” means the commitment of Lender to make Loans and to issue Letters of 

Credit, expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of Lender’s 

 
5  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-6- 

Revolving Credit Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be reduced from time to time 

pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof.  The initial amount of the Commitment is $300,000,000. 

[“Compliance Authority” means (a) the United States government or any agency or 

political subdivision thereof, including, without limitation, the U.S. Department of State, the U.S. 

Department of Commerce, the U.S. Department of the Treasury and its Office of Foreign Assets 

Control, and the U.S. Customs and Border Protection agency; (b) the government of Canada or 

any agency thereof; (c) the European Union or any agency thereof; (d) the government of the 

United Kingdom or any agency thereof; (e) the United Nations Security Council; and (f) any other 

Governmental Authority with jurisdiction to administer Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money 

Laundering Laws or International Trade Laws with respect to the conduct of the Borrower.]6 

“Conforming Changes” means, with respect to 1M SOFR or any Benchmark Replacement 

in relation thereto, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the 

definition of “Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “Interest Period,” the 

definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day,” timing and frequency of determining 

rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or 

continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage 

provisions, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Lender decides may 

be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of 1M SOFR or such Benchmark 

Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Lender in a manner substantially 

consistent with market practice (or, if the Lender decides that adoption of any portion of such 

market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Lender determines that no market practice 

for the administration of 1M SOFR or the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner 

of administration as the Lender decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the 

administration of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents). 

“Connection Income Taxes” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or 

measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits 

Taxes. 

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the 

direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting 

power, by contract or otherwise, “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative 

thereto. 

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), the interest rate per 

annum determined by the Lender (rounded upwards, at the Lender’s discretion, to the nearest 

1/100th of 1%)  equal to SOFR for the day (the “SOFR Determination Date”) that is 2 Business 

Days prior to (i) such SOFR Rate Day if such SOFR Rate Day is a Business Day or (ii) the Business 

Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate Day if such SOFR Rate Day is not a Business Day,  

in each case, as such SOFR is published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor 

administrator of the secured overnight financing rate) on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank 

 
6  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-7- 

of New York, at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source identified by the Federal 

Reserve Bank of New York or its successor administrator for the secured overnight financing rate 

from time to time.  If Daily Simple SOFR as determined above would be less than the SOFR Floor, 

then Daily Simple SOFR shall be deemed to be the SOFR Floor.  If SOFR for any SOFR 

Determination Date has not been published or replaced with a Benchmark Replacement by 5:00 

p.m. (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania time) on the second Business Day immediately following such 

SOFR Determination Date, then SOFR for such SOFR Determination Date will be SOFR for the 

first Business Day preceding such SOFR Determination Date for which SOFR was published in 

accordance with the definition of “SOFR”; provided that SOFR determined pursuant to this 

sentence shall be used for purposes of calculating Daily Simple SOFR for no more than 3 

consecutive SOFR Rate Days.  If and when Daily Simple SOFR as determined above changes, any 

applicable rate of interest based on Daily Simple SOFR will change automatically without notice 

to the Borrower, effective on the date of any such change. 

“Days of Liquidity on Hand” means, for any date of determination, the quotient obtained 

by dividing (a) the sum of (i) all unrestricted cash and cash equivalents reflected on the balance 

sheet of Borrower, plus (ii) the Unused Commitment, in each case as of the date of determination, 

by (b) the quotient of (i) Operating and Maintenance Costs for the four fiscal quarters of Borrower 

ended on such date, divided by (ii) 365. 

“Debt” of any Person means, at any date, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such 

Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, 

notes or other similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase 

price of property or services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of 

business, (d) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases representing debt-like capital 

financing transactions (for the avoidance of doubt, obligations of a Person as lessee under leases 

of an operational or administrative nature or that arise in connection with the purchase of Product 

pursuant to a PPA shall not be included in this definition of Debt whether or not such obligations 

are included as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person), (e) all debt of others secured by a 

Lien on any asset of such Person, whether or not such debt is assumed by such Person, (f) all 

Guarantees by such Person of debt of other Persons and (g) all obligations of such Person to 

reimburse or repay any bank or other Person in respect of amounts paid or advanced under a letter 

of credit, credit agreement, liquidity facility or other instrument. 

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time 

or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Direction Letter” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement. 

“dollars” or “$” refers to lawful money of the United States of America. 

“EEI Master Agreement” means the EEI Master Power Purchase and Sale Agreement, 

version 2.1 (modified 4/25/00), created by the Edison Electric Institute and National Energy 

Marketers Association. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B

http://www.newyorkfed.org/


 

-8- 

“Electronic System” means any electronic system, including e-mail, e-fax, web portal 

access for Borrower, and any other Internet or extranet-based site, whether such electronic system 

is owned, operated or hosted by Lender and any of its respective Related Parties or any other 

Person, providing for access to data protected by passcodes or other security system. 

“Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or 

associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a person with the intent to sign, 

authenticate or accept such contract or record. 

“Employee Plan” means an employee benefit plan covered by Title W of ERISA and 

maintained for employees of Borrower. 

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state and local statutes, laws, 

regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, 

licenses, agreements or other governmental restrictions relating to the environment or to emissions, 

discharges or releases of pollutants, contaminants, petroleum or petroleum products, chemicals or 

industrial, toxic or hazardous substances or wastes into the environment including, without 

limitation, ambient air, surface water, ground water or land, or otherwise relating to the 

manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of 

pollutants, contaminants, petroleum or petroleum products, chemicals or industrial, toxic or 

hazardous substances or wastes or the clean-up or other remediation thereof. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or 

any successor statute thereto. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to Lender or any Participant, (a) taxes imposed on 

or measured by its overall net income (however denominated), and franchise taxes imposed on it 

(in lieu of net income taxes), by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the 

laws of which Lender or such Participant is organized or in which its principal office is located 

and (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States or any similar tax imposed by any 

other jurisdiction in which Borrower is located. 

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement 

(or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more 

onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and 

any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code. 

“Federal Reserve Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 

of the United States of America. 

“Fee Agreement” means the Fee Agreement of even date herewith between Borrower and 

Lender, as supplemented, amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time in 

accordance with the terms hereof. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-9- 

“Fiscal Year” means each twelve-month period commencing on July 1 of a calendar year 

and ending on June 30 of the following calendar year. 

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc., and any successor rating agency. 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America 

from time to time as set forth in (a) the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles 

Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and (b) statements and 

pronouncements of the Government Accounting Standards Board, as modified by the opinions, 

statements and pronouncements of any similar accounting body of comparable standing having 

authority over accounting by governmental entities. 

[“Government Official” means any officer, employee, official, representative, or any 

Person acting for or on behalf of any Governmental Authority, government-owned or government-

controlled association, organization, business, or enterprise, or public international organization, 

any political party or official thereof and any candidate for political office.]7 

“Governmental Approval” means an authorization, consent, approval, license or 

exemption of, registration or filing with, or report to, any Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America or any 

other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, 

authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, 

legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to 

government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European 

Central Bank) and any group or body charged with setting financial accounting or regulatory 

capital rules or standards (including the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Bank for 

International Settlements or the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision or any successor or 

similar authority to any of the foregoing). 

“Guarantees” means, for any Person, all guarantees, endorsements (other than for 

collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business) and other contingent obligations of such 

Person to purchase, to provide funds for payment, to supply funds to invest in any other Person or 

otherwise to assure a creditor of another Person against loss. 

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes other than Excluded Taxes and (b) to the extent not 

otherwise described in (a) hereof, Other Taxes. 

“Initial Amortization Payment Date” means the Maturity Date. 

[“Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement” means the Intercreditor and Collateral 

Agency Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit E, as amended and supplemented in accordance 

with the terms hereof, is entered into by and among (i) River City Bank, a California corporation, 

 
7  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-10- 

not in its individual capacity, but solely as collateral agent, for the benefit of the PPA Providers, 

and its successors and assigns in such capacity, (ii) each of the creditors from time to time signatory 

thereto that are party to a Power Purchase Agreement (as defined in the Security Agreement), and 

(iii) AVA.]8 

“Interest Payment Date” means the [last Business Day of each month] and the Maturity 

Date. 

“Interest Period” means, as to any Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such 

Loan or Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that 

is one month thereafter (in each case, subject to the availability thereof), as specified in the 

applicable Borrowing Request; provided that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other 

than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day 

unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case 

such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day, (ii) any Interest Period that 

commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no 

numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the 

last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period, (iii) no Interest Period shall 

extend beyond the Maturity Date and (iv) no tenor that has been removed from this definition 

pursuant to Section 2.19(a)(iv) shall be available for specification in such Borrowing Request.  For 

purposes hereof, the date of a Loan or Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Loan or 

Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or 

continuation of such Loan or Borrowing. 

[“International Trade Laws” means all Laws relating to economic and financial sanctions, 

trade embargoes, export controls, customs and anti-boycott measures.]9 

“Investment Policy” means the investment guidelines of Borrower, as the same may be 

adopted by Borrower and amended from time to time in accordance with State laws. 

“Joint Exercise of Powers Act” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of 

California (Government Code Section 6500, et. seq.) 

“Joint Powers Agreement” means the Joint Powers Agreement of Borrower effective as of 

December 1, 2016, as amended through the date hereof, and as further amended from time to time. 

“Law” means any law(s) (including common law), constitution, statute, treaty, regulation, 

rule, ordinance, opinion, release, ruling, order, executive order, injunction, writ, decree, bond, 

judgment, authorization or approval, lien or award, or any settlement arrangement, by agreement, 

consent or otherwise, of any Governmental Authority, foreign or domestic. 

 
8  To be confirmed 

9  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-11- 

“LC Collateral Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.17(h) hereof.  

“LC Disbursement” means a payment made by Lender pursuant to a Letter of Credit. 

“LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all 

outstanding Letters of Credit at such time, plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements 

that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of Borrower at such time. 

“Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement. 

“Letter of Credit Fees” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Letter of Credit Request” means a request by Borrower for a Letter of Credit in 

accordance with Section 2.17(a) hereof and in the form specified by Lender from time to time. 

“Lender” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

“Liabilities” mean all claims (including intraparty claims), actions, suits, judgments, 

damages, losses, liability, obligations, responsibilities, fines, penalties, sanctions, costs, fees, 

Taxes, commissions, charges, disbursements and expenses (including those incurred upon any 

appeal or in connection with the preparation for and/or response to any subpoena or request for 

document production relating thereto), in each case of any kind or nature (including interest 

accrued thereon or as a result thereto and fees, charges and disbursements of financial, legal and 

other advisors and consultants), whether joint or several, whether or not indirect, contingent, 

consequential, actual, punitive, treble or otherwise. 

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, (a) any lien, charge, claim, mortgage, security 

interest, pledge or assignment of revenues of any kind in respect of such asset or (b) the interest of 

a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention 

agreement relating to such asset. 

“Loans” means individually, each Revolving Loan and the Term Loan under this 

Agreement and, collectively, the Revolving Loans and Term Loan under this Agreement. 

“Lockbox Account” has the meaning set forth in the Account Control Agreement.  

“Lockbox Security Document(s)” means, individually or collectively, as applicable, the 

Security Agreement, the Account Control Agreement, the Intercreditor and Collateral Agency 

Agreement and the Direction Letter. 

“Material Adverse Change” means any material and adverse change in the operations, 

properties, assets, liability or financial condition Borrower which, in the reasonable determination 

of Lender, materially impairs Borrower’s ability to perform Borrower’s Obligations hereunder. 

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a Material Adverse Change; (b) a material 

impairment of the rights and remedies of any Lender under this Agreement or any other Basic 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-12- 

Document; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or 

enforceability of Borrower’s Obligations under this Agreement or any other Basic Document to 

which Borrower is a party. 

“Material Litigation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.5 hereof. 

“Maturity Date” means the date on which Commitment is scheduled to expire pursuant to 

its terms, initially 5:00 p.m. (New York time) on [September __, 2028], or such later date to which 

the Maturity Date may be extended pursuant to Section 2.14 hereof and, if any such date is not a 

Business Day, the next preceding Business Day. 

“Maximum Rate” means the maximum non-usurious interest rate that may, under 

applicable federal law and applicable state law, be contracted for, charged or received under such 

laws. 

“Members” means the parties to the Joint Powers Agreement. 

“Minimum Liquidity Requirement” means, for any date of determination, (i) the sum of 

(x) all unrestricted cash and cash equivalents reflected on the balance sheet of Borrower, plus 

(ii) the Unused Commitment, is not less than $300,000,000, and (ii) the Days of Liquidity on Hand 

is not less than one hundred twenty (120). 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns. 

“Net Revenues” means, for any period and as of any date of determination, the amount 

obtained by subtracting Operating and Maintenance Costs from Revenues, in each case for such 

period as of such date, including all products and proceeds thereof, and accounts into which Net 

Revenues are deposited.  Net Revenues does not include the “Collateral” as defined under the 

Security Agreement.  

“Obligations” means all obligations of Borrower to Lender or any Participant arising under 

or in relation to this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, including all unpaid principal of and 

accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans, all LC Exposure, all accrued and unpaid fees (including, 

without limitation, the Undrawn Fee and the Letter of Credit Fees) and all expenses, 

reimbursements, indemnities and other obligations and indebtedness (including interest and fees 

accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar 

proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), obligations and 

liabilities of Borrower to Lender or any indemnified party, individually or collectively, existing on 

the Closing Date or arising thereafter, direct or indirect, joint or several, absolute or contingent, 

matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, arising by contract, 

operation of law or otherwise, arising or incurred under this Agreement or any of the other Basic 

Documents or in respect of any of the Loans made or reimbursement or other obligations incurred 

or any of the Letters of Credit or other instruments at any time evidencing any thereof. 

“Operating and Maintenance Costs” shall be determined in accordance with the accrual 

basis of accounting in accordance with GAAP and shall mean the reasonable and necessary costs 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-13- 

paid or incurred by Borrower for maintaining and operating the System, including costs of electric 

energy and power generated or purchased, costs of transmission, the cost to purchase Regulatory 

Compliance Products, the cost of preparing and filing regulatory plans, reports and filings required 

by Governmental Authority, and including all administrative costs of Borrower that are charged 

directly or apportioned to the maintenance and operation of the System, such as salaries and wages 

of employees, retirement benefits, overhead, insurance, taxes (if any) and insurance premiums, 

and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of Borrower such as fees and expenses of 

legal counsel and an independent certified public accountant, and including Borrower’s share of 

the foregoing types of costs of any electric properties co-owned with others, excluding in all cases 

depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefore and amortization of 

intangibles and extraordinary items computed in accordance with GAAP or other bookkeeping 

entries of a similar nature.  Operating and Maintenance Costs shall include all amounts required 

to be paid by Borrower under contracts for the purchase of Product, including take or pay contracts. 

“Operating Account” means the deposit account of Borrower established with Lender and 

used by Borrower for operating purposes. 

“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to Lender, Taxes imposed as a result of a 

present or former connection between Lender and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than 

connections arising from Lender having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its 

obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, 

engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Basic Document, or sold or assigned 

an interest in any Loan or Basic Document). 

“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, 

recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, 

delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security 

interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Basic Document, except any such Taxes that are 

Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment. 

“Overnight Bank Funding Rate” means for any day, the rate comprised of both overnight 

federal funds and overnight eurocurrency borrowings by U.S.-managed banking offices of 

depository institutions, as such composite rate shall be determined by the Federal Reserve Bank 

of New York, as set forth on its public website from time to time, and as published on the next 

succeeding Business Day as the overnight bank funding rate by the Federal Reserve Bank of New 

York (or by such other recognized electronic source (such as Bloomberg) selected by the Lender 

for the purpose of displaying such rate); provided, that if such day is not a Business Day, the 

Overnight Bank Funding Rate for such day shall be such rate on the immediately preceding 

Business Day; provided, further, that if such rate shall at any time, for any reason, no longer exist, 

a comparable replacement rate determined by the Lender at such time (which determination shall 

be conclusive absent manifest error). If the Overnight Bank Funding Rate determined as above 

would be less than zero, then such rate shall be deemed to be zero. Such rate of interest charged 

shall be adjusted as of each Business Day based on changes in the Overnight Bank Funding Rate 

without notice to the Borrower. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-14- 

“Parity Debt” means the Obligations and any other Debt of Borrower issued or incurred 

by Borrower (i) the payment of which is on parity with Borrower’s payment obligations under this 

Agreement and (ii) that is subject to a customary intercreditor agreement in form and substance 

reasonably satisfactory to Lender. 

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Participation” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof. 

“Person” means an individual, a firm, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability 

company, an association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a government or 

political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof. 

“PPA” means any agreement for the purchase of Product executed between Borrower and 

a PPA Counterparty.  For greater clarity, “PPA” includes Power Purchase Agreements (as defined 

under the Security Agreement), EEI Master Agreements, and individual transaction confirmations 

executed under an EEI Master Agreement or WSPP Agreement. A PPA may be for short term or 

multi-year transactions for the purchase of Products. 

“PPA Counterparty” means a party to a PPA other than Borrower.  

“Prime Rate” means the interest rate per annum announced from time to time by the 

Lender at its Principal Office as its then prime rate, which rate may not be the lowest or most 

favorable rate then being charged to commercial borrowers or others by the Lender and may not 

be tied to any external rate of interest or index. Any change in the Prime Rate shall take effect at 

the opening of business on the day such change is announced. 

“Principal Office” means the main banking office of the Lender in Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania. 

“Product” means any of the following: energy, renewable energy attributes, capacity 

attributes, transmission rights, resource adequacy benefits, or any other similar or related products 

contemplated in the PPAs. 

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or 

mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. 

“Rate Stabilization Fund” means one or more funds or accounts by that name established 

and maintained on the Borrower’s books and records from time to time. 

“Reimbursement Obligations” means any and all obligations of Borrower to reimburse 

Lender for LC Disbursements under Letters of Credit and all obligations to repay Lender for any 

Loan relating thereto, including in each instance all interest accrued thereon.  

“Regulatory Compliance Product” means any Product required to be purchased by 

Borrower to satisfy the requirements of the California Public Utilities Commission, the Federal 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-15- 

Energy Regulatory Commission, the California Independent System Operator or any other 

Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the operation of the System. 

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates 

and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such 

Person’s Affiliates. 

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board or the Federal Reserve 

Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board 

or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto. 

[“Reportable Compliance Event” means that: (a) the Borrower becomes a Sanctioned 

Person, or is charged by indictment, criminal complaint, or similar charging instrument, arraigned, 

custodially detained, penalized or the subject of an assessment for a penalty, by, or enters into a 

settlement with a Governmental Authority in connection with any Anti-Corruption Law, Anti-

Money Laundering Law or International Trade Law, or any predicate crime to any Anti-Corruption 

Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law or International Trade Law, or has knowledge of facts or 

circumstances to the effect that it is reasonably likely that any aspect of its operations represents a 

violation of any Anti-Corruption Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law or International Trade Law; 

(b) the Borrower engages in a transaction that has caused or would cause the Borrower or the 

Lender to be in violation of any Anti-Corruption Law or International Trade Law, including the 

Borrower’s use of any proceeds of the Loans hereunder to directly or indirectly fund any activities 

or business of, with, or for the benefit of any Person that is a Sanctioned Person, or to fund or 

facilitate any activities or business of or in any Sanctioned Jurisdiction; (c) any of the Net Revenues 

qualifies as Blocked Property; or (d) the Borrower otherwise violates, or reasonably believes that 

it will violate, any of the Anti-Corruption Law or International Trade Law-specific representations 

and covenants herein.]10 

“Requirement of Law” means, with respect to any Person, (a) the charter, articles or 

certificate of organization or incorporation and bylaws or operating, management or partnership 

agreement, or other organizational or governing documents of such Person and (b) any statute, law 

(including common law), treaty, rule, regulation, code, ordinance, order, decree, writ, judgment, 

injunction or determination of any arbitrator or court or other Governmental Authority (including 

Environmental Laws), in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property 

or to which such Person or any of its property is subject. 

“Reserve Policy” means the Financial Reserve Policy of the Borrower, effective as of 

January 20, 2021 pursuant to Resolution No. R-2021-2, as the same may be amended or 

supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.  

“Resolution” means Resolution No. [____], adopted by the Board on September 17, 2025, 

as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms 

hereof and thereof. 

 
10  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-16- 

“Revenues” means all revenues, rates and charges received and accrued by Borrower for 

electric power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, furnished or supplied 

by the System, together with income, earnings and profits therefrom, as determined in accordance 

with GAAP; provided, that for any Fiscal Year or other fiscal period, Revenues shall be reduced 

by the amount of current Revenues transferred by the Borrower to a Rate Stabilization Fund for 

such Fiscal Year or other fiscal period and shall be increased by any amounts transferred out of a 

Rate Stabilization Fund by the Borrower for such Fiscal Year or other fiscal period. 

“Revolving Credit Exposure” means, with respect to Lender at any time, the sum of the 

outstanding principal amount of the Loans and its LC Exposure at such time. 

“Revolving Loan” means, collectively and individually, each revolving loan extended by 

Lender to Borrower pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof.  

[“Sanctioned Jurisdiction” means, at any time, a country, area, territory, or jurisdiction 

that is the subject or target of comprehensive U.S. sanctions.]11 

[“Sanctioned Person” means any Person that is (a) located in, organized under the laws 

of, or ordinarily resident in a Sanctioned Jurisdiction; (b) identified on any sanctions-related list 

maintained by any Compliance Authority; or (c) owned 50% or more, in the aggregate, directly or 

indirectly by, controlled by, or acting for, on behalf of, or at the direction of, one or more Persons 

described in clauses (a) or (b) above.]12 

[“Security Agreement” means the Security Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2018 

attached hereto as Exhibit F, as amended and supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof, 

by and among AVA, as pledgor, River City Bank, a California corporation, not in its individual 

capacity, but solely as collateral agent, for the benefit of the PPA Providers (as defined in the 

Security Agreement) as Secured Creditors (as defined in the Security Agreement).]13 

“SOFR” means, for any day, a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as 

administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the 

secured overnight financing rate). 

“SOFR Floor” means a rate of interest per annum equal to 0.00%. 

“SOFR Loan” means a Loan that bears interest based on 1M SOFR. 

“SOFR Rate” means a fluctuating rate per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 

days and actual days elapsed) equal to 1M SOFR plus the Applicable Margin, such interest rate to 

 
11  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

12  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

13  To be confirmed 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-17- 

change automatically from time to time effective as of the effective date of each change in 1M 

SOFR. 

“State” means the State of California. 

“Subordinate Debt” means any Debt of Borrower issued or incurred by Borrower (i) the 

payment of, and security for, which is subordinate to the payment in full of Borrower’s payment 

obligations under this Agreement and (ii) that is subject to a customary intercreditor agreement in 

form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender. 

“Swap Agreement” means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, spot, future, 

credit default or derivative transaction or any option or similar agreement involving, or settled by 

reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, 

or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or 

value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; provided that no 

phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by 

current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of Borrower shall be a Swap 

Agreement.   

“System” means (i) contractual rights to generation, distribution, metering and billing 

services, electric power, resource adequacy, scheduling and coordination and transmission 

capacity of Borrower for the generation, transmission and distribution of electric power to its 

customers, and behind the meter/distributed energy resources and other local customer programs 

and services, (ii) all other facilities, properties and structures of Borrower, wherever located, 

reasonably required to carry out any lawful purpose of Borrower.  The term shall include all such 

contractual rights, facilities, works, properties and structures now owned or hereafter acquired by 

Borrower. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, and any successor rating agency. 

“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings 

(including backup withholding), value added taxes, or any other goods and services, use or sales 

taxes, assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any 

interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto. 

“Term Loan” means a Revolving Loan that is converted to a Term Loan pursuant to 

Section 2.16 hereof.  

“Term Out Rate” means, for each day of determination on and after the Maturity Date, a 

fluctuating rate per annum, with respect to any Term Loan, equal to the Base Rate from time to 

time in effect plus one percent (1.00%); provided that from and after the occurrence and during 

the continuance of an Event of Default, “Term Out Rate” shall mean the Default Rate. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-18- 

“Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited 

(CBA) (or a successor administrator of the Term SOFR Reference Rate selected by the Lender in 

its reasonable discretion). 

“Term SOFR Reference Rate” means the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR. 

“Undrawn Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

“Unused Commitment” means, for any date of determination, the difference, if any, of 

(i) the Commitment minus, (ii) the Revolving Credit Exposure. 

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (a) a Saturday, (b) a 

Sunday or (c) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 

recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for 

purposes of trading in United States government securities. 

“WSPP Agreement” means the WSPP Agreement created by WSPP Inc. and filed with the 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, as revised by the WSPP Inc. from time to time. 

 Section 1.2. Terms Generally.  The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the 

singular and plural forms of the terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun 

shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.  The words “include”, 

“includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”.  

The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”.  

Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, 

instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument 

or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to 

any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any 

reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, 

(c) the words “herein”, “hereof’ and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed 

to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references 

herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and 

Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (c) the words “asset” and 

“property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all 

tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract 

rights. 

 Section 1.3. Accounting Terms; GAAP.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, 

all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in 

effect from time to time; provided that, if Borrower notifies Lender that Borrower requests an 

amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date 

hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if Lender 

requests an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such 

notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such 

provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-19- 

such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such 

provision amended in accordance herewith. 

 Section 1.4. Rates.  Lender does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not 

have any liability with respect to (a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of, 

calculation of or any other matter related to the Term SOFR Reference Rate or 1M SOFR, or any 

component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or any alternative, 

successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether 

the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including 

any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic 

equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, 1M 

SOFR or any other Benchmark prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, 

implementation or composition of any Conforming Changes.  Lender and its affiliates or other 

related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of the Term SOFR Reference 

Rate, 1M SOFR, any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark 

Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the 

Borrower.  Lender may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to 

ascertain the Term SOFR Reference Rate, 1M SOFR or any other Benchmark, in each case 

pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower or any other 

person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental 

or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and 

whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) 

provided by any such information source or service. 

ARTICLE 2 

 

THE CREDITS 

 Section 2.1. Commitments.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Lender 

agrees to make Loans to Borrower from time to time during the Availability Period in an aggregate 

principal amount that will not result (after giving effect to any application of proceeds of such 

Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof) in the Revolving Credit Exposure exceeding the 

Commitment.  Within the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, 

Borrower may borrow, prepay and reborrow Loans. 

 Section 2.2. Loans and Borrowings.  Each Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that 

is an integral multiple of $100,000 and not less than $200,000.  Each Revolving Loan shall be 

made solely for the purpose of working capital and general and System purposes, including without 

limitation, the purchase of Products or posting of collateral in connection with the purchase of 

Products.  The Revolving Credit Exposure at any time shall not exceed the Commitment at such 

time.  

 Section 2.3. Requests for Revolving Borrowings.  To request a Borrowing, Borrower shall 

notify Lender of such request by telephone not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time one (1) 

U.S. Government Securities Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing.  Each such 

telephonic request for a Borrowing shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-20- 

electronic means to Lender in the form of a written Borrowing Request as attached hereto as 

Exhibit B and signed by an Authorized Representative of Borrower.  Each such telephonic and 

written Borrowing Request shall specify the information set forth in Exhibit B hereto. Subject to 

satisfaction of the terms and conditions of Section 3.2 hereof, Lender shall make available to, or 

for the account of, Borrower the amount of each Borrowing no later than 2:00 p.m., New York 

City time, on date of the applicable Borrowing. If, after examination, Lender shall have determined 

that a Borrowing Request does not conform to the terms and conditions hereof, then Lender shall 

use its best efforts to give notice to Borrower to the effect that documentation was not in 

accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and stating the reasons therefor.  Borrower may 

attempt to correct any such nonconforming Borrowing Request, if, and to the extent that, Borrower 

is entitled (without regard to the provisions of this sentence) and able to do so. 

 Section 2.4. Interest Elections.  Lender shall promptly notify Borrower of the SOFR Rate 

for any Revolving Loan upon determination of such interest rate; provided, however, that the 

failure by Lender to provide notice of the applicable interest rate shall not relieve Borrower of its 

obligation to make payment of amounts as and when due hereunder.  Each determination by Lender 

of an interest rate shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error. 

 Section 2.5. Termination and Reduction of Commitment.  (a) Unless previously 

terminated, the Commitment shall terminate automatically on the Maturity Date. 

 (b) Subject to the provisions of the Fee Agreement, Borrower may at any time terminate, 

or from time to time reduce, the Commitment; provided that (i) each reduction of the Commitment 

shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $100,000 and not less than $500,000 and 

(ii) Borrower shall not terminate or reduce the Commitment if, after giving effect to any concurrent 

prepayment of the Loans in accordance with Section 2.7 hereof, the Revolving Credit Exposure 

would exceed the Commitment. 

 (c) Borrower shall notify Lender of any election to terminate or reduce the Commitment 

under paragraph (b) of this Section at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the effective date of 

such termination or reduction, specifying such election and the effective date thereof.  Each notice 

delivered by Borrower pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable. Any termination or reduction 

of the Commitment shall be permanent. 

 Section 2.6. Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.  (a) Subject to Section 2.16 hereof, 

Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to Lender the then unpaid principal amount of 

each Loan and any then unpaid accrued interest on such Loan on the Maturity Date. 

 (b) Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts 

evidencing the indebtedness of Borrower to Lender resulting from each Loan made by Lender and 

the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to Lender from time to time hereunder.  The 

entries made in such account or accounts shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and 

amounts of the obligations recorded therein; provided that the failure of Lender to maintain such 

account or accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of Borrower 

to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-21- 

 (c) The Loans shall be evidenced by a promissory note in the form of Exhibit C attached 

hereto (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes any applicable Revolving Loans and the Term 

Loan).  Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to Lender such promissory note as set forth in 

the immediately preceding sentence payable to Lender and in a form approved by Lender.  

Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times 

(including after assignment pursuant to Section 7.3 hereof) be represented by such promissory 

note. 

 Section 2.7. Prepayment of Loans.  (a) Borrower shall have the right at any time and from 

time to time to prepay any Borrowing, in whole or in part, on the last day of any applicable Interest 

Period, without penalty, subject to prior notice in accordance with paragraph (b) of this Section.  

If the Borrower shall elect to prepay any Borrowing on any day that is not the last day of the 

applicable Interest Period for such Borrowing, then Borrower shall pay to Lender in immediately 

available funds on the date of such prepayment any fees calculated in accordance with Section 2.20 

hereof. 

 (b) Borrower shall notify Lender by telephone (confirmed by electronic mail) or through 

the Electronic System, if arrangements for doing so have been approved by Lender, of any 

prepayment hereunder not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, ten (10) Business Days 

before the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the 

prepayment date and the principal amount of each Loan or portion thereof to be prepaid.  

 Section 2.8. Fees.  Borrower agrees to pay to Lender the fees and other amounts set forth 

in the Fee Agreement at the time and in the manner set forth in the Fee Agreement, including, but 

not limited to, the Undrawn Fee and Letter of Credit Fees.  The Fee Agreement is, by this reference, 

incorporated herein in its entirety as if set forth herein in full.  All fees and other amounts payable 

under the Fee Agreement shall be paid in immediately available funds.  Fees paid shall not be 

refundable under any circumstances. 

 Section 2.9. Interest.  (a) The Revolving Loans shall bear interest at the SOFR Rate.  

 (b) Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default hereunder, interest on 

all Loans and unreimbursed LC Disbursements shall accrue at the Default Rate.  Interest on Loans 

and unreimbursed LC Disbursements accruing at the Default Rate and, to the extent set forth in 

the Fee Agreement, fees for Loans and Letters of Credit accruing at the Default Rate shall be 

payable on demand to Lender.   

 (c) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment 

Date for such Loan and upon termination of the Commitment; provided that (i) interest accrued 

pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section shall be payable on demand, and (ii) in the event of any 

repayment or prepayment of any Loan, accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid 

shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment.  

 (d) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and the 

actual number of days elapsed.  The applicable SOFR Rate shall be determined by Lender, and 

such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-22- 

 (e) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the amount of interest payable 

hereunder for any interest period shall not exceed the Maximum Rate.  If for any interest period 

the applicable interest rate would exceed the Maximum Rate, then (i) such interest rate will not 

exceed but will be capped at such Maximum Rate and (ii) in any interest period thereafter that the 

applicable interest rate is less than the Maximum Rate, any Obligation hereunder will bear interest 

at the Maximum Rate until the earlier of (x) payment to Lender of an amount equal to the amount 

which would have accrued but for the limitation set forth in this Section and (y) the Maturity Date.  

Upon the Maturity Date or, if no Revolving Credit Exposure is outstanding, on the date the 

Commitment is permanently terminated, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of interest 

otherwise payable hereunder, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Borrower shall pay to 

Lender a fee in an amount equal to the amount which would have accrued but for the limitation 

set forth in this Section 2.9(e) that has not previously been paid to Lender in accordance with the 

immediately preceding sentence. 

 Section 2.10. Increased Costs.  (a) If any Change in Law shall: 

 (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, liquidity or 

similar requirement (including any compulsory loan requirement, insurance charge or other 

assessment) against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, 

Lender; or 

 (ii) impose on Lender any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes) 

affecting this Agreement or Loans made by Lender or any Letter of Credit; or 

 (iii) subject Lender to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, 

(B) Excluded Taxes and (C) Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters 

of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or 

capital attributable thereto; 

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to Lender of making or 

maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the 

cost to Lender of issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or to reduce the amount of any sum 

received or receivable by Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then 

Borrower will pay to Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate Lender for 

such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.   

 (b) If Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity 

requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on Lender’s capital or on 

the capital of Lender’s holding company, as a consequence of this Agreement, the Commitment 

of or the Loans made by Lender, to a level below that which Lender or Lender’s holding company 

could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration Lender’s policies and 

the policies of Lender’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then 

from time to time Borrower will pay to Lender such additional amount or amounts as will 

compensate Lender or Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-23- 

 (c) A certificate of Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate 

Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this 

Section shall be delivered to Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  Borrower 

shall pay Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within thirty (30) days after 

receipt thereof. 

 (d) Failure or delay on the part of Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this 

Section shall not constitute a waiver of Lender’s right to demand such compensation, provided 

that Borrower shall not be required to compensate Lender pursuant to this Section for any 

increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than twelve (12) months prior to the date that 

Lender notifies Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions, 

and of Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor (except that if the Change in Law giving 

rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the twelve-month period referred to 

above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof). 

 Section 2.11. Payments Free of Taxes.  (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any 

obligation of Borrower under any Basic Document shall be made without deduction or withholding 

for any Taxes, except as required by applicable law.  If any applicable law (as determined in the 

good faith discretion of Borrower) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such 

payment by Borrower, then Borrower shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and 

shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in 

accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by 

Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been 

made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under 

this Section 2.11) Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such 

deduction or withholding been made.  The foregoing obligation of Borrower shall not apply to any 

payment to a Participant that is a non-U.S. person that would be subject to withholding under 

FATCA. 

 (b) Borrower shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with 

applicable law, or at the option of Lender timely reimburse Lender for, Other Taxes. 

 (c) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by Borrower to a Governmental 

Authority pursuant to this Section 2.11, Borrower shall deliver to Lender the original or a certified 

copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the 

return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to 

Lender. 

 (d) Borrower shall indemnify Lender, within thirty (30) days after demand therefor, for 

the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or 

attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable or paid by Lender or required to be 

withheld or deducted from a payment to Lender and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or 

with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or 

asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority.  A reasonably detailed certificate as to the 

calculation of the amount of such payment or liability delivered to Borrower by Lender shall be 

conclusive absent manifest error. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-24- 

 (e) If Lender determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received 

a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.11 (including 

by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.11), it shall pay to Borrower an 

amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this 

Section 2.11 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses 

(including Taxes) of Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant 

Governmental Authority with respect to such refund).  Borrower, upon the request of Lender, shall 

repay to Lender the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (e) (plus any penalties, interest or 

other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that Lender is 

required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority.  Notwithstanding anything to the 

contrary in this paragraph (e), in no event will Lender be required to pay any amount to Borrower 

pursuant to this paragraph (e) the payment of which would place Lender in a less favorable net 

after-Tax position than Lender would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving 

rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification 

payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid.  This paragraph 

shall not be construed to require Lender to make available its Tax returns (or any other information 

relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to Borrower or any other Person. 

 (f) Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.11 shall survive any assignment of 

rights by Lender, the termination of the Commitment and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge 

of all obligations under any Basic Document. 

 Section 2.12. Payments Generally.  (a) Borrower shall make each payment required to be 

made by it hereunder or under the Fee Agreement (whether of principal, interest, fees, or 

reimbursement of LC Disbursements, or of amounts payable under Section 2.10, 2.11 or 2.17 

hereof, or otherwise) prior to 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date when due, in immediately 

available funds, without set off or counterclaim.  Any amounts received after such time on any 

date may, in the discretion of Lender, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding 

Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon.  All such payments shall be made to 

Lender at its Principal Office, or such other location as Lender may direct in writing to Borrower 

from time to time, except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.10, 2.11 or 2.17 and 7.5 hereof 

shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto.  If any payment hereunder shall be due on a 

day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding 

Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable 

for the period of such extension.  All payments hereunder shall be made in dollars. 

 (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to Lender to pay fully 

all amounts of principal, unreimbursed LC Disbursements, interest and fees then due hereunder, 

such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, and 

(ii) second, ratably towards payment of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbursements then due 

hereunder. 

 Section 2.13. Mitigation Obligation.  If Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10 

hereof, or if Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to Lender 

or any Governmental Authority for the account of Lender pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof, then 

Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-25- 

its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, 

branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would 

eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Sections 2.10 or 2.11 hereof, as the case may be, 

in the future and (ii) would not subject Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not 

otherwise be disadvantageous to Lender.  Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and 

expenses incurred by Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment. 

 Section 2.14. [Reserved].  

 Section 2.15. Security of Obligations.  To secure the payment of the Obligations and all 

regularly scheduled payments (but excluding termination payments) with respect to any Swap 

Agreement with Lender that are secured by the Net Revenues on a parity with the Obligations, the 

Borrower hereby pledges, and grants a security interest in and lien on, on a non-exclusive basis, 

all of its right, title, and interest, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, in, to, and under the 

Net Revenues.  Said pledge shall constitute a lien on and security interest in the Net Revenues and 

shall automatically attach, be perfected, and be valid and binding from and after the delivery of 

this Agreement, without the need for any physical delivery thereof or further act.  The pledge of, 

and security interest in, the Net Revenues herein made shall be irrevocable until the Commitment 

has expired or been terminated and all Obligations hereunder shall have been paid in full and all 

Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without any pending draw, and all 

LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed.  The pledge of the Net Revenues herein made shall 

be senior to any pledge of the Net Revenues made with respect to any Subordinate Debt.  In 

addition to the security set forth in this Section 2.15, Borrower hereby grants to Lender a non-

exclusive lien on and security interest in the Operating Account. 

 Section 2.16. Term Loan.  (a) Borrower shall have the option to convert the unpaid 

principal amount of any Revolving Loan to a single Term Loan if the conditions set forth in 

Section 2.16(b) hereof are satisfied on and as of the Maturity Date.   

 (b) The obligation of Lender to convert the principal amount owed on a Revolving Loan 

to a Term Loan shall be subject to the fulfillment of each of the following conditions precedent on 

the Maturity Date in a manner satisfactory to Lender: 

 (i) the representations and warranties of Borrower contained herein and in each 

of the other Basic Documents and each certificate, letter, other writing or instrument 

delivered by Borrower to Lender pursuant hereto or thereto are true and correct on and as 

of the Maturity Date as though made on and as of such date; and 

 (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing as of the 

Maturity Date or would result from converting a Revolving Loan to a Term Loan.  

 (c) The Term Loan shall bear interest from the Maturity Date to the date the Term Loan 

is paid in full at a rate per annum equal to Term Out Rate as determined by Lender.  Interest on 

the Term Loan shall be paid to Lender quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, 

June, September, and December.  Interest on the Term Loan shall be calculated on the basis of a 

year of 360 days based on the actual number of days elapsed. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-26- 

 (d) The principal of the Term Loan shall be paid in installments payable on each 

Amortization Payment Date (each such payment, an “Amortization Payment”), with the final 

installment in an amount equal to the entire then-outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan 

to be paid in full on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Maturity Date and 

ending on the Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the “Amortization Period”).  Each 

Amortization Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as 

possible) aggregate Amortization Payments over the Amortization Period.   

 Section 2.17. Letters of Credit. 

 (a) General.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Borrower may request 

the issuance of Letters of Credit as the applicant thereof for the support of maintenance and 

operating requirements to the System, including, but not limited to, PPA payment or collateral 

obligations, collateral postings with the California Independent System Operator and the posting 

of collateral for regulatory obligations pursuant to the requirements of the California Public 

Utilities Commission, in the form of a Letter of Credit Request at any time and from time to time 

during the Availability Period; provided, however, that prior to the issuance of each Letter of Credit 

hereunder, Borrower shall execute a Letter of Credit Request in the form prescribed by Lender 

from time to time.  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement and the terms and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other 

agreement submitted by Borrower to, or entered into by Borrower with, Lender relating to any 

Letter of Credit, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. 

 (b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions.  To request 

the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment, renewal or extension of an outstanding Letter 

of Credit), Borrower shall hand deliver or fax (or transmit through an Electronic System approved 

by Lender) to Lender (reasonably in advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment, 

renewal or extension, but in any event no less than five (5) Business Days) a notice requesting the 

issuance of a Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed or 

extended, and specifying the date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (which shall be a 

Business Day), the date on which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with 

paragraph (c) of this Section), the amount of such Letter of Credit, the name and address of the 

beneficiary thereof and such other information as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, renew or 

extend such Letter of Credit.  A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended 

only if (and upon issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit Borrower 

shall be deemed to represent and warrant that), after giving effect to such issuance, amendment, 

renewal or extension the Revolving Credit Exposure shall not exceed the Commitment. 

Lender shall not be under any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit if: 

 (i) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator 

shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain Lender from issuing such Letter of Credit, or 

any Requirement of Law relating to Lender or any request or directive (whether or not 

having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over Lender 

shall prohibit, or request that Lender refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally 

or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon Lender with respect to such 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-27- 

Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which Lender is not 

otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Closing Date, or shall impose upon 

Lender any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not applicable on the Closing 

Date and which Lender in good faith deems material to it, or 

 (ii) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of 

Lender applicable to letters of credit generally. 

 (c) Expiration Date.  Unless otherwise expressly agreed to by Lender, each Letter of 

Credit shall expire (or be subject to termination by notice from Lender to the beneficiary thereof) 

one (1) year from issuance and at or prior to the close of business on the date that is thirty (30) 

calendar days prior to the Maturity Date. 

 (d) Reimbursement.  If Lender shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter of 

Credit, Borrower shall reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying to Lender an amount equal to 

such LC Disbursement not later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that such 

LC Disbursement is made, if Borrower shall have received notice of such LC Disbursement prior 

to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on such date, or, if such notice has not been received by 

Borrower prior to such time on such date, then not later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on 

the Business Day immediately following the day that Borrower receives such notice, if such notice 

is not received prior to such time on the day of receipt; provided that, if such LC Disbursement is 

not less than $200,000, and no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, Borrower may, 

subject to the conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in accordance with Section 2.3 

hereof that such payment be financed as a Revolving Loan in an equivalent amount and, to the 

extent so financed, Borrower’s obligation to make such payment shall be discharged and replaced 

by the resulting Revolving Loan.  

 (e) Obligations Absolute.  Borrower’s obligation to reimburse LC Disbursements as 

provided in paragraph (d) of this Section shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall 

be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all 

circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter 

of Credit or this Agreement, or any term or provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document 

presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any 

statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment by Lender under a Letter 

of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the terms of 

such Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar 

to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section, constitute a legal or 

equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff against, Borrower’s obligations hereunder.  

Neither Lender nor any of its Related Parties, shall have any liability or responsibility by reason 

of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of Credit, any payment or failure to 

make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding 

sentence), or any error, omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any 

draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any Letter of Credit (including any 

document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in interpretation of technical terms, 

any error in translation or any consequence arising from causes beyond the control of Lender; 

provided that the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse Lender from liability to Borrower to 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-28- 

the extent of any direct damages (as opposed to special, indirect, consequential or punitive 

damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by Borrower to the extent permitted by 

applicable law) suffered by Borrower that are caused by Lender’s failure to exercise care when 

determining whether drafts and other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with 

the terms thereof.  The parties hereto expressly agree that, in the absence of gross negligence or 

willful misconduct on the part of Lender (as finally determined by a court of competent 

jurisdiction), Lender shall be deemed to have exercised care in each such determination.  In 

furtherance of the foregoing and without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that, with 

respect to documents presented which appear on their face to be in substantial compliance with 

the terms of a Letter of Credit, Lender may, in its sole discretion, either accept and make payment 

upon such documents without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or 

information to the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such 

documents are not in strict compliance with the terms of such Letter of Credit. 

 (f) Disbursement Procedures.  Lender shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, 

examine all documents purporting to represent a demand for payment under a Letter of Credit.  

Lender shall promptly after such examination notify Borrower by telephone (confirmed by fax or 

through an Electronic System) of such demand for payment if Lender has made or will make an 

LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall 

not relieve Borrower of its obligation to reimburse Lender with respect to any such 

LC Disbursement. 

 (g) Cash Collateralization.  If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the 

Business Day that Borrower receives notice from Lender demanding the deposit of cash collateral 

pursuant to this paragraph, Borrower shall deposit in an account with Lender, in the name and for 

the benefit of Lender (the “LC Collateral Account”), an amount in cash equal to 105% of the 

amount of the LC Exposure as of such date plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon; provided that 

the obligation to deposit such cash collateral shall become effective immediately, and such deposit 

shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or other notice of any kind, upon the 

occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to Borrower described in Section 6.1(c) or 

Section 6.1(f) hereof.  Lender shall have exclusive dominion and control, including the exclusive 

right of withdrawal, over the LC Collateral Account and Borrower hereby grants Lender a security 

interest in the LC Collateral Account and all moneys or other assets on deposit therein or credited 

thereto.  Other than any interest earned on the investment of such deposits, which investments shall 

be made at the option and sole discretion of Lender and at Borrower’s risk and expense, such 

deposits shall not bear interest.  Interest or profits, if any, on such investments shall accumulate in 

such account.  Moneys in such account shall be applied by Lender for LC Disbursements for which 

it has not been reimbursed, together with related fees, costs, and customary processing charges,  

and, to the extent not so applied, shall be held for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations 

of Borrower for the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated, 

be applied to satisfy other Obligations.  If Borrower is required to provide an amount of cash 

collateral hereunder as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent 

not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to Borrower within three (3) Business Days after all 

such Events of Default have been cured or waived as confirmed in writing by Lender. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-29- 

 Section 2.18. Inability to Determine Rates; Illegality.  Subject to Section 2.19, if, on or 

prior to the first day of any Interest Period for any SOFR Loan: 

 (a) Lender determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding 

absent manifest error) that “1M SOFR” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition 

thereof, or 

 (b) Lender determines, in consultation with the Borrower, that for any reason 

in connection with any request for a SOFR Loan or a conversion thereto or a continuation 

thereof that 1M SOFR for any requested Interest Period with respect to a proposed SOFR 

Loan does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to Lender of funding such Loan, or 

 (c) if Lender determines that any Law has made it unlawful, or that any 

Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for Lender or its applicable 

lending office to make, maintain or fund Loans whose interest is determined by reference 

to SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or 1M SOFR, or to determine or charge interest 

rates based upon SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or 1M SOFR, then, upon notice 

thereof by Lender to Borrower any obligation of Lender to make SOFR Loans, and any 

right of the Borrower to continue SOFR Loans shall be suspended, in each case until Lender 

notifies Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist.  

Upon receipt of such notice, the Borrower shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, upon 

demand from Lender, prepay or, if applicable, convert all SOFR Loans to Loans that bear 

interest at the Base Rate, on the last day of the Interest Period therefor, if Lender may 

lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Loans to such day, or immediately, if Lender 

may not lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Loans to such day.  Upon any such 

prepayment or conversion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so 

prepaid or converted, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to 

Section 2.20; then 

Lender will promptly so notify the Borrower.   

Upon notice thereof by Lender to the Borrower, any obligation of Lender to make SOFR 

Loans, shall be suspended (to the extent of the affected SOFR Loans or affected Interest Periods) 

until Lender revokes such notice.  Upon receipt of such notice, (i) the Borrower may revoke any 

pending request for a borrowing of SOFR Loans (to the extent of the affected SOFR Loans or 

affected Interest Periods) or, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such 

request into a request for a Borrowing of Loans that bear interest at the Base Rate in the amount 

specified therein and (ii) any outstanding affected SOFR Loans will be deemed to have been 

converted into Loans that bear interest at the Base Rate at the end of the applicable Interest Period.  

Upon any such conversion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so 

converted, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 2.20.  

 Section 2.19. Benchmark Replacement Setting.   

(a) Benchmark Replacement.  (i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in 

any other Basic Document (and any agreement executed in connection with a Swap Agreement 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-30- 

shall be deemed not to be a “Basic Document” for purposes of this Section titled “Benchmark 

Replacement Setting”), if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement 

Date have occurred prior to any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (A) if a Benchmark 

Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of “Benchmark 

Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace 

such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic Document in respect of such 

Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further 

action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Basic Document and (B) if a 

Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (2) of the definition of 

“Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark 

Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic 

Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the 

fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the 

Borrower without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this 

Agreement or any other Basic Document. 

 (ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes.  In connection with the use, 

administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, Lender will have the 

right, in consultation with the Borrower, to make Conforming Changes from time to time and, 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Basic Document, any amendments 

implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or 

consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Basic Document.  

 (iii) Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Lender will promptly 

notify the Borrower of (A) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, and (B) the 

effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or 

implementation of a Benchmark Replacement.  The Lender will notify the Borrower of (x) the 

removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to paragraph (iv) below and (y) 

the commencement of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or 

election that may be made by the Lender pursuant to this Section, including any determination 

with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, 

circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, 

will be conclusive and binding  absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion 

and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Basic Document except, 

in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section. 

 (iv) Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

herein or in any other Basic Document, at any time (including in connection with the 

implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (A) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate 

or based on a term rate and either (I) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or 

other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Lender in 

its reasonable discretion or (II) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark 

has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such 

Benchmark is not or will not be representative, then the Lender may modify the definition of 

“Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after 

such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor; and (B) if a tenor that was 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-31- 

removed pursuant to clause (A) above either (I) is subsequently displayed on a screen or 

information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (II) is not, or is no 

longer, subject to an announcement that it is not or will not be representative for a Benchmark 

(including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Lender may, in consultation with the Borrower, 

modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for all 

Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor. 

 (v) Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the 

commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period with respect to a given Benchmark, the 

Borrower may revoke any pending request for a Loan bearing interest based on or with reference 

to such Benchmark or conversion to or continuation of Loans bearing interest based on or with 

reference to such Benchmark to be made, converted or continued during any Benchmark 

Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such 

request into a request for a Base Rate Loan or conversion to a Base Rate Loan. During a 

Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not 

an Available Tenor, the component of the Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or 

such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of the Base 

Rate. 

 (vi) Definitions. As used in this Section: 

“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-

current Benchmark, as applicable, if such Benchmark (a) is 1M SOFR, one month, and (b) 

is a term rate, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used 

for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement as of such date 

and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor of such Benchmark that is then-

removed from the definition of “Interest Period” pursuant to clause (iv) of this Section.  

“Benchmark” means, initially, SOFR and 1M SOFR; provided that if a Benchmark 

Transition Event has occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, then 

“Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such 

Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to this Section. 

“Benchmark Replacement” means, with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event, 

the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Lender for 

the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date: 

(1) Daily Simple SOFR;  

(2) the sum of (A) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by 

the Lender and the Borrower, giving due consideration to (x) any selection or 

recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for 

determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (y) any evolving or 

then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a 

replacement to the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-32- 

credit facilities at such time and (B) the related Benchmark Replacement 

Adjustment;  

provided that if the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to the 

foregoing would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be 

deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Basic 

Documents; and provided further, that any Benchmark Replacement shall be 

administratively feasible as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion. 

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of 

the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread 

adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may 

be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Lender and the 

Borrower, giving due consideration to (A) any selection or recommendation of a spread 

adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the 

replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement 

by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B) any evolving or then-prevailing market 

convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining 

such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable 

Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated credit 

facilities at such time. 

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means a date and time determined by the Lender, 

which date shall be no later than the earliest to occur of the following events with respect 

to the then-current Benchmark:   

 

(1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark 

Transition Event,” the later of (A) the date of the public statement or publication of 

information referenced therein and (B) the date on which the administrator of such 

Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) 

permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide such Benchmark (or such component 

thereof) or, if such Benchmark is a term rate or is based on a term rate, all Available 

Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or 

(2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition 

Event,” the date determined by the Lender, which date shall promptly follow the 

date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein;  

For the avoidance of doubt, if such Benchmark is a term rate or is based on a term 

rate, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the 

case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the 

applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available 

Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation 

thereof). 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-33- 

“Benchmark Transition Event” means, the occurrence of one or more of the 

following events, with respect to the then-current Benchmark: 

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of 

the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the 

calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to 

provide such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or, if such Benchmark is a 

term rate or is based on a term rate, all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or 

such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of 

such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue 

to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); 

(2) a public statement or publication of information by a Governmental 

Authority having jurisdiction over the Lender, the regulatory supervisor for the 

administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the 

calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Reserve Bank of New 

York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such 

Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the 

administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with 

similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such 

Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such 

Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide such 

Benchmark (or such component thereof) or, if such Benchmark is a term rate or is 

based on a term rate, all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component 

thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or 

publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide such 

Benchmark (or such component thereof) or, if such Benchmark is a term rate or is 

based on a term rate, any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component 

thereof); or 

(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory 

supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component 

used in the calculation thereof) or a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction 

over the Lender announcing that such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or, 

if such Benchmark is a term rate or is based on a term rate, all Available Tenors of 

such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are not, or as of a specified future 

date will not be, representative. 

For the avoidance of doubt, if such Benchmark is a term rate or is based on 

a term rate, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with 

respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set 

forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such 

Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof). 

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the 

time that a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark 

Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-34- 

under any Basic Document in accordance with this Section 2.19 titled “Benchmark 

Replacement Setting” and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has 

replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic 

Document in accordance with this Section 2.19 titled “Benchmark Replacement Setting.”  

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement 

initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal 

of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to 1M SOFR, or, if no floor is specified, zero.  

 

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal 

Reserve System and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially 

endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and/or the 

Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto. 

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark 

Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. 

 Section 2.20. Compensation for Losses.  In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of 

any SOFR Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a 

result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any SOFR Loan other than on the last day of 

the Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), or (c) the failure 

to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any SOFR Loan on the date specified in any notice 

delivered pursuant hereto, then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for 

any loss, cost and expense attributable to such event, including any loss, cost or expense arising 

from the liquidation or redeployment of funds.  A certificate of any Lender setting forth any 

amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered 

to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  The Borrower shall pay such Lender 

the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof. 

ARTICLE 3 

 

CONDITIONS 

 Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.  The obligation of Lender to make 

Loans and to issue Letters of Credit hereunder shall not become effective until the date on which 

each of the following conditions is satisfied: 

 (a) Opinions.  Lender shall have received from Borrower’s legal counsel an 

opinion, addressed to Lender and dated as of the Closing Date, as to the due authorization, 

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and as to the 

validity and enforceability with respect to the Borrower of this Agreement and the other 

Basic Documents, the pledge of Net Revenues securing the Obligations constituting a valid 

pledge in accordance with Section 2.15 hereof, and such other matters as Lender may 

reasonably request, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender and its counsel. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-35- 

 (b) Documents.  (i) Lender has received executed copies of the Basic 

Documents executed by Borrower on the Closing Date or prior to the Closing Date if 

certified by the Clerk of the Board or any Authorized Representative of the Borrower, as 

applicable, as being complete and in full force and effect on and as of the Closing Date.  

 (ii) Lender has received a certified copy of the Joint Powers Agreement, 

representative examples satisfactory to it of PPAs entered into as of the Closing Date, and 

the Resolution. 

 (c) Defaults; Representations and Warranties.  On and as of the Closing Date, 

the representations of Borrower set forth in Article Four hereof are true and correct in all 

material respects on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made 

on and as of such date and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing 

or would result from the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, 

each as certified to by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower.  

 (d) No Litigation.  No action, suit, investigation or proceeding is pending 

(notice of which has been properly served on the Borrower) or, to the knowledge of 

Borrower, threatened (i) in connection with the Basic Documents or any transactions 

contemplated thereby or (ii) against or affecting Borrower, the result of which could have 

a Material Adverse Effect. 

 (e) No Material Adverse Change.  Since the date of the audited financial 

statements dated as of June 30, 2024, (i) no Material Adverse Change has occurred in the 

status of the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower or its 

ability to perform its obligations under the Basic Documents and (ii) to the best of its 

knowledge, no law, regulation, ruling or other action (or interpretation or administration 

thereof) of the United States, the State of California or any political subdivision or authority 

therein or thereof is in effect or has occurred, the effect of which would be to prevent 

Lender from fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement or the Letters of Credit. 

 (f) Certificate. Lender has received (i) certified copies of all proceedings of 

Borrower authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Basic Documents and 

the transactions contemplated thereby and (ii) a certificate or certificates of one or more 

Authorized Representatives dated the Closing Date certifying the accuracy of the 

statements made in Section 3.1(c), (d), and (e) hereof and further certifying the name, 

incumbency and signature of each individual authorized to sign this Agreement, the Fee 

Agreement and the other documents or certificates to be delivered by Borrower pursuant 

hereto or thereto, on which certification Lender may conclusively rely until a revised 

certificate is similarly delivered, and that the conditions precedent set forth in this 

Section 3.1 have been satisfied. 

 (g) Payment of Fees.  Lender has received all fees and expenses due and 

payable to Lender and/or its legal counsel pursuant to the Fee Agreement. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-36- 

 (h) Financial Statements.  Lender has received the audited financial statements 

dated as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2024, and internally prepared quarterly budget 

reports of Borrower for the most recent fiscal quarter end, if not previously provided, in 

form and substance satisfactory to Lender. 

 (i) Budget.  Lender has received copies of the current financial information, 

budgets, or projections, as requested by Lender. 

 (j) Other Matters.  Lender has received such other statements, certificates, 

agreements, documents and information with respect to Borrower and matters 

contemplated by this Agreement as Lender may have requested. 

 Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to each Credit Event.  The obligation of Lender to 

make a Loan on the occasion of any Borrowing, and of Lender to issue, amend, renew or extend 

any Letter of Credit, is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions: 

 (a) The representations and warranties of Borrower set forth in Article 4 of this 

Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the date of such Borrowing or the date of 

issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicable. 

 (b) At the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Borrowing or the 

issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicable, no 

Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 

 (c) It has provided Lender with a completed Borrowing Request substantially 

in the form of Exhibit B hereto. 

Each Borrowing and each issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of a Letter of Credit 

shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by Borrower on the date thereof as to 

the matters specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section. 

ARTICLE 4 

 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

In order to induce Lender to make Loans and issue the Letters of Credit, Borrower 

represents and warrants to Lender as follows: 

 Section 4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc.  Borrower (a) is a public agency formed under 

the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act and serves as a community choice aggregator 

on behalf of its Members pursuant to California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2 and; (b) has 

full and adequate power to own its Property and conduct its business as now conducted, and is 

duly licensed or qualified in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it 

or the nature of the Property owned or leased by it requires such licensing or qualifying unless the 

failure to be so licensed or qualified could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 

Effect. Borrower (a) has the agency power to (i) execute, deliver and perform its obligations under 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-37- 

the Basic Documents; and (ii) provide for the security of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement 

pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Act and California Government Code section 5451; and 

(b) has complied with all Laws in all matters related to such actions of Borrower as are 

contemplated by the Basic Documents unless the failure to so comply could not reasonably be 

expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 Section 4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc.  The execution, delivery and 

performance by Borrower of the Basic Documents (a) have been duly authorized by all necessary 

action on the part of Borrower, (b) do not conflict with, or result in a violation of, any Laws, 

including the Joint Powers Agreement, or any order, writ, rule or regulation of any court or 

governmental agency or instrumentality binding upon or applicable to Borrower which conflict or 

violation would result in a Material Adverse Effect and (c) do not conflict with, result in a violation 

of, or constitute a default under, any resolution, agreement or instrument to which Borrower is a 

party or by which Borrower or any of its property is bound which, in any case, would result in a 

Material Adverse Effect. 

 Section 4.3. Binding Obligations.  The Basic Documents are valid and binding obligations 

of Borrower (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto) 

enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent, if 

any, that the enforceability thereof may be limited by (i) any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization, moratorium or other similar law of the State or Federal government affecting the 

enforcement of creditors’ rights generally heretofore or hereafter enacted, (ii) the fact that 

enforcement may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and 

(iii) the limitations on legal remedies against public agencies of the State. 

 Section 4.4. Governmental Consent or Approval.  No consent, approval, permit, 

authorization or order of, or registration or filing with, any court or government agency, authority 

or other instrumentality not already obtained, given or made is required on the part of Borrower 

for execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of the Basic Documents. 

 Section 4.5. Absence of Material Litigation.  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry 

or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, arbitrator or governmental or other 

board, body or official pending and for which the Borrower has received service of process or, to 

the best knowledge of Borrower, threatened against or affecting Borrower questioning the validity 

of the Joint Powers Agreement, the execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of the Basic 

Documents or any proceeding taken or to be taken by Borrower or the Board in connection 

therewith, or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the execution, delivery and performance by 

Borrower of the Basic Documents, or which could reasonably be expected to result in any Material 

Adverse Effect (any such action or proceeding being herein referred to as “Material Litigation”). 

 Section 4.6. Financial Condition.  The most recent audited financial statements of the 

Borrower delivered to Lender (the “Audited Financial Statements”) were prepared in accordance 

with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved and were subject to 

certification by independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing or by 

independent certified public accountants otherwise acceptable to Lender. The most recent 

unaudited financial statements of the System delivered to Lender were prepared on a consistent 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-38- 

basis and in accordance with GAAP (except for the omission of a cash flow statement and 

footnotes). The data on which such financial statements and budget reports are based were true 

and correct in all material respects. The Audited Financial Statements and the budget reports 

present fairly the net position of the System as of the date they purport to represent and the 

revenues, expenses and changes in fund balances and in net position for the periods then ended.  

 Section 4.7. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties.  The representations and 

warranties of Borrower set forth in the Basic Documents (other than this Agreement and the Fee 

Agreement) are true and accurate in all material respects on the Closing Date, as fully as though 

made on the Closing Date. Borrower makes, as of the Closing Date, each of such representations 

and warranties to, and for the benefit of, Lender, as if the same were set forth at length in this 

Section 4.7 together with all applicable definitions thereto. No amendment, modification or 

termination of any such representations, warranties or definitions contained in the Basic 

Documents (other than this Agreement and the Fee Agreement) will be effective to amend, modify 

or terminate the representations, warranties and definitions incorporated in this Section 4.7 by this 

reference, without the prior written consent of Lender. 

 Section 4.8. Accuracy and Completeness of Information.  The Basic Documents and all 

certificates, financial statements, documents and other written information furnished to Lender by 

or on behalf of Borrower in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby were, as of their 

respective dates, complete and correct in all material respects to the extent necessary to give Lender 

true and accurate knowledge of the subject matter thereof and did not contain any untrue statement 

of a material fact. 

 Section 4.9. No Default.  (a) No Default or Event of Default under this Agreement has 

occurred and is continuing. 

 (b) No “event of default” with respect to Borrower has occurred and is continuing under 

any other material mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement or undertaking respecting the System 

(including, but not limited to, any PPA) to which Borrower is a party or which purports to be 

binding on Borrower or on any of the property of Borrower. 

 Section 4.10. No Proposed Legal Changes.  There is no amendment or, to the knowledge 

of Borrower, proposed amendment to the Constitution of the State, any State law or the Joint 

Powers Agreement or any administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State, any State 

law, or the Joint Powers Agreement, or any judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, the 

effect of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 Section 4.11. Compliance with Laws, Etc.  Borrower is in compliance with the Investment 

Policy and all Laws applicable to Borrower, non-compliance with which could reasonably be 

expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  In addition, no benefit plan maintained by Borrower 

for its employees is subject to the provisions of ERISA, and Borrower is in compliance with all 

Laws in respect of each such benefit plan, non-compliance with which could reasonably be 

expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-39- 

 Section 4.12. Environmental Matters.  Borrower has not taken any action in the operation 

of the System that would constitute a violation of any Environmental Laws and which violation 

could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

 Section 4.13. Regulation U.  Borrower is not engaged in the business of extending credit 

for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U issued 

by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System). 

 Section 4.14. Liens.  This Agreement creates a valid Lien on and pledge of Net Revenues 

to secure the payment and performance of Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement and the 

Fee Agreement, and no filings, recordings, registrations or other actions are necessary on the part 

of Borrower, Lender or any other Person to create or perfect such Lien. Except for the pledge of 

and Lien on Net Revenues contained in this Agreement, there is no outstanding pledge of or Lien 

on Net Revenues. 

 Section 4.15. Sovereign Immunity.  Pursuant to California Government Code Section 900 

et seq., the Borrower is subject to claims and to suit for damages in connection with its obligations 

under this Agreement and any other Basic Document pursuant to and in accordance with the laws 

of the State applicable to governmental entities such as the Borrower and, for the avoidance of 

doubt, is not entitled to immunity from legal proceedings to enforce the Basic Documents 

(including, without limitation, immunity from service of process or immunity from jurisdiction of 

any court otherwise having jurisdiction). 

 Section 4.16. Usury.  The terms of the Basic Documents regarding the calculation and 

payment of interest and fees do not violate any applicable usury laws of the State. 

 Section 4.17. Insurance.  As of the Closing Date, Borrower maintains such insurance, 

including self-insurance, as is required by Section 5.1(k) hereof. 

 Section 4.18. ERISA.  Borrower does not maintain or contribute to, and has not maintained 

or contributed to, any Employee Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA.   

 Section 4.19. [Sanctions Concerns, International Trade Laws and Anti-Corruption Laws.  

(a) The Borrower, and its directors and officers, and any employee, agent, or affiliate acting on 

behalf of the Borrower:  (a) is not a Sanctioned Person; (b) does not do any business in or with, or 

derive any of its operating income from direct or indirect investments in or transactions involving, 

any Sanctioned Jurisdiction or Sanctioned Person; and (c) is not in violation of, and has not, during 

the past five (5) years, directly or indirectly, taken any act that could cause the Borrower to be in 

violation of applicable International Trade Laws.  Neither the Borrower nor any of its directors, 

officers, employees, or to the knowledge of the Borrower, its agents or affiliates acting on behalf 

of the Borrower has, during the past five (5) years, received any notice or communication from 

any Person that alleges, or has been involved in an internal investigation involving any allegations 

relating to, potential violation of any International Trade Laws, or has received a request for 

information from any Governmental Authority regarding International Trade Law matters.  The 

Borrower has instituted and maintains policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-40- 

compliance with applicable International Trade Laws.  The Borrower represents and warrants that 

there is no Blocked Property pledged pursuant to Section 2.15 of this Agreement.]14 

 (b) The Borrower, and its directors and officers, and any employee, agent, or affiliate 

acting on behalf of the Borrower, is not in violation of, and has not, during the past five (5) years, 

directly or indirectly, taken any act that could cause the Borrower to be in violation of Anti-

Corruption Laws, including any act in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, 

authorization, or ratification of payment, directly or indirectly, of any money or anything of value 

(including any gift, sample, rebate, travel, meal and lodging expense, entertainment, service, 

equipment, debt forgiveness, donation, grant or other thing of value, however characterized) to 

any Government Official or any other Person to secure any improper advantage or to obtain or 

retain business.  Neither the Borrower nor any of its directors, officers, employees, or to the 

knowledge of the Borrower, its agents or affiliates acting on behalf of the Borrower has, during 

the past five (5) years, received any notice or communication from any Person that alleges, or has 

been involved in an internal investigation involving any allegations relating to, potential violation 

of any Anti-Corruption Laws, or has received a request for information from any Governmental 

Authority regarding Anti-Corruption Law matters.  The Borrower has instituted and maintains 

policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws. 

 Section 4.20. Debt of Borrower.  As of the Closing Date, Borrower has not incurred or 

issued any Debt of Borrower that will remain outstanding as of the Closing Date other than the 

Debt of Borrower created under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 5 

 

COVENANTS 

 Section 5.1. Affirmative Covenants.  Until the Commitment has expired or been 

terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have 

been paid in full and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without 

any pending draw, and all LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed, Borrower covenants and 

agrees with Lender that: 

 (a) Accounting and Reports.  Borrower shall maintain a standard system of 

accounting in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and furnish to Lender: 

 (i) as soon as available, and in any event within sixty (60) days after 

each fiscal quarter of Borrower, an unaudited balance sheet of Borrower, as of the 

last day of the quarterly period then ended and the statements of income, retained 

earnings and cash flows of Borrower for the four (4) fiscal quarter periods then 

ended, prepared in accordance with GAAP (except for the omission of a cash flow 

statement and footnotes) and in a form acceptable to Lender; 

 
14  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-41- 

 (ii) as soon as available, and in any event within six (6) months after the 

close of each Fiscal Year of Borrower, a copy of the audited balance sheet of 

Borrower, as of the last day of the Fiscal Year then ended and the statements of 

income, retained earnings and cash flows of Borrower for the Fiscal Year then 

ended, and accompanying notes thereto, each in reasonable detail showing in 

comparative form the figures for the previous Fiscal Year, accompanied by an 

unqualified opinion thereon of Borrower’s independent public accountants, to the 

effect that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP 

and present fairly in accordance with GAAP the financial condition of Borrower as 

of the close of such Fiscal Year and the results of its operations and cash flows for 

the Fiscal Year then ended and that an examination of such accounts in connection 

with such financial statements has been made in accordance with generally 

accepted auditing standards and, accordingly, such examination included such tests 

of the accounting records and such other auditing procedures as were considered 

necessary in the circumstances; 

 (iii) promptly after receipt thereof, any additional written reports, 

management letters or other detailed information contained in writing concerning 

significant aspects of Borrower’s operations and financial affairs given to it by its 

independent public accountants; 

 (iv) promptly after knowledge thereof shall have come to the attention 

of any responsible officer of Borrower, written notice of any litigation threatened 

in writing or any pending litigation or governmental proceeding or labor 

controversy against Borrower which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be 

expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or result in the occurrence of any 

Default or Event of Default hereunder; 

 (v) as soon as available, and in any event within forty-five (45) days of 

adoption, Borrower shall provide Lender its annual budget;  

 (vi) reserved; 

 (vii) promptly after receipt thereof, representative copies of each PPA 

entered into by Borrower;  

 (viii) reserved;  

 (ix) immediately upon any such occurrence, written notice as to the 

dissolution of the Lockbox Account and/or termination of the Security Agreement; 

and  

 (x) promptly after the request therefor, all such other information as 

Lender may reasonably request. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-42- 

Each of the financial statements furnished to Lender pursuant to subsection (a)(i) and (ii) 

of this Section 5.1 shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate, substantially in the 

form of Exhibit A hereto, signed by an Authorized Representative stating that no Event of 

Default or Default has occurred or if any Event of Default or Default has occurred, 

specifying the nature of such Event of Default or Default, the period of its existence, the 

nature and status thereof and any remedial steps taken or proposed to correct such Event 

of Default or Default and, in connection with the financial statements furnished to Lender 

pursuant to subsection (a)(i), compliance with Section 5.1(q). 

 (b) Access to Records.  At any reasonable time and from time to time, during 

normal business hours and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, 

on at least five (5) Business Days’ notice, Borrower shall permit Lender or any of its agents 

or representatives to visit and inspect any of the properties of Borrower and the other assets 

of Borrower, to examine the books of account of Borrower (and to make copies thereof 

and extracts therefrom), and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of Borrower with, 

and to be advised as to the same by, its officers, all at such reasonable times and intervals 

as Lender may reasonably request. 

 (c) Compliance with Basic Documents; Operation and Maintenance of System.  

(i) Borrower shall perform and comply with each covenant set forth in the Basic 

Documents and any other agreements, instruments or documents evidencing Parity Debt 

or Subordinate Debt. By the terms of this Agreement, Lender is hereby made a third party 

beneficiary of the covenants set forth in each of the Basic Documents (other than this 

Agreement and the Fee Agreement), and each such covenant, together with the related 

definitions of terms contained therein, is incorporated by reference in this Section 5.1(c) 

with the same effect as if it were set forth herein in its entirety. Except as otherwise set 

forth in paragraph (ii) below and in Section 5.2(a) hereof, Borrower will not amend, 

supplement or otherwise modify (or permit any of the foregoing), or request or agree to 

any consent or waiver under, or effect or permit the cancellation, acceleration or 

termination of, or release or permit the release of any collateral held under any of the Basic 

Documents in any manner without the prior written consent of Lender, and Borrower shall 

take, or cause to be taken, all such actions as may be reasonably requested by Lender to 

strictly enforce the obligations of the other parties to any of the Basic Documents, as well 

as each of the covenants set forth therein. Borrower shall give prior written notice to Lender 

of any action referred to in this subparagraph (i). 

 (ii) Borrower will enter into, perform and maintain such contractual 

relationships and PPAs as are necessary for Borrower to provide Product and such other 

services and resources as are necessary for the operation of the System. 

 (d) Defaults.  Borrower shall notify Lender of any Default or Event of Default 

of which Borrower has knowledge, as soon as possible and, in any event, within three (3) 

Business Days of acquiring knowledge thereof, setting forth the details of such Default or 

Event of Default and the action which Borrower has taken and proposes to take with respect 

thereto. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-43- 

 (e) [Compliance with Laws.  Borrower shall comply in all material respects 

with all Laws binding upon or applicable to Borrower (including Environmental Laws) and 

material to the Basic Documents. Borrower will maintain in effect and enforce policies and 

procedures designed to ensure compliance by Borrower and its respective directors, 

officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Law, Anti-Money Laundering, and 

International Trade Laws. Borrower will not use or allow any tenants or subtenants to use 

its Property for any business activity that violates any federal or state law or that supports 

a business that violates any federal or state law.]15 

 (f) Reserved. 

 (g) Notices.  Borrower shall promptly give notice to Lender of any action, suit 

or proceeding actually known to it at law or in equity or by or before any court, 

governmental instrumentality or other agency which, if adversely determined, would 

materially impair the ability of Borrower to perform its obligations under any Basic 

Document. 

 (h) Reserved.  

 (i) Further Assurances.  Borrower shall execute, acknowledge where 

appropriate and deliver, and cause to be executed, acknowledged where appropriate and 

delivered, from time to time, promptly at the request of Lender, all such instruments and 

documents as are usual and customary or advisable to carry out the intent and purpose of 

the Basic Documents. 

 (j) Additional Notices.  Borrower shall promptly furnish, or cause to be 

furnished, to Lender (i) notice of the occurrence of (x) any “default” or “event of default” 

or “termination event” under any Basic Document (other than this Agreement and the Fee 

Agreement), or (y) any event of default under a PPA that could have a Material Adverse 

Effect, (ii) copies of any communications received from any Governmental Authority with 

respect to the transactions contemplated by the Basic Documents or any other Debt of 

Borrower which are not restricted or prohibited from being shared with Lender under the 

law or the direction of a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority, 

(iii) notice of any proposed modification to any Lockbox Security Document, (iv) notice 

of any proposed substitution of any Letter of Credit, and (v) notice of the passage of any 

state or local Law not of general applicability to all Persons of which Borrower has 

knowledge, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

 (k) Maintenance of Insurance.  Borrower shall maintain, or cause to be 

maintained, at all times, insurance on and with respect to its properties with responsible 

and reputable insurance companies; provided, however, that Borrower may maintain 

self-insurance coverage from a California public agency risk pool. Such insurance must 

include casualty, liability and workers’ compensation and be in amounts and with 

 
15  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-44- 

deductibles and exclusions customary and reasonable for governmental entities of similar 

size and with similar operations as Borrower. Borrower shall, upon request of Lender, 

furnish evidence of such insurance to Lender. Borrower shall also procure and maintain at 

all times adequate fidelity insurance or bonds on all officers and employees handling or 

responsible for any Revenues or funds of the System, such insurance or bond to be in an 

aggregate amount at least equal to the maximum amount of such Revenues or funds at any 

one time in the custody of all such officers and employees or in the amount of one million 

dollars ($1,000,000), whichever is less. The insurance described above may be provided as 

part of any comprehensive fidelity and other insurance and not separately for the System. 

 (l) Preservation of Security.  Borrower shall take any and all actions necessary 

to preserve and defend the pledge of Net Revenues set forth in this Agreement. 

 (m) Rates.  Borrower shall fix, establish, maintain and collect rates and charges 

for electric power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, furnished 

or supplied through the facilities of the System, which shall be set in accordance with 

applicable law and shall be sufficient to provide Borrower with Revenues in each Fiscal 

Year sufficient to pay, to the extent not paid from other available moneys, any and all 

amounts Borrower is obligated to pay or set aside from Revenues by law or contract in 

such Fiscal Year (including, without limitation, all Obligations when due hereunder). 

 (n) Budget.  Borrower shall include in each annual budget of Borrower all 

amounts reasonably anticipated to be necessary to pay all obligations due to Lender 

hereunder and under the Fee Agreement. If the amounts so budgeted are not adequate for 

the payment of the obligations due hereunder and under the Fee Agreement, Borrower shall 

take such action as may be necessary to cause such annual budget to be amended, corrected 

or augmented so as to include therein the amounts required to be paid to Lender during the 

course of the Fiscal Year to which such annual budget applies. 

 (o) Payment of Taxes, Etc.  Borrower shall pay and discharge, or cause to be 

paid and discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 

hereafter be lawfully imposed upon Borrower on account of the System or any portion 

thereof and which, if unpaid, might impair the security of this Agreement and the Fee 

Agreement, but nothing herein contained will require Borrower to pay any such tax, 

assessment or charge so long as it in good faith contests the validity thereof. Borrower shall 

duly observe and comply with all valid material requirements of any Governmental 

Authority relative to the System or any part thereof. 

 (p) Lockbox Security Documents and PPAs.  Borrower shall perform and 

comply with all its agreements and covenants set forth in the Lockbox Security Documents 

and the PPAs.  Borrower will not amend, supplement or otherwise modify (or permit any 

of the foregoing) any Lockbox Security Document in any manner that could reasonably be 

expected to have a materially adverse effect on the interests of Lender without the prior 

written consent of Lender, and Borrower shall take, or cause to be taken, all such actions 

as may be reasonably requested by Lender to strictly enforce the obligations of the other 

parties to any of the Lockbox Security Documents, as well as each of the covenants set 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-45- 

forth therein. Borrower shall give prior written notice to Lender of any proposed action 

referred to in this subparagraph (p). 

 (q) Minimum Liquidity.  Borrower shall at all times maintain the Minimum 

Liquidity Requirement.  The Minimum Liquidity Requirement shall be tested as of the last 

day of each fiscal quarter of Borrower, commencing with the last day of the fiscal quarter 

ending December 31, 2025.   

 (r) Reserve Policy.  Borrower shall comply with the terms of its Reserve Policy 

in all respects and shall not amend such Reserve Policy without the prior written consent 

of Lender, which such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 (s) Use of Proceeds.  The proceeds of the Loans will be used only for the 

purposes expressly provided for in this Agreement.  No part of the proceeds of any Loan 

and no Letter of Credit will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that 

entails a violation of any of the regulations of the Federal Reserve Board, including 

Regulations T, U and X. Letters of Credit will be issued only for the purposes described in 

Section 2.17(a).   

 (t) Reserved. 

 (u) [Anti-Corruption Laws; Anti-Money Laundering Laws; and International 

Trade Laws.  The Borrower covenants and agrees that it shall: (a) immediately notify the 

Lender in writing upon the occurrence of a Reportable Compliance Event; and (b) conduct 

its business in compliance with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering 

Laws and International Trade Laws and maintain in effect policies and procedures 

reasonably designed to ensure compliance with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-

Money Laundering Laws and International Trade Laws by the Borrower, and its directors 

and officers, and any employee, agent or affiliate acting on behalf of the Borrower in 

connection with this Agreement.]16 

 (v) Operating Accounts.  Borrower shall (i) no later than ninety (90) days after 

the Closing Date, open an operating account with the Lender, (ii) thereafter, cause funds 

received from the Collateral Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(iv) of the Security Agreement 

to be directly deposited into the Operating Account, and otherwise cause its Lockbox 

Account to be swept to an operating account held by Lender on a monthly basis, pursuant 

to documents satisfactory to Lender, and (iii) upon any dissolution of Borrower’s Lockbox 

Account, immediately transfer all funds in Borrower’s Lockbox Account to Borrower’s 

primary operating accounts with Lender. 

 (w) Maintenance of Rating.  Borrower shall cause a long-term unenhanced 

rating to be maintained on its Parity Debt (other than the Obligations) (or, for so long as 

 
16  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-46- 

no long-term unenhanced rated Parity Debt is outstanding, an issuer credit rating) by any 

one of Fitch, Moody’s, or S&P. 

 Section 5.2. Negative Covenants.  Until the Commitment has expired or been terminated 

and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid 

in full and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without any pending 

draw, and all LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed, Borrower covenants and agrees with 

Lender that it will not: 

 (a) No Impairment.  Take any action that would have an adverse effect on (i) the 

ability of Borrower to pay when due amounts owing to Lender or any Participant under 

this Agreement or the Fee Agreement; (ii) the pledge of Net Revenues as security for the 

Obligations or the priority of payments from Net Revenues provided in this Agreement; or 

(iii) the rights or remedies of Lender under the Basic Documents. 

 (b) Merger, Disposition of Assets.  Consolidate or merge with or into any 

Person or sell, lease or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets to any Person. 

 (c) Abandon.  Take any action to abandon the System or any significant portion 

thereof. 

 (d) Preservation of Corporate Existence, Etc.  Take any action to terminate its 

existence as a public agency under the Joint Exercise of Powers Act or its rights and 

privileges as such entity within the State.  Borrower shall not permit the termination of the 

Joint Powers Agreement or the cessation of Borrower’s CCA Program (as defined in the 

Joint Powers Agreement).  

 (e) Liens.  Create or suffer to exist or permit any Lien on the Revenues or the 

proceeds thereof other than the Liens (i) created by this Agreement or the Lockbox Security 

Documents, (ii) securing Debt permitted to be issued under Section 5.2(i) hereof, or (iii) 

securing Swap Agreements to extent permitted under Section 5.2(k) hereof.  

 (f) Sovereign Immunity.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, in 

each case, with respect to its obligations arising under this Agreement or any other Basic 

Document, Borrower irrevocably agrees that it will not assert or claim any immunity on 

the grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds (including, without limitation, 

governmental immunity) from (i) any action, suit or other proceeding arising under or 

relating to this Agreement or any other Basic Document, (ii) relief by way of injunction, 

order for specific performance or writ of mandamus or (iii) execution or enforcement of 

any judgment to which it or its Net Revenues might otherwise be entitled in any such 

action, suit or other proceeding. 

 (g) Preservation of Existence, Etc.  Take any action to accomplish a merger, 

consolidation or combination of the System with any other entity or enterprise. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-47- 

 (h) Use of Proceeds.  Use the Letters of Credit for any purpose other than the 

uses set forth in Section 2.17(a). Use the proceeds of any Loan, whether directly or 

indirectly, and whether immediately, incidentally or ultimately, to purchase or carry margin 

stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal 

Reserve System) or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying 

margin stock or to refund indebtedness originally incurred for such purpose, in each case 

in violation of, or for a purpose which violates, or would be inconsistent with, 

Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Use the 

proceeds for any Loan for any purposes other than (i) to provide cash collateral to secure 

Borrower’s obligations under PPAs, collateral postings with the California Independent 

System Operator and the posting of collateral for regulatory obligations pursuant to the 

requirements of the California Public Utilities Commission, (ii) to repay in whole or in part 

any LC Disbursement, or (iii) for general working capital and operational purposes. For 

the avoidance of doubt, the proceeds of any Loan may not be used for long-term 

expenditures other than long term purchases of Products pursuant to PPA. Use the proceeds 

of any Loan or any Letter of Credit in violation of any Anti-Corruption Law, Anti-Money 

Laundering Law, or International Trade Laws. 

 (i) Debt of Borrower.  Issue, incur, assume or permit to exist any Debt of the 

Borrower other than (x) Parity Debt described in clause (i) below and (y) Subordinate Debt 

described in clause (ii) below. 

 (i) Issue, incur, assume or permit to exist any Parity Debt except (x) the 

Obligations and (y) additional Parity Debt issued or incurred in compliance with 

the following conditions: 

(A) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be 

continuing immediately before and after the issuance or incurrence of such 

Parity Debt; 

(B) such Parity Debt does not exceed at any time any applicable 

limitation set forth in the Constitution of the State, any State law, the Joint 

Powers Agreement or any other resolutions or ordinances adopted by the 

Borrower; 

(C) compliance by the Borrower (i) with the Minimum Liquidity 

Requirement at the time of issuance or incurrence of such Parity Debt and 

(ii) on a pro forma basis with the Minimum Liquidity Requirement as of the 

last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrower immediately succeeding the 

date of issuance, incurrence, assumption or permission of such additional 

Parity Debt, in each case as evidenced by a reasonably detailed calculation 

delivered by the Borrower to the Lender prior to such issuance, incurrence, 

assumption or permission; and 

(D) compliance by the Borrower with either (1) or (2) below: 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-48- 

 (1) delivery of a written certificate of the Borrower: (I) 

setting forth the Net Revenues for the most recent Fiscal Year for 

which audited financial statements are available (in reasonable 

detail and with reasonable assumptions), (II) setting forth Annual 

Debt Service for such Fiscal Year (inclusive of such additional 

Parity Debt and in reasonable detail with reasonable assumptions) 

and (III) demonstrating that the Net Revenues for such Fiscal Year 

were at least equal to 1.10 times the Annual Debt Service for such 

Fiscal Year; provided, that (a) the Borrower and Lender, jointly, 

may adjust Net Revenues to reflect an allowance for any customers 

of the System that are reasonably identifiable, factually supportable 

and were not customers of the System during all or any part of such 

Fiscal Year in an amount equal to the estimated additional Net 

Revenues that would have been derived from each such customer if 

it had been a customer prior to the beginning of such Fiscal Year 

and (b) the Borrower may in good faith, subject to the prior written 

consent of the Lender (which consent may not be unreasonably 

withheld), adjust Net Revenues to reflect an allowance for Net 

Revenues that are reasonably identifiable, factually supportable and 

would have been derived from any increase in rates, fees, and 

charges that became effective prior to the issuance or incurrence of 

such Parity Debt but which was not in effect, during all or any part 

of such Fiscal Year under consideration, in an amount equal to the 

estimated additional Net Revenues that would have been derived 

from such increase in rates, fees, and charges if it had been in effect 

prior to the beginning of such Fiscal Year; or  

 (2) delivery of a written certificate of the Borrower: (I) 

setting forth projected Net Revenues for the next succeeding Fiscal 

Year (in reasonable detail and with reasonable assumptions), (II) 

setting forth projected Annual Debt Service (inclusive of any 

additional Parity Debt and in reasonable detail with reasonable 

assumptions) for such Fiscal Year and (III) demonstrating that the 

projected Net Revenues for such Fiscal Year are projected to be at 

least equal to 1.10 times the Annual Debt Service for such Fiscal 

Year; provided, that the Borrower and Lender, jointly, may adjust 

Net Revenues to reflect (a) an allowance for Net Revenues that are 

reasonably identifiable, factually supportable and estimated to be 

derived from any increase in rates, fees, and charges that have been 

adopted and will be in effect during all or any portion of the period 

for which such projections are provided, (b) an allowance for Net 

Revenues that are reasonably identifiable, factually supportable and 

estimated to be derived from new customers of the System 

anticipated to be served during all or any portion of the period for 

which such projections are provided in an amount equal to the 

additional Net Revenues that are estimated to be derived from such 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-49- 

customers and (c) an allowance for any Net Revenues that are 

reasonably identifiable, factually supportable and associated with 

the acquisition or development of power generation assets. 

(ii) Issue, incur, assume or permit to exist any Subordinate Debt except 

for Subordinate Debt issued or incurred in compliance with the following 

conditions: 

(A) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be 

continuing immediately before and after the issuance or incurrence of such 

Subordinate Debt; 

(B) such Subordinate Debt does not exceed at any time any 

applicable limitation set forth in the Constitution of the State, any State law, 

the Joint Powers Agreement or any other resolutions or ordinances adopted 

by the Borrower; 

(C) compliance by the Borrower (i) with the Minimum Liquidity 

Requirement at the time of issuance or incurrence of such Subordinate Debt 

and (ii) on a pro forma basis with the Minimum Liquidity Requirement as 

of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrower immediately succeeding 

the date of issuance, incurrence, assumption or permission of such 

additional Subordinate Debt, in each case as evidenced by a reasonably 

detailed calculation delivered by the Borrower to the Lender prior to such 

issuance, incurrence, assumption or permission; and 

(D) compliance by the Borrower with either (1) or (2) below: 

(1) delivery of a written certificate of the Borrower: (I) 

setting forth the Net Revenues for the most recent Fiscal Year for 

which audited financial statements are available (in reasonable 

detail and with reasonable assumptions), (II) setting forth Annual 

Debt Service for such Fiscal Year (inclusive of such additional 

Subordinate Debt and in reasonable detail with reasonable 

assumptions) and (III) demonstrating that the Net Revenues for such 

Fiscal Year were at least equal to 1.00 times the Annual Debt 

Service for such Fiscal Year; provided, that (a) the Borrower and 

Lender, jointly, may adjust Net Revenues to reflect an allowance for 

any customers of the System that are reasonably identifiable, 

factually supportable and were not customers of the System during 

all or any part of such Fiscal Year in an amount equal to the 

estimated additional Net Revenues that would have been derived 

from each such customer if it had been a customer prior to the 

beginning of such Fiscal Year and (b) the Borrower may in good 

faith, subject to the prior written consent of the Lender (which 

consent may not be unreasonably withheld), adjust Net Revenues to 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-50- 

reflect an allowance for Net Revenues that are reasonably 

identifiable, factually supportable and would have been derived 

from any increase in rates, fees, and charges that became effective 

prior to the issuance or incurrence of such Subordinate Debt but 

which was not in effect, during all or any part of such Fiscal Year 

under consideration, in an amount equal to the estimated additional 

Net Revenues that would have been derived from such increase in 

rates, fees, and charges if it had been in effect prior to the beginning 

of such Fiscal Year; or  

(2) delivery of a written certificate of the Borrower: (I) 

setting forth projected Net Revenues for the next succeeding Fiscal 

Year (in reasonable detail and with reasonable assumptions), (II) 

setting forth projected Annual Debt Service (inclusive of such 

additional Subordinate Debt and in reasonable detail with 

reasonable assumptions) for such Fiscal Year and (III) 

demonstrating that the projected Net Revenues for such Fiscal Year 

are projected to be at least equal to 1.00 times the Annual Debt 

Service for such Fiscal Year; provided, that the Borrower and 

Lender, jointly, may adjust Net Revenues to reflect (a) an allowance 

for Net Revenues that are reasonably identifiable, factually 

supportable and estimated to be derived from any increase in rates, 

fees, and charges that have been adopted and will be in effect during 

all or any portion of the period for which such projections are 

provided, (b) an allowance for Net Revenues that are reasonably 

identifiable, factually supportable and estimated to be derived from 

new customers of the System anticipated to be served during all or 

any portion of the period for which such projections are provided in 

an amount equal to the additional Net Revenues that are estimated 

to be derived from such customers and (c) an allowance for any Net 

Revenues that are reasonably identifiable, factually supportable and 

associated with the acquisition or development of power generation 

assets. 

 (j) [Anti-Corruption Laws; Anti-Money Laundering Laws; and International 

Trade Laws.  Do any of the following, nor permit any of its or their respective directors, 

officers, employees, agents, or affiliates acting on its or their behalf in connection with this 

Agreement to: (a) become a Sanctioned Person; (b) directly or indirectly, provide, use, or 

make available the proceeds of any Loan hereunder (i) to fund any activities or business 

of, with, or for the benefit of any Person that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is 

a Sanctioned Person, (ii) to fund or facilitate any activities or business of or in any 

Sanctioned Jurisdiction, (iii) in any manner that could result in a violation by any Person 

(including the Lender, any lead arranger, underwriter, advisor, investor, or otherwise) of 

Anti-Corruption Law, Anti-Money Laundering, or International Trade Laws or (iv) in 

violation of any Applicable Law, including, without limitation, any applicable Anti-

Corruption Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law or International Trade Law; (c) repay the 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-51- 

Loan with Blocked Property or funds derived from any unlawful activity; or (d) permit any 

of the Net Revenues to become Blocked Property.]17 

 (k) Swap Agreements.  Not enter into any Swap Agreement, without prior 

approval from the Lender, except (a) Swap Agreements entered into to hedge or mitigate 

risks to which Borrower has actual exposure, and (b) Swap Agreements entered into in 

order to effectively cap, collar or exchange interest rates (from floating to fixed rates, from 

one floating rate to another floating rate or otherwise) with respect to any interest-bearing 

liability or investment of Borrower, and, in each case, the termination payments under 

which are not secured by any Lien on any portion of Borrower’s Net Revenues on a basis 

pari passu or senior to the Lien on Borrower’s Net Revenues securing the payment of 

Obligations hereunder or under the Fee Agreement, provided, however, that it is 

understood that PPAs are regularly entered into to hedge against pricing and supply risks 

in connection with energy requirements and Regulatory Compliance Products, and such 

PPA counterparties may participate in the Lockbox Security Documents.   

 (l) Amendments.  Amend, modify or supplement in any manner whatsoever the 

Basic Documents, the Joint Powers Agreement, the PPAs, or the Lockbox Security 

Documents, in each case, in a manner which could reasonably be expected to have a 

Material Adverse Effect.   

ARTICLE 6 

 

DEFAULTS 

 Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies.  If any of the following events occur, each 

such event will be an “Event of Default”: 

 (a) Borrower fails to pay, or cause to be paid, as and when due, (i) any principal 

of or any interest on any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation, or (ii) any other Obligation 

hereunder or under the Fee Agreement and, in the case of clause (ii), such failure continues 

for five (5) Business Days. 

 (b) any representation or warranty made by or on behalf of Borrower in this 

Agreement or in any other Basic Document or in any certificate or statement delivered 

hereunder or thereunder is incorrect or untrue in any material respect when made or deemed 

to have been made or delivered; 

 (c) Borrower defaults in the due performance or observance of any of the 

covenants set forth in Section 5.1(a), 5.1(c), 5.1(d), 5.1(e), 5.1(g), 5.1(j), 5.1(k), 5.1(1), 

5.1(m), 5.1(q), 5.1(r), 5.1(s), 5.1(u) or 5.2 hereof; 

 
17  NTD:  Under review by Ava legal. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-52- 

 (d) Borrower defaults in the due performance or observance of any other term, 

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Basic Document and such 

default remains unremedied for a period of thirty (30) days after the occurrence thereof; 

 (e) Borrower, directly or indirectly, (i) has entered involuntarily against it an 

order for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, (ii) becomes 

insolvent or does not pay, or is unable to pay, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its 

debts generally as they become due, (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 

(iv) applies for, seeks, consents to, or acquiesces in, the appointment of a receiver, 

custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official for it or any substantial part of 

its Property, (v) institutes any proceeding seeking to have entered against it an order for 

relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, to adjudicate it insolvent or 

seeking dissolution, winding up, liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, marshalling of 

assets, adjustment or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, 

insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors or fails to file an answer or other pleading 

denying the material allegations of any such proceeding filed against it, (vi) takes any 

corporate action in furtherance of any matter described in clauses (i) through (v) above or 

(vii) fails to contest in good faith any appointment or proceeding described in Section 6.1(f) 

hereof; 

 (f) a custodian, receiver, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official is 

appointed for Borrower or any substantial part of its Property, or a proceeding described in 

Section 6.1(e)(v) hereof is instituted against Borrower and such proceeding continues 

undischarged, undismissed and unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days; 

 (g) a debt moratorium, debt restructuring, debt adjustment or comparable 

restriction is imposed on the repayment when due and payable of the principal of or interest 

on any Debt of Borrower by Borrower or any Governmental Authority with appropriate 

jurisdiction; 

 (h) any material provision of this Agreement, the Joint Powers Agreement or 

any other Basic Document at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on 

Borrower as a result of any legislative or administrative action by a Governmental 

Authority with competent jurisdiction or is declared in a final non-appealable judgment by 

any court with competent jurisdiction to be null and void, invalid or unenforceable, or the 

validity or enforceability thereof is publicly contested by Borrower, or Borrower publicly 

contests the validity or enforceability of any obligation to pay Debt of Borrower, or 

Borrower repudiates or otherwise denies in writing that it has any further liability or 

obligation under or with respect to any provision of this Agreement, the Joint Powers 

Agreement, any other Basic Document or any operative document related to Debt of 

Borrower; 

 (i) dissolution or termination of the existence of Borrower; 

 (j) Borrower (i) defaults on the payment of the principal of or interest on any 

Debt of Borrower beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-53- 

agreement under which such Debt of Borrower was created or incurred or (ii) defaults in 

the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any Debt of 

Borrower, or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating 

thereto, or any other default, event of default or similar event occurs or condition exists, 

the effect of which default, event of default or similar event or condition is to permit 

(determined without regard to whether any notice is required) any such Debt of Borrower 

to become immediately due and payable in full as the result of the acceleration, mandatory 

redemption or mandatory repayment of such Debt of Borrower; or 

 (k) any final, nonappealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or 

warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes, in an aggregate amount not 

less than $5,000,000 are entered or filed against Borrower or against any of its Property 

and remain unpaid, unvacated, unbonded and unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days. 

 (l) any “event of default” occurs under any of the Basic Documents. 

 (m) any of Fitch (to the extent then providing such a rating as a substitute to 

S&P at the request of the Borrower), Moody’s (to the extent then providing such a rating 

as a substitute to S&P at the request of the Borrower), or S&P shall have downgraded its 

rating of any long-term unenhanced Parity Debt of the Borrower (or, for so long as no long-

term unenhanced rated Parity Debt is outstanding, it’s issuer credit rating) to below “BBB-

” (or its equivalent) or “Baa3” (or its equivalent), as applicable, or suspended or withdrawn 

its rating of the same for credit related reasons. 

 Section 6.2. Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default (other than an Event 

of Default described in Section 6.1(e) or 6.1(f) hereof), and at any time thereafter during the 

continuance of such event, Lender may by notice to Borrower, take any or all of the following 

actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate the Commitment, and thereupon the 

Commitment shall terminate immediately, (ii) require cash collateral for the LC Exposure in 

accordance with Section 2.17(g) hereof and (iii) declare all Obligations then outstanding to be due 

and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable 

may thereafter be declared to be due and payable), and thereupon the principal of the Loans so 

declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other 

obligations of Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without 

presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by 

Borrower; and in case of any Event of Default described in Section 6.1(e) or 6.1(f) hereof, the 

Commitment shall automatically terminate and the principal of the Loans then outstanding, and 

cash collateral for the LC Exposure, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other 

obligations of Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without 

presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by 

Borrower. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-54- 

ARTICLE 7 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc.  No amendment or waiver of any provision of 

this Agreement, or consent to any departure by Borrower therefrom, will in any event be effective 

unless the same is in writing and signed by Lender and an Authorized Representative of Borrower, 

and then such waiver or consent is effective only in the specific instance and for the specific 

purpose for which given. 

 Section 7.2. Notices.  Except as otherwise will provided herein, notices and 

communications between Borrower and Lender with respect to reporting obligations, draw 

requests and other day to day implementation of this Agreement may be made via facsimile or 

Electronic System. All formal notices, including notices of default, provided for hereunder must 

be in writing (including required copies) and sent by courier (including Federal Express or other 

receipted courier service), as follows: 

 (a) if to Borrower: 

Ava Community Energy Authority  

1999 Harrison Street, Suite 800 

Oakland, California 94612 

Attention: Russell Mills, Senior Vice President & CFO 

Email: rmills@avaenergy.org 

 (b) if to Lender:18 

[PNC Bank, National Association  

10250 Constellation Blvd., 15th Floor 

Los Angeles, California  90067 

Attention:  Nicholas Boyle 

Telephone:  (214) 577-4873 

E-mail:  nicholas.boyle@pnc.com 

with a copy to: 

PNC Bank, National Association 

301 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2100 

Raleigh, North Carolina  27601 

Attention:  Brian Miller 

Telephone:  (919) 788-5573 

 
18 To be updated. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-55- 

E-mail:  brian.m.miller@pnc.com]19 

or, as to each Person named above, at such other address or telephone or telecopy number as is 

designated by such Person in a written notice to the parties hereto. All such notices and other 

communications will, when delivered, be effective when deposited with the courier, addressed as 

aforesaid, except that requests for LC Disbursements submitted to Lender will not be effective 

until received by Lender. 

 Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns.  (a) All covenants, 

agreements, representations and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered pursuant 

hereto will survive the making of any Loan, and will continue in full force and effect until all of 

the Obligations hereunder are paid in full. Whenever in this Agreement any of the parties hereto 

is referred to, such reference will, subject to the last sentence of this Section, be deemed to include 

the successors and assigns of such party, and all covenants, promises and agreements by or on 

behalf of Borrower which are contained in this Agreement will inure to the benefit of the 

successors and assigns of Lender. Borrower may not transfer its rights or obligations under this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of Lender. Lender may transfer or assign some or all 

of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Fee Agreement with, so long as no Event 

of Default has occurred and is continuing, the prior written consent of Borrower (which consent 

may not be withheld unreasonably); provided that Lender shall be responsible for all costs solely 

relating to such transfer or assignment. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of Borrower 

and Lender, and no other Person (including, without limitation, any PPA Counterparty) will have 

any right, benefit or interest under or because of the existence of this Agreement. 

 (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lender will be permitted to grant to one or more 

financial institutions (each a “Participant”) a participation or participations in all or any part of 

Lender’s rights and benefits and obligations under this Agreement, the Fee Agreement, the Loans 

and the Letters of Credit on a participating basis but not as a party to this Agreement (a 

“Participation”) without the consent of Borrower. In the event of any such grant by Lender of a 

Participation to a Participant, Lender shall remain responsible for the performance of its 

obligations hereunder and under the Letters of Credit, and Borrower may continue to deal solely 

and directly with Lender in connection with Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, 

under the Fee Agreement and under the Letters of Credit. Borrower agrees that each Participant 

will, to the extent of its Participation, be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement as if such 

Participant were Lender; provided that no Participant will have the right to declare, or to take 

actions in response to, an Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereof; and provided, further, that 

Borrower’s liability to any Participant (including, without limitation, amounts payable pursuant to 

Sections 2.12, 2.13 and 2.14 hereof) will not in any event exceed that liability which Borrower 

would owe to Lender but for such participation. 

 Section 7.4. Liability of Lender; Indemnification.  (a) To the extent permitted by the laws 

of the State, Borrower assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the PPA Counterparties with 

respect to the use of the Letters of Credit or the use of proceeds thereunder; provided that this 

 
19 To be confirmed. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-56- 

provision is not intended to and will not preclude Borrower from pursuing such rights and remedies 

as it may have against the PPA Counterparties under any other agreements. Neither Lender nor 

any of its respective officers or directors will be liable or responsible for (i) the use of any Letter 

of Credit, the LC Disbursements or the Loans or the transactions contemplated hereby and by the 

other Basic Documents or for any acts or omissions of any PPA Counterparty or the California 

Independent System Operator, (ii) the validity, sufficiency or genuineness of any documents 

determined in good faith by Lender to be valid, sufficient or genuine, even if such documents, in 

fact, prove to be in any or all respects invalid, fraudulent, forged or insufficient, (iii) payments by 

Lender against presentation of requests for LC Disbursements or requests which Lender in good 

faith has determined to be valid, sufficient or genuine and which subsequently are found not to 

comply with the terms of this Agreement or (iv) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or 

failing to make payment hereunder; provided that Borrower is not required to indemnify Lender 

for any claims, losses, liabilities, costs or expenses to the extent, but only to the extent that a court 

of competent jurisdiction has determined by a final, non-appealable judgment were caused by the 

gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lender. 

 (b) To the extent permitted by the laws of the State, Borrower indemnifies and holds 

harmless Lender from and against any and all direct, as opposed to consequential, claims, damages, 

losses, liabilities, costs and expenses (including specifically reasonable attorneys’ fees) which 

Lender may incur (or which may be claimed against Lender by any Person whatsoever) by reason 

of or in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Basic Documents, the 

Letters of Credit and the transactions contemplated thereby; provided that Borrower is not required 

to indemnify Lender to the extent, but only to the extent, any such claim, damage, loss, liability, 

cost or expense is caused by Lender’s willful misconduct or gross negligence as determined by a 

final order of a court of competent jurisdiction. Lender is expressly authorized and directed to 

honor any demand for payment which is made under any Letter of Credit without regard to, and 

without any duty on its part to inquire into the existence of, any disputes or controversies between 

Borrower, any PPA Counterparty (including, without limitation, the California Independent 

System Operator) or any other Person or the respective rights, duties or liabilities of any of them 

or whether any facts or occurrences represented in any of the documents presented under any Letter 

of Credit are true and correct. 

 (c) To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, Borrower shall not assert, and 

waives, any claim against Lender, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or 

punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as 

a result of, any Basic Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated thereby, the 

transactions contemplated thereby or the use of the proceeds thereof. 

 (d) The obligations of Borrower under this Section 7.5 will survive the termination of 

this Agreement. 

 Section 7.5. Expenses.  Upon receipt of a written invoice, Borrower shall promptly pay 

(i) the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to Lender incurred in connection with the 

preparation, execution and delivery and administration of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, 

the Fee Agreement and the other Basic Documents as set forth in the Fee Agreement, (ii) the 

reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of Lender incurred in connection with the preparation, 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-57- 

execution and delivery and administration of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Fee 

Agreement and the other Basic Documents, (iii) the fees and disbursements of counsel to Lender 

with respect to advising Lender as to its rights and responsibilities under the Basic Documents 

after the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default and (iv) all costs and expenses, if any, in 

connection with the administration and enforcement of the Basic Documents, including in each 

case the fees and disbursements of counsel to Lender. In addition, and notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Borrower agrees to pay, after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all costs and 

expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement) incurred by Lender in enforcing any 

obligations or in collecting any payments due from Borrower hereunder or under the Fee 

Agreement by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or 

restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a 

“workout” or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of Borrower under 

this Section 7.6 will survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 Section 7.6. No Waiver; Conflict.  Neither any failure nor any delay on the part of Lender 

in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder, nor any course of dealing with respect to 

any of the same, will operate as a waiver thereof or preclude any other or further exercise thereof, 

nor will a single or partial exercise thereof, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 

exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and 

not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. To the extent of any conflict between this 

Agreement and any other Basic Documents, this Agreement will control solely as between 

Borrower and Lender. 

 Section 7.7. Modification, Amendment Waiver, Etc.  No modification, amendment or 

waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective unless the same is in writing and signed 

in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof. 

 Section 7.8. Dealings.  Lender and its affiliates may accept deposits from, extend credit 

to and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with Borrower and/or any 

PPA Counterparty (including, without limitation, the California Independent System Operator) 

regardless of the capacity of Lender hereunder or under any Letter of Credit. 

 Section 7.9. Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or 

unenforceable in any jurisdiction will, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 

prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting 

the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction, and all other remaining 

provisions hereof will be construed to render them enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 

law. The parties shall endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or 

unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic or legal effect of which comes as 

close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions. 

 Section 7.10. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution.  (a) This 

Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different 

counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall 

constitute a single contract.  This Agreement, the other Basic Documents and any separate letter 

agreements with respect to fees payable to Lender constitute the entire contract among the parties 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-58- 

relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and 

understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.  Except as provided in 

Section 3.1, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by Lender 

and when Lender shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the 

signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

 (b) Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of (x) this Agreement, 

(y) any other Basic Document and/or (z) any document, amendment, approval, consent, 

information, notice (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any notice delivered pursuant to 

Section 7.2), certificate, request, statement, disclosure or authorization related to this Agreement, 

any other Basic Document and/or the transactions contemplated hereby and/or thereby (each an 

“Ancillary Document”) that is an Electronic Signature transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or 

any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page shall be 

effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement, such other Basic 

Document or such Ancillary Document, as applicable.  The words “execution,” “signed,” 

“signature,” “delivery,” and words of like import in or relating to this Agreement, any other Basic 

Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, 

deliveries or the keeping of records in any electronic form (including deliveries by telecopy, 

emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed 

signature page), each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a 

manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping 

system, as the case may be; provided that nothing herein shall require Lender to accept Electronic 

Signatures in any form or format without its prior written consent and pursuant to procedures 

approved by it; provided, further, without limiting the foregoing, (i) to the extent Lender has agreed 

to accept any Electronic Signature, Lender shall be entitled to rely on such Electronic Signature 

purportedly given by or on behalf of Borrower without further verification thereof and without any 

obligation to review the appearance or form of any such Electronic Signature and (ii) upon the 

request of Lender, any Electronic Signature shall be promptly followed by a manually executed 

counterpart.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Borrower hereby (A) agrees that, 

for all purposes, including without limitation, in connection with any workout, restructuring, 

enforcement of remedies, bankruptcy proceedings or litigation among Lender and Borrower, 

Electronic Signatures transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that 

reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page and/or any electronic images of this 

Agreement, any other Basic Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall have the same legal 

effect, validity and enforceability as any paper original, (B) Lender may, at its option, create one 

or more copies of this Agreement, any other Basic Document and/or any Ancillary Document in 

the form of an imaged electronic record in any format, which shall be deemed created in the 

ordinary course of such Person’s business, and destroy the original paper document (and all such 

electronic records shall be considered an original for all purposes and shall have the same legal 

effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record), (C) waives any argument, defense or right to 

contest the legal effect, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Basic Document 

and/or any Ancillary Document based solely on the lack of paper original copies of this Agreement, 

such other Basic Document and/or such Ancillary Document, respectively, including with respect 

to any signature pages thereto and (D) waives any claim against Lender-Related Person for any 

Liabilities arising solely from Lender’s reliance on or use of Electronic Signatures and/or 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-59- 

transmissions by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of 

an actual executed signature page, including any Liabilities arising as a result of the failure of 

Borrower to use any available security measures in connection with the execution, delivery or 

transmission of any Electronic Signature. 

 Section 7.11. Table of Contents; Headings.  The table of contents and the section and 

subsection headings used herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not 

constitute matters to be considered in interpreting this Agreement. 

 Section 7.12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the Fee Agreement represents the 

final agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not 

be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous or subsequent oral agreements of the 

parties hereto as to such subject matter. 

 Section 7.13. Governing Law Waiver of Jury Trial.  (a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 

DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND 

CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS; PROVIDED THAT THE OBLIGATIONS OF 

LENDER HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT 

GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS. 

 (b) TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO 

WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING 

OUT OF THE BASIC DOCUMENTS OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY, 

INCLUDING CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHER COMMON 

LAW OR STATUTORY CLAIMS. IF AND TO THE EXTENT THAT THE FOREGOING WAIVER OF THE RIGHT 

TO A JURY TRIAL IS UNENFORCEABLE FOR ANY REASON IN SUCH FORUM, EACH OF THE PARTIES 

HERETO CONSENTS TO THE ADJUDICATION OF ALL CLAIMS PURSUANT TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE AS 

PROVIDED IN CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 638, AND THE JUDICIAL REFEREE IS 

EMPOWERED TO HEAR AND DETERMINE ALL ISSUES IN SUCH REFERENCE, WHETHER FACT OR LAW.  

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS REVIEWED THIS AGREEMENT AND, 

FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL ON SUCH MATTERS, KNOWINGLY AND 

VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS AND CONSENTS TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE. IN THE 

EVENT OF LITIGATION, A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE FILED AS A WRITTEN CONSENT TO A 

TRIAL BY THE COURT OR TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE UNDER CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 

SECTION 638 AS PROVIDED HEREIN. 

 (c) Each of the parties hereto hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any federal 

or state court of competent jurisdiction in the State and sitting in the County of San Francisco for 

the purpose of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or 

any other Basic Document; service of process may be accomplished by registered mail, return 

receipt requested to each of the parties at the address listed for notice in Section 7.2 hereof. 

 (d) The covenants and waivers made pursuant to this Section 7.13 are irrevocable and 

unmodifiable, whether in writing or orally, and are applicable to any subsequent amendments, 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-60- 

renewals, supplements or modifications of this Agreement. In the event of litigation, this 

Agreement may be filed as a written consent to a trial by the court. 

 Section 7.14. USA PATRIOT Act.  Lender notifies Borrower that, pursuant to the 

requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 

2001)) (the “Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies Borrower, 

which information includes the name and address of Borrower and other information that will 

allow Lender to identify Borrower in accordance with the Act. Borrower agrees to provide such 

documentary and other evidence of Borrower’s identity as may be requested by Lender at any time 

to enable Lender to verify Borrower’s identity or to comply with any Applicable Law or regulation, 

including, without limitation, the Act. 

 Section 7.15. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank.  Lender may assign and pledge all or 

any portion of the obligations owing to it hereunder to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United 

States Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the 

Federal Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank, 

provided that any payment in respect of such assigned obligations made by Borrower to Lender in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement will satisfy Borrower’s obligations hereunder in 

respect of such assigned obligation to the extent of such payment. No such assignment will release 

Lender from its obligations hereunder. 

 Section 7.16. Acknowledgement Regarding Any Supported QFCs.  (a) To the extent that 

the Basic Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for Swap Agreements or 

any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support “QFC Credit Support” and each 

such QFC a “Supported QFC”), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the 

resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit 

Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 

(together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S. Special Resolution Regimes”) in 

respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable 

notwithstanding that the Basic Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of 

the United States): 

(b) In the event the Borrower is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party”) 

and becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such 

Supported QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or 

under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such 

Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be effective to the 

same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the 

Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in 

property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the 

event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding 

under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Basic Documents that might 

otherwise apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against 

such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-61- 

could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Basic 

Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.  

(c) As used in this Section 7.16, the following terms have the following meanings: 

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, 

and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party. 

“Covered Party” means a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and 

interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b). 

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted 

in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable. 

“QFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and 

shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D). 

 Section 7.17. Arm’s Length Transaction.  The transaction described in this Agreement is 

an arm’s length, commercial transaction between Borrower and Lender in which: (i) Lender is 

acting solely as a principal (i.e., as a lender) and for its own interest; (ii) Lender is not acting as a 

municipal advisor or financial advisor to Borrower; (iii) Lender has no fiduciary duty pursuant to 

Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to Borrower with respect to this transaction 

and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether Lender 

or any of its affiliates has provided other services or is currently providing other services to 

Borrower on other matters); (iv) the only obligations Lender has to Borrower with respect to this 

transaction are set forth in this Agreement, the Fee Agreement and the Letters of Credit; and 

(v) Lender is not recommending that Borrower take an action with respect to the transaction 

described in this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and before taking any action with 

respect to the this transaction, Borrower should discuss the information contained herein with 

Borrower’s own legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as Borrower deems 

appropriate. 

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

Signature Page to Revolving Credit Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower and Lender have duly executed this Agreement as of the 

date first written above. 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  ____________________________ 

 Title:  ____________________________ 

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  ____________________________ 

 Title:  ____________________________ 

 

 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

This Compliance Certificate (this “Certificate”) is furnished to PNC Bank, National 

Association (including its successors and assigns, the “Lender”) pursuant to the Revolving Credit 

Agreement, dated as of September [___], 2025 (together with all amendments and supplements 

thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between the Ava Community Energy Authority (including its 

successors and assigns, the “Borrower”) and Lender.  Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms 

used in this Certificate have the meanings assigned thereto in the Agreement. 

THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT: 

 1. I am an Authorized Representative of Borrower; 

 2. I have reviewed the terms of the Agreement and I have made, or have caused 

to be made under my supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and conditions of 

Borrower during the accounting period covered by the attached financial statements; 

 3. The examinations described in paragraph 2 did not disclose, and I have no 

knowledge of, the existence of any condition or the occurrence of any event which 

constitutes a Default or Event of Default during or at the end of the accounting period 

covered by the attached financial statements or as of the date of this Certificate, except as 

set forth below; and 

 4. To the best of my knowledge the financial statements required by 

Section [5.1(a)(i)] [5.1(a)(ii)] of the Agreement and being furnished to you concurrently 

with this certificate fairly represent the consolidated financial condition of the Borrower in 

accordance with GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited financial statements, the omission 

of a cashflow statement and footnotes) as of the date and for the period covered thereby. 

[#5 below to be delivered quarterly together with financial statements delivered pursuant 

to Section 5.1(a)(i)] 

 5. Schedule 1 attached hereto sets forth financial data and computations 

evidencing the Borrower’s compliance with Section 5.1(q) of the Agreement as of the last 

day of the fiscal period to which this certificate relates. To the extent there is a discrepancy 

between the terms set forth in Schedule 1 and the terms set forth in the Agreement with 

respect to calculating the Minimum Liquidity Requirement, the Agreement shall control.  

[Describe below the exceptions, if any, to paragraph 3 by listing, in detail, the 

nature of the condition or event, the period during which it has existed and the action 

which Borrower has taken, is taking, or proposes to take with respect to each such 

condition or event: 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-2- 

________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________ ] 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-3- 

The foregoing certifications and the financial statements delivered with this Certificate in 

support hereof, are made and delivered this ____ day of _____________, 20__. 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  ____________________________ 

 Title:  ____________________________ 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

SCHEDULE 1  

TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

MINIMUM LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENT (SECTION 5.1(Q))  4-QUARTERS 

__/__/__ 

A. Cash and Cash Equivalents $____________ 

B. Unused Commitment $____________ 

C. Sum of Row A and Row B $____________ 

D. Days of Liquidity on Hand $____________ 

Is the amount in Row C greater than or equal to $3,000,000 and the amount 

in Row D greater than or equal to 120? 

Y/N 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF BORROWING REQUEST 

_____________, 20__ 

[PNC Bank, National Association  

10250 Constellation Blvd., 15th Floor 

Los Angeles, California  90067 

Attention:  Nicholas Boyle 

Telephone:  (214) 577-4873 

E-mail:  nicholas.boyle@pnc.com 

with a copy to: 

PNC Bank, National Association 

301 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2100 

Raleigh, North Carolina  27601 

Attention:  Brian Miller 

Telephone:  (919) 788-5573 

E-mail:  brian.m.miller@pnc.com]20 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned refers to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September [___], 

2025 (together with any amendments or supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between 

Ava Community Energy Authority (with its successors and assigns, the “Borrower”) and 

PNC Bank, National Association (with its successors and assigns, the “Lender”) (the terms 

defined therein being used herein as therein defined) and hereby requests, pursuant to Section 2.3 

of the Agreement, that Lender make a Loan under the Agreement and disburse such funds as set 

forth in #7 below, and in that connection sets forth below the following information relating to 

such Loan (the “Proposed Loan”): 

 1. The Business Day of the Proposed Loan is ___________, 20__ (the 

“Issuance Date”). 

 2.  The Proposed Loan shall be a SOFR Loan for an Interest Period of one 

month.  

 3. The principal amount of the Proposed Loan is $______________, which is 

not greater than the Unused Commitment as of the Issuance Date set forth in 1 above.  After 

giving effect to the Proposed Loan and the application of the proceeds thereof, the 

 
20 To be confirmed. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-2- 

aggregate principal amount of all Loans and the LC Exposure outstanding under the 

Agreement will not exceed the Commitment as of the Issuance Date set forth in 1 above.  

 4. The interest rate with respect to the Proposed Loan shall be the SOFR Rate. 

 5. The undersigned hereby certifies that the following statements are true on 

the date hereof, and will be true on the Issuance Date, before and after giving effect to the 

Proposed Loan: 

 (a) The representations and warranties of Borrower set forth in 

Article IV of the Agreement (other than in Section 4.7 thereof) are true and correct 

in all material respects (or in the case of any representation qualified by materiality, 

in all respects) on the date hereof, as if made on the date hereof; and 

 (b) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. 

 6. The proceeds for Proposed Loan are being used for the following purposes: 

 [(a) qualified expenditures]  

 [(b) working capital and general purposes] 

 7. The Proposed Loan shall be made by Lender by wire transfer of 

immediately available funds or deposited [in the amount of $_____] into Borrower’s 

account at Lender in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Agreement or to or 

on behalf of Borrower in accordance with the instructions set forth below and Borrower 

hereby confirms that Lender is authorized to make said disbursements: 

[Insert wire instructions and amounts] 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  ____________________________ 

 Title:  ____________________________ 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-3- 

Approved by Lender: 

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

By: _________________________________ 

Name: ___________________________ 

Title: ___________________________ 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT C  

[FORM OF  PROMISSORY NOTE] 

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED 

(THE “1933 ACT”), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR JURISDICTION.  THIS NOTE IS 

SUBJECT TO CERTAIN TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 7.3 OF THE HEREIN DEFINED 

AGREEMENT.  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY 

Dated Date:  September [___], 2025 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY, a public agency formed 

under the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California, Government 

Code Section 6500 et. Seq. (together with its successors and assigns, “Borrower” or “AVA”) 

hereby promises to pay to the order of PNC Bank, National Association, and its successors and 

assigns, as their respective interests may appear (the “Lender”) located at [_________________], 

the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Loans made by Lender from time to time pursuant to 

the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September [___], 2025 (together with any 

amendments or supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between Borrower and Lender, 

plus interest thereon, on the dates, in the amounts and in the manner provided for in the Agreement. 

The unpaid principal amount of all Loans from time to time outstanding shall bear interest 

at the rate or rates and be payable as provided in and calculated in the manner set forth in the 

Agreement. 

Payments of both principal and interest are to be made in lawful money of the United States 

of America. 

This Note evidences indebtedness (including the Loans) incurred under, and is subject to 

the terms and provisions of, the Agreement to which reference is hereby made for a statement of 

said terms and provisions, including those under which this Note may be paid or become due prior 

to its due date.  This Note is the promissory note referred to in Section 2.6(c) of the Agreement 

and is entitled to the benefits thereof and of the Basic Documents referred to therein.  This Note is 

subject to prepayment, in whole or in part, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. 

This Note dated September [___], 2025 (the “Note”) has been issued pursuant to the 

Agreement. 

Reference is hereby made to the Agreement for a description of the terms on which this 

Note is issued and all of the terms of the Agreement are hereby incorporated herein and constitute 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-2- 

a contract between Borrower and the holder of this Note, and by acceptance hereof the holder of 

this Note assents to said terms and conditions. 

This Note is an obligation of Borrower payable from and secured by a pledge of and a 

senior lien and charge upon Borrower’s Net Revenues.   

This Note is payable as to principal and interest thereof, exclusively from Borrower’s Net 

Revenues.  

This Note and the interest hereon are senior to all other debt incurred and payable from 

Borrower’s Net Revenues. 

This Note is made under the laws of the State of California, and for all purposes shall be 

governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of said State, without regard to principles 

of conflicts of law.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meaning set forth in 

the Agreement. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things required to exist, happen and be 

performed under the Agreement precedent to and in the issuance of this Note, exist, have happened 

and have been performed, and that the issuance, authentication and delivery of this Note have been 

duly authorized by the Resolution duly adopted by Borrower.  Borrower hereby waives 

presentment for payment, demand, protest, notice of protest, notice of dishonor and all other 

notices and demands whatsoever. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-3- 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Ava Community Energy Authority has caused this Note to be 

signed as of the Dated Date specified above. 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  ____________________________ 

 Title:  ____________________________ 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-4- 

Transactions on Note 

DATE COMMITMENT 

INTEREST 

RATE 

AMOUNT OF 

PRINCIPAL 

PAID 

DATE TO 

WHICH 

INTEREST PAID 

NOTATION 

MADE BY 

      

      

      

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

-5- 

 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 

Please insert Social Security or 

Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee 

/____________________________________/ 

(Please print or typewrite name and address, including zip code, of Transferee) 

the within Note and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

attorney to register the transfer of the within Note on the books kept for registration thereof, with 

full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated: ______________________________ 

Signature Guaranteed: 

 

 

 

NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed 

by a member or participant of a signature 

guarantee program 

 

NOTICE:  The signature above must 

correspond with the name of the Owner as 

it appears upon the front of this Note in 

every particular, without alteration or 

enlargement or change whatsoever. 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT D 

ACCOUNT CONTROL AGREEMENT 

Attached 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT E 

INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 

Attached 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



 

 

EXHIBIT F 

SECURITY AGREEMENT 

Attached 

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12B



C&C Draft 9/10/25 

12C. Item 12C - Fee Agreement (Ava, 2025) 4908-7717-7687 v6[88] 

4482170 

FEE AGREEMENT 

This FEE AGREEMENT dated September [__], 2025 (as amended, modified or restated from 

time to time, this “Fee Agreement”), is by and between the AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY

AUTHORITY, a public agency formed under the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of 

the State of California, Government Code Section 6500 et. seq. (together with its successors and 

assigns, “Borrower”), and PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (together with its successors and 

permitted assigns, the “Lender”). 

Reference is made to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September [__], 2025 

(as amended, modified, extended or restated from time to time, the “Agreement”), entered into 

between Borrower and Lender.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings 

set forth in the Agreement. 

This Fee Agreement is the Fee Agreement referenced in the Agreement and the terms of 

this Fee Agreement are incorporated by reference into the Agreement.  This Fee Agreement and 

the Agreement are to be construed as one agreement between Borrower and Lender, and all 

obligations hereunder are to be construed as obligations thereunder.  All references to amounts due 

and payable under the Agreement will be deemed to include all amounts, fees and expenses 

payable under this Fee Agreement. 

ARTICLE I 

FEES 

Section 1.1. Undrawn Fees.  Borrower agrees to pay to Lender, in immediately available 

funds, for the period from and including the Closing Date to and including the earlier of the 

Maturity Date and the date the Commitment is terminated in full (the “Commitment End Date”), 

quarterly in arrears on the [last Business Day of each March, June, September, and December] 

until the Commitment End Date, and on the Commitment End Date (each, a “Payment Date”), a 

non-refundable undrawn fee (the “Undrawn Fee”) in an amount equal for each day during such 

calculation period to the product of (x) the rate per annum corresponding to the Level specified 

below associated with the applicable Rating (the “Undrawn Fee Rate”), (y) the Unutilized 

Commitment (as defined below) for such day and (z) a fraction the numerator of which is 1 and 

denominator of which is 360. 

LEVEL S&P RATING UNDRAWN FEE RATE 

Level 1 A or above  0.20% (20 basis points) 

Level 2 A- 0.20% (20 basis points) 

Level 3 BBB+ 0.35% (35 basis points) 

Level 4 BBB 0.50% (50 basis points) 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



-2-

LEVEL S&P RATING UNDRAWN FEE RATE 

Level 5 BBB- and below 2.95% (295 basis points) 

The term “Unutilized Commitment” as used in this Fee Agreement means, for any day, the 

number obtained by subtracting the Revolving Credit Exposure as of 5:00 p.m. New York City 

time on such day from the Commitment in effect at as of 5:00 p.m. New York City time on such 

day. The term “Rating” as used in this Section 1.1 shall mean the lowest long-term unenhanced 

debt ratings assigned by S&P to Parity Debt (or, for so long as there is no long-term unenhanced 

rated Parity Debt outstanding, the Borrower’s issuer credit rating assigned by S&P).  Any change 

in the Undrawn Fee Rate resulting from a change in a Rating shall be and become effective as of 

and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating.  References to ratings above 

are references to rating categories as presently determined by S&P and in the event of adoption of 

any new or changed rating system by the Rating Agency, including, without limitation, any 

recalibration or realignment of the long-term unenhanced debt rating of Parity Debt issued by or 

on behalf of the Borrower (or the Borrower’s issuer credit rating, as applicable) in connection with 

the adoption of a “global” rating scale, each of the ratings from S&P in question referred to above 

shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely 

approximates the applicable rating category as currently in effect.  The Borrower agrees that as of 

the Closing Date, the Undrawn Fee Rate is that specified above for Level 1.  In the event any rating 

as described above is suspended, withdrawn, or otherwise unavailable, the Undrawn Fee Rate shall 

be the Undrawn Fee Rate specified for Level 5.  The Undrawn Fee shall be payable quarterly in 

arrears, together with interest on the Undrawn Fees from the date payment is due until payment in 

full at the Default Rate.  Such Undrawn Fees shall be payable in immediately available funds and 

computed on the basis of a 360-day year and the actual number of days elapsed. 

Section 1.2. Amendment Waiver or Consent Fees.  Borrower agrees to pay to Lender on 

the date on which Borrower requests from Lender (i) an amendment, supplement or modification 

to the Agreement or any other Basic Document or (ii) a consent under, or a waiver of any provision 

of, the Agreement or any other Basic Document, a non-refundable fee to be determined by Lender 

at the time of such amendment, supplement or modification or waiver or consent, but in any event 

at a minimum of $5,000, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of legal counsel to 

Lender. 

Section 1.3. Termination Fee; Reduction Fee.  (a) Borrower hereby agrees to pay to 

Lender a termination fee in connection with any termination of the Commitment by Borrower prior 

to the first anniversary of the Closing Date, in an amount equal to the product of (1) the Undrawn 

Fee Rate in effect on the date of such termination, (2) the Commitment in effect as of the date of 

such termination (without regard to any outstanding Loans, Letters of Credit, or LC 

Disbursements) and (3) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and 

including the date of such termination to but excluding the first anniversary of the Closing Date, 

and the denominator of which is 360 (the “Termination Fee”), which Termination Fee shall be 

paid on or before the date of such termination.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Termination 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



-3-

Fee shall be due and owing under this Section 1.3(a) in the event that the Commitment is 

terminated by Borrower as a result of the Lender imposing increased costs on Borrower pursuant 

to the terms of Section 2.10 of the Agreement.  No termination in full of the Commitment shall 

become effective unless and until all amounts payable by Borrower to Lender under the Agreement 

and this Fee Agreement (including without limitation the amount payable, if any, pursuant to this 

Section 1.3(a)) have been paid in full. 

(b) Borrower agrees not to permanently reduce the Commitment below the Commitment

in effect as of the Closing Date prior to the first anniversary of the Closing Date, without the 

payment by Borrower to Lender of a reduction fee (the “Reduction Fee”) in connection with each 

and every permanent reduction of the Commitment in an amount equal to the product of (1) the 

Undrawn Fee Rate in effect on the date of such permanent reduction, (2) the amount of the 

permanent Commitment reduction and (3) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number 

of days from and including the date of such reduction to but not including the first anniversary of 

the Closing Date, and the denominator of which is 360.  Under no circumstances shall Borrower 

permanently reduce the Commitment below the Revolving Credit Exposure unless in connection 

with such permanent reduction Borrower reduces the Revolving Credit Exposure so that after 

giving effect to such permanent reduction the Revolving Credit Exposure is not greater than the 

reduced Commitment. 

Section 1.4. Applicable Margin.  As used in the Agreement and this Fee Agreement, the 

“Applicable Margin” means the applicable rate per annum under the caption “Applicable Margin” 

for Revolving Loans as set forth below, in each case, corresponding to the Level specified below 

associated with the applicable Rating:  

LEVEL S&P RATING APPLICABLE MARGIN

Level 1 A or above  0.45% (45 basis points) 

Level 2 A- 0.45% (45 basis points) 

Level 3 BBB+ 0.60% (60 basis points) 

Level 4 BBB 0.75% (75 basis points) 

Level 5 BBB- and below Default Rate (all-in interest rate) 

The term “Rating” as used in this Section 1.4 shall mean the lowest long-term unenhanced 

debt ratings assigned by S&P to Parity Debt (or, for so long as there is no long-term unenhanced 

rated Parity Debt outstanding, the Borrower’s issuer credit rating assigned by S&P). Any change 

in the Applicable Margin resulting from a change in a Rating shall be and become effective as of 

and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating.  References to ratings above 

are references to rating categories as presently determined by the Rating Agency and in the event 

of adoption of any new or changed rating system by S&P, including, without limitation, any 

recalibration or realignment of the long-term unenhanced debt rating of Parity Debt issued by or 

on behalf of the Borrower (or the Borrower’s issuer credit rating, as applicable) in connection with 

the adoption of a “global” rating scale, each of the ratings from S&P in question referred to above 

shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



 

-4- 

approximates the applicable rating category as currently in effect.  The Borrower agrees that as of 

the Closing Date, the Applicable Margin is that specified above for Level 1.  In the event any rating 

as described above is suspended, withdrawn, or otherwise unavailable, the all-in interest rate shall 

be the all-in interest rate specified for Level 5.   

 Section 1.5. Default Rate.  For purposes of this Fee Agreement and the Agreement, 

“Default Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to the greatest 

of (a) the Prime Rate plus three percent (3.00%); (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate plus three 

and one-half percent (3.50%); and (c) nine percent (9.00%).  

 Section 1.6. Letter of Credit Fees.  Borrower agrees to pay to Lender, in immediately 

available funds, for the period from and including the date of issuance of each Letter of Credit to 

but excluding the date such Letter of Credit is terminated (the “LC Termination Date”), quarterly 

in arrears on the [last Business Day of each March, June, September, and December] to the LC 

Termination Date, and on the LC Termination Date (each, a “LC Payment Date”), a 

non-refundable undrawn fee (the “LC Facility Fee”) in an amount equal for each day during such 

calculation period to the product of (x) 1.25%, (y) the stated amount of such Letter of Credit as of 

5:00 p.m. New York City time on such day and (z) a fraction the numerator of which is 1 and 

denominator of which is 360. 

The LC Facility Fee shall be calculated from and including one LC Payment Date (or, in 

the case of the initial LC Facility Fee payment in respect of a Letter of Credit, the date such Letter 

of Credit is issued) to but excluding the next LC Payment Date (each, a “LC Payment Period”), 

and Lender shall provide Borrower with an invoice for each LC Facility Fee; provided, however, 

that the failure of Lender to do so shall not relieve Borrower from its obligation to pay such LC 

Facility Fee. 

 Section 1.7. Issuance Fees.  Borrower agrees to pay to Lender the Lender’s then-in-effect 

customary fees and administrative expenses payable with respect to the Letters of Credit as the 

Lender may generally charge or incur from time to time in connection with the issuance, 

maintenance, amendment (if any), assignment or transfer (if any), negotiation, and administration 

of Letters of Credit.  As of the Closing Date, the fee is approximately $300 for each issuance of, 

or drawing under, a Letter of Credit; it being acknowledged and agreed that such fees may change 

from time to time without notice. 

ARTICLE II 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 Section 2.1. Legal Fees.  On the Closing Date, Borrower shall pay the reasonable legal 

fees and expenses of Lender incurred in connection with the preparation and negotiation of the 

Agreement, this Fee Agreement and certain other Basic Documents in an amount equal to 

$[______] plus disbursements. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



 

-5- 

 Section 2.2. Amendments.  No amendment to this Fee Agreement will become effective 

without the prior consent of Borrower and Lender, which consent must be in writing and signed 

by Lender and an Authorized Representative of Borrower. 

 Section 2.3. Governing Law.  THIS FEE AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT 

UNDER, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO 

CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS; PROVIDED, THAT THE OBLIGATIONS OF LENDER HEREUNDER 

SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO 

CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS.   

 Section 2.4. Counterparts.  This Fee Agreement may be executed in counterparts in 

accordance with Section 7.10 of the Agreement, which Section 7.10 is incorporated herein by 

reference. 

 Section 2.5. Severability.  Any provision of this Fee Agreement which is prohibited, 

unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction will, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to 

the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the 

remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision 

in any other jurisdiction. 

[Signature Pages To Follow] 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



 

Signature Page to Fee Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Fee Agreement to be duly 

executed and delivered by their respective officers or representatives thereunto duly authorized on 

the date first set forth above. 

AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name: ______________________________ 

 Title: _______________________________ 

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION  

By: ____________________________________ 

 Name:  

 Title:  

Attachment Staff Report Item 12C



Credit Facility Renewal 
Informational Review
Rusty Mills  |  September 8, 2025

Attachment Staff Report Item 12D



2

Process for Obtaining the New Credit Facility

• Ava currently holds a $200MM credit facility with US Bank
• Expires October 27, 2025

• Staff conducted a formal RFP to solicit offers to replace and expand the current 
credit facility

• Six proposals were received and scored based on flexibility, capacity and pricing

• Additionally considered ESG goals, reference vetting, adherence to RFP details, and applied scoring 
methodology

• Bank Awarded – PNC Bank, based in Pittsburgh PA

• Ava is seeking to increase the facility to $300MM due to multiple risk factors  
• More volatile cash flow and operating conditions may stress working capital needs – higher capacity can 

further preserve financial strength and reserve balances

• Stress testing shows potential for needing additional liquidity should market prices spike with weather, 
political conditions, or other systemic risk factors such as PCIA

• Load Serving Entities (LSEs) have a risk of posting higher collateral because of market conditions—LOCs can 
protect reserves and working capital

Attachment Staff Report Item 12D



3

New Credit Facility Terms

Certain aspects of the facility are still being negotiated by Staff, but a summary of key 
terms offered are as follows:

• Capacity is $300 million ($100mm increase)

• 3-year term

• Undrawn Fee offered for any unused balance is 0.20%, which is 0.05% lower on the new facility — 
This is the cost to hold the facility as available

• Standby LOCs have lower costs when issued 1.25% vs. 1.40%

• Facility has a much lower Applicable Margin on draws 0.45% vs. 1.40%

• Draws still based on Monthly Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) + the Applicable 
Margin, which as of September 1, 2025, is 4.70%.

• Margin and fees can increase in the event S&P downgrades Ava’s “A” rating

• Liquidity covenant in place of Debt Service Coverage covenant

• Additional Bonds Test (ABT) has a DSC metric to meet if Ava issues Parity Debt, and no consent now 
needed.

Attachment Staff Report Item 12D



4

Good Faith Estimates       

• Good faith estimates have been provided by PFM Financial Advisors LLC in 
accordance with California Government Code Section 5852.1, requiring such 
presentation in a meeting open to the public

• Total maximum interest payment amount is $42,956,807, under the following assumptions: 

▪ Maximum draw of $300,000,000 for the full term of the facility at a 1M SOFR+ 45bps of 4.70% (the 
rate as of 9/1/2022), while maintaining an “A” rating

• If $0 is drawn, then the total maximum fee and interest payments for the full term of the facility over 
three years would be $1,826,667

• If as much as $50MM is issued as LOCs, and no cash is drawn, then the total maximum interest 
payment for the full term of the facility over three years would be $3,425,000

Attachment Staff Report Item 12D



Questions & Discussion

5

Attachment Staff Report Item 12D



 
 
Dohee Kim​
339 15th Street Suite 208​
Oakland, CA 9412​
dohee@localcleanenergy.org 
 

Subject: Ava Community Energy - Allocate a Portion of the Agency’s Budget Surplus to 
Establish an Annual Community Foundation Grant Fund for Community-Based 
Organizations​
​
September 15, 2025​
​
Dear Board Members, Community Advisory Committee & Alternates, 
 
We support the agency’s recommendation to establish a policy and allocate funding for rate 
stabilization by utilizing surplus revenues to lessen the burden of price volatility. However, we 
urge that a portion of the estimated $107M surplus is dedicated to benefit community needs in 
the face of an ongoing affordability, climate, and energy crisis. 
​
We urge the Board to continue prioritizing community programs, benefits, and 
investments in alignment with the foundational agency roadmap as established prior by 
the Local Development Business Plan (LDBP). Market volatility or financial stress should not 
be mutually exclusive priorities from environmental justice, climate resilience, and pressing 
community needs, especially when the energy landscape is threatened and as climate change 
worsens for our frontline, low-income, historically disinvested, and disadvantaged communities. 
Cost increases, dwindling state funds, and federal rollbacks have also impacted non-profit clean 
energy and equity efforts. Your support to allocate a portion of the FY 2024-2025 budget 
surplus of $107 million and invest in the needs of your constituents aligns with the 
purpose of Ava Community Energy since its inception. ​
​
We ask the Board to establish an annual Ava Community Energy “Foundation Grant 
Fund” to support local non-profit organizations, their services, and the community they 
serve, which would directly benefit from continued programming. This new fund is 
independent and separate from the “Community Grants” offered by Ava Community Energy, 
which are tailored to the agency’s marketing priority areas with specified outcomes and 
deliverables. These funds require a competitive Request for Proposals (RFP) application 
process and are fielded by Ava staff. 
 
We propose Ava Community Energy’s annual “Foundation Grant Fund” for consideration 
because this model would help increase community empowerment in design, ownership, and 
assets towards a healthier, resilient, and more sustainable clean energy future based on more 
flexible, unrestricted funding use for potential recipients who have been leading impactful 
community change. ​
​
​
​
​
​

mailto:dohee@localcleanenergy.org
https://avaenergy.org/community/grants-sponsorships/community-investment-grants/


​
​
While the specific allocation of Ava’s surplus budget funds is to be determined, we urgently ask 
the Board to consider whether a full 100% allocation to the Rate Stabilization Fund (RSF) 
is necessary, strategic, and aligned with the purpose of this CCA. Even allocating only 
5-10% of the current $107 million surplus budget would yield $5-11 million set aside for a 
community foundation grant, leaving the agency roughly $100M left to dedicate to the 
stabilization fund. Not only is this proposed grant fund financially viable, but establishing an Ava 
Community Energy “Foundation Grant Fund” would be financially strategic: the agency will be 
able to improve its financial standing over time, create more buy-in from customers, and expand 
opportunities for collaboration, while improving affordability and directly meeting the needs of 
our communities who are already advancing critical local clean energy work. ​
​
We ask that Ava Community Energy collaborate directly with Community Foundations 
like the East Bay Community Foundation and the San Joaquin Community Foundation, or 
even pass grants to organizations like the National Association of Climate Resilience 
Planners (NACRP), who are known to support local resilience hub efforts, in order to provide 
funding for projects, programs, and services that guide communities towards a just transition 
into a greener economy, community resilience, and cleaner energy ecosystem. With $5-10 
million, 10% of the funds can easily cover administrative costs for the community foundation to 
administer the grants, thereby not impacting the capacity of Ava Community Energy staff or 
burdening any additional resources from the agency. ​
​
As a compelling precedent case, in 2024, another Community Choice Aggregator, San Diego 
Community Power (SDCP), funded the San Diego Community Foundation, allocating $1.2 
million to the joint Community Clean Energy Grant Program and awarding grants for 
nonprofits within the agency territory from $25-$100K. Program eligibility focuses on new 
and existing project proposals that would bring economic, environmental, and health benefits to 
the local communities within the service territory for a just, equitable, and resilient San Diego. 
Notably, the grants provide a 2-year deadline of completion, and the funds may be used for 
personnel, supplies, equipment, capital purchases, administrative or indirect costs, and any 
other program costs tied to effectively executing the proposed project, ultimately providing more 
flexibility and opportunities for success in community-led initiatives. ​
​
San Diego’s Community Clean Energy Grant focuses on the following objectives:  

●​ Increasing overall energy literacy of SDCP customers.   
●​ Energy-focused educational programming that encourages clean energy use, particularly 

for youth.  
●​ Improvements in indoor and/or outdoor air quality related to electrification.  
●​ Workforce development opportunities that support careers in the clean energy industry. 
●​ Improved energy resilience to ensure communities can avoid, prepare for, minimize, 

adapt to, and recover from energy disruptions.  
​
You can learn more about the San Diego Community Foundation grant fund program here. ​
Ava Community Energy can easily model after what already exists without reinventing 
the wheel. ​
​
​
​

https://www.ebcf.org/
https://sanjoaquincf.org/
https://www.nacrp.org/
https://www.nacrp.org/
https://sdcommunitypower.org/
https://sdcommunitypower.org/
https://www.sdfoundation.org/
https://www.sdfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/2024-Community-Clean-Energy-Grant-Guidelines.pdf


​
​
The People’s Clean Energy Alliance is committed to the longevity of Ava Community 
Energy and its driving purpose to reinvest in local communities for a just and equitable, 
clean energy future together. As Ava Community Energy gears up to distribute their 
anticipated solar and storage incentive for Community Resilience Hubs (RHs) early next year, 
we must ensure that the agency successfully sees through the promise of $15 million to build 
community resilience in Ava service territory, while expanding critical support to invest in local 
clean energy resources and improve local green economies as we face ratcheting climate ​
disasters in this time of socioeconomic and political uncertainty and instability. ​
​
We urge the Ava Board of Directors to:  
 

●​ Establish an “Annual Community Foundation Grant Fund” from the $107 million 
surplus instead of a 100% allocation of the budget surplus to the Rate Stabilization Fund 
(RSF). We strongly recommend that the established grant fund be managed in 
collaboration with local community foundations to provide critical funding for projects and 
programs that guide local communities toward a healthier, resilient, and more 
sustainable clean energy future. 

●​ Center Community Design in the proposal for an “Annual Community Foundation 
Grant Fund” supported by Ava Community Energy. The scope of the grant program and 
its design should allow community foundations and community-based organizations to 
work in direct partnership with Ava Community Energy so that grants maximize 
community impact and funding is distributed equitably.  

​
We understand that the financial stability of Ava Community Energy is important, especially as 
higher PCIA rates endanger CCAs across the state. Investing in community benefits not only 
helps Ava Community Energy withstand current and future challenges, but also helps maintain 
affordability and accessibility as a CCA. By centering community-driven energy leadership, 
community resilience, and community investments, Ava Community Energy can pioneer how a 
CCA directly meets the needs of struggling local communities. Establishing an Ava 
Community Energy “Foundation Grant Fund” at this critical time will generate lasting 
impact, improve health outcomes, and foster prosperity, as we work together to justly and 
equitably transition into a clean, renewable, and local energy future. ​
​
Clean Power to the People, ​
​

​
​
Dohee Kim, Campaign Organizer with the Local Clean Energy Alliance (LCEA) ​
 
 



 
 
Dohee Kim  
Local Clean Energy Alliance 
339 15th Street Suite 208 Oakland, CA 94612 
dohee@localcleanenergy.org  
 

 
Subject: Item 5. Customer Programs Strategic Roadmap (Informational Item) 
 
September 3, 2025 
 
 
Dear Executive Committee of the Ava Community Energy Board,​
​
Given the upcoming Customer Programs Strategic Roadmap, the Local Clean Energy Alliance (LCEA) 
appreciates Ava Community Energy’s commitment to decarbonize while maintaining energy 
affordability for our local communities during this critical time of state and federal deregulation and 
rollbacks that are directly harming our renewable energy ecosystem. ​
​
As established by the monumental Local Development Business Plan (LDBP) and foundational Joint 
Powers Authority (JPA) agreement, we urge Ava Community Energy to uphold its original commitment 
to develop local renewable energy resources with emphasis on healthier and sustainable communities, 
clean energy jobs and local workforce development, and smart investments in local energy projects 
that will result in more reliable and self-sufficient energy supplies for our communities. ​
​
The transformative LDBP was a landmark strategy, led by a dedicated project team that connected 
with stakeholders and industry professionals, which continues to guide how Ava Community Energy 
can meet the public’s energy needs boldly and equitably. But LCEA is deeply concerned by the limited 
scope, structure, and ambition of the agency’s approach for the Customer Programs Strategic 
Roadmap. ​
​
While the energy landscape shifts dramatically, we must not abandon the objectives of the LDBP, but 
instead expand upon this visionary roadmap with the proposed customer programs. ​
​
We ask the agency to:   

●​ Fully integrate community stakeholders to guide all phases of the RFP. We support the 
Community Advisory Committee’s (CAC) request in its participation in the selection of a 
contractor.  

●​ Include review, analysis, and expertise from the initial project team of the LDBP.  
●​ Foster high-road training partnerships, clean energy jobs, family-sustaining wages, and local 

workforce development for those in the Ava service territory.  
●​ Develop local energy supply and distributed energy resources (DERs).  
●​ Design programs beyond electrification, such as solar installations and community resilience 

hubs, that directly reinvest into our communities, especially in environmental justice 
communities, including disadvantaged, disinvested, and heavily pollution-burdened 
neighborhoods.  

●​ Secure financial stability for the long-term beyond ratepayer dependence.  

mailto:dohee@localcleanenergy.org
https://avaenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/08/5.-Customer-Programs-Strategic-Roadmap.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/diactiwk7/image/upload/local-development-business-plan_final_7-12-18_hi-res.pdf


 
●​ Commit to a strong political strategy that counters PG&E and CPUC rate hikes and other 

challenges. 
●​ Include opportunities in San Joaquin County for local clean energy programs and projects that 

bring the above community benefits. 
​
The goal to decarbonize must not come at the expense of ratepayer affordability, equity, community 
design, public health, climate resilience, and local economic development for our communities to truly 
thrive. Thank you for your continued support. ​
​
Clean Power to the People, ​
 

​
​
Dohee Kim, Campaign Organizer with the Local Clean Energy Alliance (LCEA)  


	1. Item 1 - Ava_BOD_Agenda - 091725
	2. Item 2 - Rotunda-Building-Access-Instructions-250708-final-1
	4. Item 4 - Ava_BOD_Minutes - 071625 version 2 - action
	5. Consent Item 5 - Contracts entered into. September 2025. Finalv1
	6. Item 6 - Credit Card Policy Amendment
	6. Item 6 - Memo-Credit Card Policy Amendment_v2
	6A. Item 6A - Reso Credit Card Policy Amendment_v4
	6B. Item 6B - Amended Credit Card Use and Controls Policy_Redline
	6C. Item 6C - Amended Credit Card Use and Controls Policy_Clean

	7. Consent Item 7 - Ascend Third Amendment
	7. Consent Item 7 - Memo- Ascend Third Amendment
	7A. Consent Item 7A - Ascend Third Amendment
	7B. Counterparty-July2025-CSA

	8. Item 8 - CEO Report (1)
	9. Item 9 - CAC Chair Report 09.17.25
	10. Item 10 - Rate Stabilization Fund Policy
	10. Item 10 - Memo - Rate Stabilization Policy_v2
	10A. Item 10A - Reso - Rate Stabilization Policy_v3
	10B. Item 10B - Rate Stabilization Policy_v2
	10C. 2025-Item-Rate Stabilization Fund Policy Draft_v2
	Rate Stabilization Fund Policy�Board Meeting��Russell Mills|  September 17, 2025
	Introduction & Background
	How Ava Utilizes Rate Stabilization Funds 
	Survey of Comparable RSF Best Practices
	Results of the Survey of Comparable Best Practices
	Policy Adoption Recommendation
	Questions and Discussion?


	11. Item 11 - Allocation of Budget Surplus
	11. Item 11 - Memo--Rate Stabilization Allocation_v2
	11A. Item 11A - Reso--Rate Stabilization Allocation_v2
	11B. Item 11B - 2025-Item-Allocation of Surplus draft
	Slide 1: Allocation of Budget Surplus Board Meeting  Russell Mills|  September 17, 2025
	Slide 2: Current Status of Deferred Revenue Allocations
	Slide 3: Ava Rate Stabilization Fund Record of Utilization
	Slide 4: Utilization of Ava's Rate Stabilization Fund 
	Slide 5: Recommended Allocation of Budget Surplus
	Slide 6: Questions and Discussion?


	12. Item 12 - Credit Facility Agreemeent with PNC
	12. Item 12 - Memo - Line of Credit Approval
	12A. Item 12A - Reso - 2025 Revolving Credit Facility 4127-3992-6879 4
	12B. Item 12B - Revolving Credit Agreement (Ava, 2025) 4914-2857-3781 v7[60]
	12C. Item 12C - Fee Agreement (Ava, 2025) 4908-7717-7687 v6[88]
	12D. Item 12D - Line of Credit Approval
	Slide 1: Credit Facility Renewal Informational Review  Rusty Mills  |  September 8, 2025
	Slide 2: Process for Obtaining the New Credit Facility
	Slide 3: New Credit Facility Terms
	Slide 4: Good Faith Estimates        
	Slide 5:  Questions & Discussion


	100. Public comment letter from Dohee Kim - Community Foundation Fund
	2025-9-3 Customer Programs Strategic Roadmap - to Ava Exec Comm (1)



